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Chairman’s Statement

a V==
FERS
Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Directors” or the “Board”) of LVGEM
(China) Real Estate Investment Company Limited (the “Company” or “LVGEM
(China)"), I would like to report to all the shareholders the consolidated business
performance of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively known as the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Looking back at 2019, the global economy was exposed to far more challenges.
Progress was slow for the Sino-US trade disputes while Brexit clarity grew gradually.
Against this backdrop, the Chinese government continued its supply-side structural
reform, reinforced the proactive fiscal policy to improve effective and moderately
relaxed monetary policy for a quality growth with time. During the year, the Chinese
economy continued its steady growth and achieved a GDP of approximately
RMB99,000 billion, representing a year-on-year growth of 6.1%. Being the
significant pillar industry in the Chinese economy, the real estate industry has seen
its steady and healthy growth with flexible adjustments on various regulatory and
supporting policies by the Chinese government such as the long-term adjustment
mechanism for a stable land price, and market expectations under the principle
of “one strategy for one city” which was implemented in full swing.

LVGEM (China) has focused on the development of key districts in core cites of the
Greater Bay Area for more than three decades. Started as a construction company,
LVGEM (China) has turned into the urban renewal field, and engages in commercial
office and community shopping mall segments, garnering extensive land resources
and developing a highly efficient operating team. Given the development to date,
the Group has gained unique and huge advantages in the Greater Bay Area, which
enables it to emerge as a distinctive real estate developer and operator in core
cities of the bay area and a leading regional enterprise.

Rapid urbanisation and construction in the Greater Bay Area has led to a shortage
of available land resources in highly-developed cities and, thus, urban renewal plays
an increasingly important role in urban and modernised construction. Leveraging
on its almost 30 years of experience in urban renewal, the Group has adopted
the two-way expansion model comprising urban renewal and, to a lesser extent,
market auction to garner significantly higher cost advantages over land auctions
as well as quality and highly profitable land reserve resources. By owning and
operating commercial properties at supreme geographical locations, the Group
has generated stable cash inflow and laid a solid foundation for its future growth.
In the future, the Group will, as always, maintain its own advantages and actively
explore new directions for empowering the industry on a continuous basis.
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In particular, it is worth noting that the Group actively responded to the national plan
of developing the Greater Bay Area into an international innovation and technology
hub. Among the projects in progress and proposed projects implementing the
development strategy of “Focus on urban renewal in the Greater Bay Area, develop
a brand new smart city”, the Group has entered into strategic cooperation with
leading technology enterprises such as Huawei Technologies Co., Ltd. (“Huawei”)
to establish an ecological industry chain of “Technology + Real Estate” with
interconnected, real-time sensing, efficient and convenient smart cities through
the application of the Internet of Things, cloud computing and 5G technologies.
In March 2020, the Group entered into a strategic cooperation agreement with
China Unicom, one of the three major telecommunication operators in the PRC, to
pioneer new achievements with its infrastructure projects, thereby establishing itself
as a new smart city developer that is dedicated to the construction of the Greater
Bay Area by leveraging the strong alliance and efficient industry application of 5G
commercial technology. Looking forward, the Group will continue to focus on the
planning of “construction of vibrant world-class city clusters” as proposed in the
Greater Bay Area development strategy by leveraging on its advantages of quality
land resources and commercial property projects of high value. By introducing the
transformation and development model that integrates “Technology + Real Estate”
through strategic upgrade, the Group has empowered its real estate business with
technology by exercising smart management over the entire lifecycle throughout
the development and operation process, through which it has enhanced the
construction and operation efficiency, reduced costs and improved benefits, and
hence broadened the rooms for quality enhancement and profit growth of its
living, office and commercial products. As an enterprise, the Group is committed
to establishing benchmarks for smart city development and rise as an industry
leader in the urban renewal segment by actively supporting the government’s
guidance for interconnection of smart cities, so as to fuel the long-term and
sustainable growth with high quality of LVGEM (China). The Group will continue
to review the situation in a timely manner to facilitate its development positioning
with the “Finance + Real Estate + Technology” strategy and redefine the value of
smart city developers and operators with a view to enhancing its competitiveness,
reputation and brand recognition. The future has come for building joyful and
smart cities through urban renewal to foster better urban lives.

For the segment of “real estate development and sales”, the Group focused on its
project planning for the core districts in core cities of the Greater Bay Area, such
as Shenzhen, Hong Kong, Zhuhai and Dongguan. During the year, we launched
various projects that are widely acclaimed and supported by industry peers and
consumers. In 2019, Shenzhen LVGEM Mangrove Bay No. 1, located in the
commercial community of Shang Sha and Xia Sha, Futian District, Shenzhen City,
was re-launched with hot sale and the project recorded an overall sell-through rate
of approximately 80%. LVGEM International Garden, locating at Huazhou City,
Maoming, Guangdong Province, has an area of over 1.3 million square meters to
be developed, which is planned to be developed into a smart community and is
expected to be launched for sale with a saleable value of RMB1billion to RMB1.5
billion annually in the coming 8 to 10 years. LVGEM Amazing Plaza which is
located in the commercial community of Overseas Chinese Town, Qiaoxiang
Road, Nanshan District, Shenzhen City, and the LVGEM Joyful Town which is
adjacent to the Ming Zhu Light Rail Station, Xiangzhou District, Zhuhai City were
successively launched for sale on their debut in September 2019 and recorded
a hot sale respectively. As LVGEM (China)’s urban renewal projects in the core
districts of the Greater Bay Area have gradually reached the maturity stage, it is
expected that they will deliver significant benefits for the contract sale and brand
influence of the Group.
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Chairman’s Statement
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As an integral part of LVGEM (China)’s “two-pronged” business model, the segment
of “Commercial Property Investment and Operations” continued to bring a steady
growth of rental income and cash flows for the Group during the year. In 2019,
two major commercial and real estate brands, namely “NEO” commercial office
complex and “Zoll” community shopping centre, both expanded their market
presence satisfactorily. Benefited from the prime district location and market
positioning of tenants, Shenzhen NEO Urban Commercial Complex still maintained
an overall occupancy rate of more than 80% despite the fast changing economy.
Hong Kong LVGEM NEO is a grade A commercial building with sea view located in
Kowloon East CBD 2, Hong Kong. It had its grand opening on 8 November 2019
and has contracted with tenants of prestigious enterprises from industries such as
insurance, finance, technology and innovation and virtual banking. It recorded an
occupancy rate of nearly 50% during the year despite various social incidents. If
fully occupied, it might contribute an annual rental income of HK$300 million to
the Group. During the year, the construction of LVGEM Zoll Mangrove Bay No. 1
Shopping Mall and Dongguan LVGEM Zoll Shopping Mall was completed for lease
for smart businesses respectively. They will be open for business respectively at
appropriate time during 2020 to 2021 and are expected to foster rental income
growth and more robust cash inflow for the Group.

For the segment of “Comprehensive Services”, the Group was dedicated to offering
excellent smart property management services and hotel operation services to
customers and tenants of the Group’s residential and commercial properties,
which contributed RMB321.3 million to the Group’s revenue in 2019. With its
prestigious geographical location and the provision of attentive services, the
LVGEM Hotel of the Group recorded an average occupancy rate of 75% and is
planned to be upgraded and renovated into a smart business hotel with an aim
to further enhance its market competitiveness. As to the Vanllee Hotel in Covina,
California, the United States acquired in 2017, it has brought stable income from
hotel operation for the Group following its renovation completed in 2019.

Regarding corporate governance, the Group is committed to the goal of “being the
most respected city value-creator” and has made sustained efforts in the systemized
management, development under three-orientation strategy and closed-end
management of the Company internally. In 2019, in order to continuously increase
the core competitiveness and brand strength, LVGEM (China) has centralized
the general management at the headquarters of the Group and established three
major business divisions, namely finance, real estate and assets. The Group’s
headquarter has issued 52 sets of management document, 158 sets of standards
for the development under three-orientation strategy, 18 manuals for delegation, and
formulated work log of hierarchical business administration for project management.
Through a year of standardized management, the operating performance targets
were accomplished more than expected and the real estate projects were smoothly
progressing. The administrative licensing and relocation processes relating to
certain urban renewal projects are orderly underway, thereby managing to fulfill
the goal of enhancing quality and efficiency. This allows the Group to be well
prepared for the next growth stage in terms of system management accordingly.
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Going into 2020, i.e. the final year for the planned development into a moderately
prosperous society in all respects and the “13th 5-year Plan”, it is essential for
China to put into efforts for economic success in order to lay a solid foundation for
achieving the first and further, the second centenary striving goals and the “14th
5-year Plan” development. Currently, China is at the critical stage of changing
development mode, economic structural optimization and growth momentum
transformation. Currently, structural, system-wise and cyclical issues interact with
one another, resulting in a constantly profound impact on the economy. Against
the macro backdrop of ongoing global economic slowdown, the Central Economic
Work Conference adheres to the main theme of seeking improvement amidst
stability. However, affected by the novel coronavirus epidemic, work suspension
or production shut-down of different extents once occurred throughout China.
To overcome the shortcomings arising from the epidemic, various provincial
governments have, one after another, launched further batches of infrastructural
development plans to follow the direction of stabilizing the economy urged by the
Central Government. Despite the fact that the epidemic could cause a temporary
interruption with a slight decline in economic growth rate and other development
indicators, it is believed that the one-off impact would not affect the supply of
materials for production or production output in the long run or weaken the potential
growth of the economy in China. The stable growth in the Chinese economy will
remain unchanged in the long term. The Company is confident that all risks and
challenges will be overcome.

The Group also adopted proactive responsive measures and formulated policies for
successfully accomplishing its performance targets by means of internet such as
online marketing. It will also seize this opportunity to actively strive for policy benefits
from the government regarding the resumption of operation and production after
the epidemic, including reduction and exemption of tax, subsidies for employment,
reduction of interest rates of loans, etc.. The Group will continue to actively study
and utilize the latest technologies such as smart sterilization, contactless prevention
and control measures, cutting-edge new bacteria filtration ventilation system
technology, thereby increasing the safety precaution of properties, enhancing the
confidence in retaining lease of office, commercial and hotel properties as well as
the resumption of their operations, as well as improving the confidence in market
consumption in confined space after the epidemic.
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Looking forward, as a distinctive property developer pioneer in urban renewal, the
Group will continue to consolidate its own strengths, further upgrade its operation
capability, actively support the strategic planning of the Greater Bay Area in its
capacity of a smart new city developer and operator and fulfill the historical
mission of the planned development into a moderately prosperous society in
all respects. LVGEM (China) will continue to well equip itself and adhere to the
system management, development under three-orientation strategy and closed-
end management so as to strengthen the cohesion, execution and resilience
of our team. As to the internal management, the three business divisions have
proposed to demand more from service of staff, optimize the internal system
management, develop an excellent and highly efficient operation and business
mode towards high quality development constantly. Going forward, the Group will
continue to timely expand the Company’s business scale and cost effectiveness by
constantly adhering to the national policies and integrating its unique advantages
and market positioning. With the experiences of years in focused development
and its various strengths and resources, LVGEM (China) will develop benchmark
and practical modelling projects of new smart city construction, becoming the
creator, operator and service provider of new smart cities and the leader of the
industry. With the strategic guidance of “Focus on urban renewal in the Greater
Bay Area, develop a brand new smart city”, the Group will continue to strengthen
its overall operation capability and brand reputation. The Group will give full play
to our extensive experience and pioneer status in urban renewal and implement
the new smart city benchmarking strategy for introducing innovation and vitality
into urban construction so as to bring more convenience to owner’s lives, at the
same time preserving and adding values to the properties, thereby establishing the
brand image of “LVGEM” for high quality, smart communities and safe properties
in the industry.

On behalf of the Board, | hereby express sincere gratitude to all shareholders,
investors, customers, partners and employees of LVGEM (China) for their
unwavering support. The Group will make sustained efforts towards the vision
and goal of “being the most respected city value-creator” and deliver return of
long-term value to you all.

HUANG Jingshu
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2020
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Industry Review

In 2019, the Chinese economy remained on a stable trend and momentum. On
30 July 2019, the government launched the “will not include the real estate sector
in the economic stimulation measures in the short run” on its debut, adhered to
the policy positioning of “No speculation on residential properties which are solely
for the self-occupying purpose” and implemented the long-term management
mechanism for the real estate industry to further strengthen the resilience of
the industrial development and drive its high-quality and sustainable growth. As
shown in the statistics of the National Bureau of Statistics, during the year, the
sales amount of commaodity housing was RMB15,972.5 billion, representing a
year-on-year growth of 6.5%, while the investment in real estate development
amounted to RMB13,219.4 billion, representing a year-on-year increase of 9.9%.
The newly commenced housing area was 2,271.54 million square meters, up by
8.5%. During the year, despite the sophisticated macroeconomic environment
domestically and overseas, the overall industrial scale still recorded a year-on-year
growth, showing strong resilience of China’s real estate industry.

During the year, the real estate industry entered a new stage of development and
differentiated across various cities and projects. With the series of favorable policy
support such as the “Outline Development Plan for the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao
Greater Bay Area”, “support the development of Shenzhen as the pilot modelling
zone under the socialism with Chinese characteristics” and the adjustment on
the criteria for non-ordinary residences in Shenzhen, the overall annual property
trade activeness in Shenzhen significantly increased while average trading prices
remained a relatively stable trend. According to the property information websites
for Shenzhen, in 2019, the annual pre-sale area of new residential properties in
Shenzhen was 4.5346 million square meters, representing a year-on-year increase
of 16.6% with 45,686 pre-sold units, representing a year-on-year increase of
17.3%. Under the keynote of “no speculation on residential properties” for the
general property market throughout China, Shenzhen government pursued the
goal of “stable price of land and properties and market expectation” to promote
the steady and healthy growth of the real estate market in Shenzhen. Looking
forward, following the respective launch of the policies for the Greater Bay Area
and pilot modelling zones, the value and potential of the real estates in Shenzhen
will be unleashed gradually. The market is expected to maintain its pace of steady
development accordingly.

In February 2019, the Central Committee of the Communist Party of China and
the State Council published the “Outline Development Plan for the Guangdong-
Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area” which expressly proposes the priority
mission of “developing an international innovation and technology hub with global
influence”, indicating that the development and construction of the Greater Bay
Area has become a decision of the Central Government and a national strategic
plan on significant development. In July, Guangdong provincial government
promulgated the implementation opinion on pushing forward the construction of
the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area and the three years’ action
plan, in which 9 aspects and 100 strategic approaches were described, implying
that the “working drawings” and “mission statement” have been officially published
for the construction of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area. Given
its unlimited growth potential, the Greater Bay Area is expected to become a strong
growth driver of the Chinese economy in the future.
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During the past year, LVGEM (China) continued to focus on the development of
key districts in core cites of the Greater Bay Area, With experience of more than
two decades in urban renewal, the distinctive way of acquisition of land reserve
resources and the valuable strategic layout of project locations, the Group has
further secured its leadership position in the real estate industry in terms of the
urban renewal segment. During the year, LYGEM (China) further pushed forward
the urban renewal projects in, among others, Shenzhen, Zhuhai, Hong Kong and
Dongguan with successful results one after another. Shenzhen LVGEM Mangrove
Bay No. 1 was re-launched and received overwhelming market responses. LVGEM
Amazing Plaza in Shenzhen and the LVGEM Joyful Town in Zhuhai were launched
and recorded hot sale respectively. The Baishizhou Urban Renewal Project and
Liguang Project in Shenzhen have entered another critical stage of development.
Meanwhile, based on the urban renewal mode that has been successful over the
years, the Group established strategic cooperation and relationship with smart
technology operators and telecommunication service providers to develop new
smart cities or districts. In particular, the Group incorporated the “technology +
property” strategy into the planning design and implementation of urban renewal
projects so as to serve the communities and enhance urban value, with the aim
of creating social, environmental and economic benefits. In the future, the Group
will continue to make use of its own strengths in strategic layout and resources
to pursue the strategic direction of “Focus on urban renewal in the Greater Bay
Area, develop a brand new smart city”, in a bid to develop itself into a benchmark
for new smart city developers and operators that are dedicated to the construction
of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area.

Going into 2020, although the global economy has become more difficult, the long-
term positive fundamental of the Chinese economy remains unchanged. Overall,
fulfilment of the vision of development into a moderately prosperous society in all
respects is not supposed to be delayed. Upon temporary work suspension and
ceased operation after the Chinese New Year holidays, the Chinese government
took prompt action to timely adjust the public health policy. Currently, general
operation and production are gradually resuming and social order resumes
normal. At the same time, various ministries and commissions of China have
launched a series of stimulation plans for infrastructure development such as
downward adjustment of the project funds for certain sectors, loan relief and
increasing the proportion of special debts in local debts so as to further drive the
launch of strategies of urbanisation and regional balanced development across
China. Also, definitive and responsive policies have been formulated throughout
China to seek a stable development of economy. With the keynote of pursuing
stability, the policies ensure a reasonable growth in terms of quantities and an
upgrade in terms of quality for the economy in order to secure the development
into a moderately prosperous society in all respects. As to the financial policies,
to substantially improve the quality and effectiveness, they put more emphasis on
the structural adjustment and make best efforts in the protection of strategic areas.
Regarding the monetary policies, flexible, moderate and stable monetary policies
are advocated to reduce the financing cost of the society and facilitate the mutual
accommodation of the growth of monetary credits and social financing scale with
the economic development. With the support of all the above policies, the Chinese
real estate industry is expected to maintain the keynote of a stable development.

LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Results

The Group achieved relatively satisfactory results in all segments for the year
ended 31 December 2019. All of its key financial indicators were in line with the
expectations of the management and the overall performance result was satisfactory.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group achieved total revenue of
approximately RMB6,902.4 million (2018: RMB4,515.7 million), representing
an increase of approximately 52.9% year-on-year. Gross profit was RMB4,430.4
million (2018: RMB2,686.2 million), representing an increase of approximately
64.9% year-on-year. Gross profit margin remained at a relatively high level of
64.2% (2018: 59.5%).

Profit for the year was RMB1,750.0 million (2018: RMB1,230.4 million),
representing a growth of approximately 42.2% year-on-year. Profit attributable to
owners of the Company was RMB1,749.9 million (2018: RMB1,237.2 million),
representing a growth of approximately 41.4% year-on-year. Basic earnings per
share was RMB35.12 cents (2018: RMB25.21 cents), representing a growth of
approximately 39.3% year-on-year.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK6.1 cents
(equivalent to approximately RMB5.46 cents) per ordinary share for the year
ended 31 December 2019.

The Group’s key financial indicators for the year ended 31 December 2019 were
as follows:
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2019 2018 Change
—ZE-NEF —E-N\F BE
(RMB million) (RMB million)
(AR¥HET) (AR®HZET)
Revenue Wz 6,902.4 4515.7 52.9%
Gross profit EA 4,430.4 2,686.2 64.9%
Profit from core business* S RGBT 1,102.6 765.3 44.1%
Profit attributable to owners of the Company AR AR R FEAG &7 1,749.9 1,237.2 41.4%
Basic earnings per share (RMB cents) BREREF (ARES) 35.12 25.21 39.3%
Gross profit margin (%) EFNE(%) 64.2 59.5
* Profit from core business represents profit attributable to owners of the Group less * B EREBTEAEBR R ELRANFISEMERIER

fair value changes on investment properties and related deferred tax, exchange gain
or loss and fair value changes on derivative component of convertible bonds.
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As at 31 As at 31

December 2019 December 2018

R-Z—h%E RZT—\F

+=—A=+—-H +=-A=+—H

Bank balances and cash (including restricted bank WITERLIAES (BEZBRHIRITER

deposits) (RMB million) (ARMEZET) 8,347.0 7,589.9

Average finance costs (%)* T FE KA (%) 6.3 6.2

Debt ratio (%) BEARLE%) 73.3 73.7

Rate of equity return (%) EARERE(%) 13.5 10.9
* Average finance costs are derived by dividing the total finance costs for the year by * FHRMEKRATIBETFRNERENANRUFHEERE(RIETY

average total borrowings (including convertible bonds but excluding finance cost
derived from lease liabilities) which is calculated by adding up of average balances
of total borrowings (including convertible bonds but excluding finance cost derived
from lease liabilities) for the year.

Business Review

In 2019, under various regulatory measures, the real estate market remained its
stable growth, while the strategic position of the Greater Bay Area was playing an
increasingly important role in the economic development of China. As a developer
and operator dedicated to the development of new smart cities in the Greater Bay
Area, the Group continued to adhere to the “dual-core” strategy of “Focusing on
Core Cities and Cities’ Core Areas” and develop its real estate projects that were
deployed mainly in the core cities of the Greater Bay Area such as Shenzhen,
Zhuhai and Hong Kong, anticipating opportunities and potential room for growth.

Leveraging on its urban renewal experiences of nearly three decades and well-
established operation team, LVGEM (China) has gained recognition from the market
and industry peers on its projects launched during the year, further consolidating
the industrial position of the Group in the urban renewal field. In June, the Group
was honored with “Best Growth Award for Hong Kong Listed Company in Greater
China Region 2019” as further recognition from the capital market. In August,
the Group ranked as the “Top 10 Shenzhen Real Estate Development Enterprises
in terms of Comprehensive Strength” for the ninth consecutive year and was
awarded the honor of the “Top 10 Trustworthy (Quality) Enterprises in Shenzhen'’s
Real Estate Development Industry. In December, “sznews.com” granted “Top
10 Most Popular Industry Brands Among Netizens” to the Group, while “www.
toutiao.com” granted the honor of “2019 City Hallmark: Urban Value Creative
Creator” to the Group.

LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis

As a benchmarking new smart city developer and operator that is dedicated to the
urban renewal field, LVGEM (China) performed the “dual-core strategy” (Core Cities
— Cities’ Core Areas) and deployed its projects during the year and accordingly,
identified land resources of low cost but high value through the two-way expansion
model which comprised urban renewal and, to a lesser extent, market auctions.
In view of the limited new supply of land in the Greater Bay Area, in particular for
those land resources in the core areas, the Group concluded that urban renewal
is going to be the main source of acquisition of quality land in the Greater Bay
Area in the future. During the year, the urban renewal projects participated by
the Group included: Shenzhen Baishizhou Urban Renewal Project, Liguang
Urban Renewal Project, Shazui Phase Il and Zhuhai Donggiao Urban Renewal
Project. Among them, the Shenzhen Baishizhou Urban Renewal Project, the so-
called “Grand Urban Renewal Project in Shenzhen”, is located at a prestigious
geographical location with a scale of development in terms of a capacity area of
3.58 million square meters. On 28 October 2019, LVGEM (China) officially acquired
25% equity interests in Shenzhen Baishizhou Urban Renewal Project owned by
a controlling shareholder at a consideration of US$10,000. Injection plan of the
remaining equity interests is now ready to be launched. Gradual injection of the
“Grand Urban Renewal Project” will foster a revaluation of the Group. Leveraging
on its operating experiences for years and strong financial foundation, the Group is
confident to complete the development of the Baishizhou Urban Renewal Project
on schedule, thereby leading LVGEM (China) to enter a new stage of fast growth.

In order to eliminate the uncertainties in the preliminary stage of urban renewal, the
Group acquired projects mainly by the mode of collaboration with the controlling
shareholder and at the same time, distributed the profit sharing with shareholders
and investors. The controlling shareholder was mainly responsible for the efforts in
primary development such as negotiations with the suburban people and resource
integration. Project injection into the listed company was only being made until
the uncertainties were eliminated subject to satisfaction of all the conditions. As
of 31 December 2019, the Group has land reserves of approximately 4.5 million
square meters, more than 60% of which are located in the Greater Bay Area with
strategic layout in Shenzhen, Hong Kong, Guangzhou, Zhuhai and Dongguan.
Moreover, the scale of land reserves in which the controlling shareholders have
control exceeds 10.0 million square meters, including projects in Shenzhen,
Zhuhai and Zhang Mu Tou, Dongguan, all of which are located at core locations
in Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area. In 2019, Zhuhai Donggiao
Urban Renewal Project, which is the strategic urban renewal project in Zhuhai
City for this round, has been officially secured by LVGEM (China). The Group has
ample and valuable land reserves which will be able to satisfy the Company’s
needs for steady expansion and long-term development.

BEEERWED T

FEREIRWTENARMNRRLE SMUFARELR

A (R BN NEBRTTI AR | (BT -4 0 3 130) #E
TEEMR  BBMTmENEDBTISHEBNEER
XHEEERANBEELHBER - AR AEEIIE T
EAR - FRREZLRENLHERLEBER - AKH
HER AR EHE LR AN ERED T 1 REHEEK
R FR - ARBEZENBETEHNRLSERIBHM
WWmEMIEE  BEMTENIEE DB _HRIKER
B EHNIEE - Heh - RIIB LM TEINIER BHER
CRYIESME ] BEAIEME N358E F I Kt A H
EOFRERE - —T-AF+A-TNAR  ES5(FE)MK
10,0003 JT H) $ (B I 1542 AR A SR E R Y11 B ANk 7 52 %718
B H25% A% HE - THE RIGBEAIAGBIHAER - [8#
B INEZTEN > BRAREESREENER  BHE
SETEELERIEEESEN  AEEBEVRRR
ERTEERBAMRmEREBMAE  FEEGR(RER)
BARRIERER -

A TOBBRET ERATIR N EEM - RE T REREER
MR FNEDIEE - RARARKRR - BEEDZ W o
ERRREIEAE —RFEENITIE - WMRARAEH
ERNES - FERBLEKRR - MEEMERE T8
WOEAR EWRA c HEZZT-NAF+A=+—8 -
SEEA T EENIS0EF K - EP60%IA EARAK
BER - EHRGRERI - BE - BM KWERRE -
BESN - IR PR B L R ERRIE B 1,0008 T 75
Ko BERY - WE - REFARIAR @ 2HUNEER
RNEBZOLUE - —F—LF  WETABRHENNE
HEA—IWERBMTENAR EXEZZR(RE) -
SELENEEIMFEE  TARRARRERRERE
HERNFE

B2 (TE) HERAERAT
—TNEER

13



Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWED T

While continuously pushing forward its urban renewal projects, the Group will
gradually expand the area of the commercial properties, aiming to create stable
rental income and growth of asset value for the Group with the “two-pronged”
model of “residence + business”. The commercial properties of the Group are
mainly located in the core areas of core cities, among which, commercial projects
represented by NEO Urban Commercial complex and Zoll Shopping Centre have
driven a healthy growth in cash flow so that the Group could operate with a solid
financial position during the year. During the year, the Hong Kong LVGEM NEO
was delivered and had its grand opening; constructions of Dongguan LVGEM
Zoll Shopping Mall and LVGEM Zoll Mangrove Bay No. 1 Shopping Mall have
completed respectively, which are expected to be delivered for operation during
2020 to 2021. Following the urbanization and accelerated development of the
Greater Bay Area, the value growth of the core commercial properties will bring
sustainable and significant advantages to the Group. In addition, the Group has been
actively exploring various financing channels and continued to optimize capital and
shareholder structure through cross-border facility platform between Hong Kong
and the PRC. As the pioneer in Shenzhen’s urban renewal, LVGEM (China) will
continue to benefit from the rising trend of urban renewal in the Greater Bay Area.

In order to increase the core competitiveness, the Group further consolidated
and centralised its management, implemented internal system optimisation and
made sustained efforts in the systemised management, development under three-
orientation strategy and closed-end management. Having the general management
centralized at the headquarter of the Group, the Group established three major
business divisions, namely finance, real estate and assets, and further set up
its own business management department for operation respectively. Through
standardized management, the operating performance targets were accomplished
more than expected during the year and the real estate projects were smoothly
progressing. The administrative licensing and relocation processes relating to the
urban renewal projects were orderly underway.

Real Estate Development and Sales

As the core business, the real estate development and sales projects of the Group
have been expanding their presence in the core areas of core cities of the Greater
Bay Area. As of 31 December 2019, the real estate development and sales of
the Group generated revenue of approximately RMB5,962.4 million (2018:
RMB3,664.3 million), representing an increase of approximately 62.7% year-
on-year. Total contracted sales amounted to approximately RMB6,279.9 million
(2018: RMB4,240.0 million), representing an increase of approximately 48.1%
year-on-year. During the period under review, the quality real estate projects of
the Group received overwhelming market response once again. In April, LVGEM
Mangrove Bay No. 1 was re-launched for hot sales and contributed RMB4,463.9
million to contracted sales. In addition, the Group has launched the LVGEM
International Garden Bolin Mansion D1 Zone, LVGEM Amazing Plaza and LVGEM
Joyful Town on their debut respectively. Benefited from the good product strength
and brand influence, the projects received hot subscriptions and market response
and were in good sale.

During the year, the Group continued to develop projects with high potential,
including: Zhuhai Donggiao Urban Renewal Project, LVGEM Amazing Plaza,
LVGEM Liguang Project, LVGEM Mangrove Bay No. 1, LVGEM Joyful Town (formerly
known as “Kaiwei” Project), LVGEM International Garden and Hong Kong Lau Fau
Shan Project. In the future, the Group will continue to focus on the development
in the Greater Bay Area, strive for excellence and developing those urban renewal
projects with very low supply in market and an upgraded and excellent residential
and living community with unique and quality design, thereby driving the continued
steady growth of cost-effectiveness and business scale.

LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LVGEM (China) has been focusing on core areas in Shenzhen for years and built
a brand image of guaranteed construction quality and user’s trustworthiness. The
Baishizhou Urban Renewal Project, the so-called “Grand Urban Renewal Project
in Shenzhen”, is located in Shennan Avenue, Nanshan District, Shenzhen City
and in proximity to Science Park and the sub-district of Overseas Chinese Town,
which is a prestigious geographical location. On 28 October 2019, the Group
directly acquired equity interests of approximately 25% in Baishizhou Urban
Renewal Project. With a planned total gross floor area of approximately 4.4 million
square meters and a capacity area of approximately 3.58 million square meters,
the above project is a mega-large complex development project in the core areas
of Shenzhen. Its development is in 3 phases according to the project plan. The
overall project development and sale is scheduled to complete in coming 8 to
10 years. In view of the scarcity of land resources in fast growing Shenzhen, the
value and growth potential of our projects are immeasurable.

LVGEM Mangrove Bay No. 1 is the most iconic urban renewal project of the Group.
The project comprises three quality residential buildings and a high quality complex
of Grade A offices, hotels and apartments. The project is located in the southeast
corner of the intersection of Shazui Road and Jindiyi Road in the central business
district of Futian District, Shenzhen. Having easy access to public transport and
strategically located in the proximity to Futian Port, Huanggang Port, Beijing-Hong
Kong-Macao Expressway and Metro Lines 3, 4 and 7, the project occupies a site
area of 24,424 square meters and a planned total gross floor area of 305,450
square meters, among which, the residential portion has a gross floor area of
approximately 119,400 square meters. The project was launched for sale on
13 October 2018 and re-launched in April 2019. As of 31 December 2019, the
contracted sales of the project amounted to RMB4,463.9 million. During 2019,
the recognised sales revenue amounted to RMB4,487.0 million.

LVGEM Amazing Plaza is another urban upgrade and redevelopment project
positioned to serve the high-income class ranging from white-collar to golden-
collar in Shenzhen. This project has an integrated modelling zone for new
mixed-use industrial town which will be mainly used for industrial research and
development and industrial ancillary services, complemented by other functions
such as apartments, commerce and offices. The project is located at the north of
Qiaoxiang Road, south of Beihuan Road, east of the intersection of Qiaoxiang Road
and Beihuan Road as well as west of Qiaochengfang in Shenzhen. The project
occupies a site area of 10,862 square meters and a total gross floor area of 97,214
square meters. Strategically located in the sub-district of Overseas Chinese Town,
the project possesses rich scenic resources. It commenced construction at end
of 2016 and was on presale in 2019.

LVGEM Liguang Project is a residential, commercial and industrial high-end industrial
park complex. The project is located in Liguang Village, Guanlan Town, Lunghua
District, Shenzhen City and adjacent to the Mid Valley Clubhouse of the Mission
Hills Golf Club, and possesses prestigious scenic view. The project occupies a
site area of 85,333 square meters and a total gross floor area of 382,139 square
meters. The project is currently in progress on schedule and at the preliminary stage
of preparation ahead of construction. Taking into consideration the surrounding
environment and the living needs of the community, the project plan includes the
development of a special commercial district at the south side of the region, as well
as the Liguang Ecological Park at the east side which is covered with grassland.
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Zhuhai Donggiao Urban Renewal Project is a strategic project of urban renewal
for this round among the first batch of projects that have officially commenced
construction in Zhuhai City. On 12 July 2019, the Group has officially become
the operating entity of the renewal project for the old village in Donggiaocheng
and obtained all necessary administrative approvals. Securing the capacity of
the operating entity marks an important milestone of the Group in terms of the
urban renewal development and operation in Zhuhai. Currently, the relocation and
development process of the project is at a stage of acceleration. Donggiao Village
is one of the three pilot urban renewal villages in Zhuhai City and has been listed
as various annual municipal or district strategic focus tasks. Accomplishing the
commencement of construction within four some years, Donggiao Urban Project
has become one of the Group’s first batch of old village projects in Zhuhai that
have commenced construction. Locating at a well-established area, the project
is in proximity to certain luxury residences and street-level commercial region.
It is positioned as the No. 1 bay-area cultural and arts community in Zhuhai,
comprising high-end residences, featured hotels, street-level cultural regions
and other multiple industrial functions. In the future, Donggiao Smart City and
District will be developed into an 10C (Integrated operation and control centre) to
real-time manage and control all the dynamic situations of the entire district. The
development involves 27 construction projects of up to level 3 standard, comprising
a total of 106 applied scenes. It will provide overall solutions and services for
multi-scene and multi-dimension, safe and intelligent urban management under
the Donggiao Project.

LVGEM Joyful Town (formerly known as “Kaiwei” Project) is located in the former
Zhuhai Dongda Kaiwei Science Park in Xiangzhou District, Zhuhai City. With a total
gross floor area of 445,292 square meters, the project is positioned to comprise
an international grade A office building, apartment (hotel-serviced offices),
residential and commercial complex. The project will become a major contributor
to the Group’s results in the next two years. The project was launched for sale on
14 September 2019. As of 31 December 2019, contracted sales of the project
amounted to RMB345.2 million.

LVGEM International Garden is located in Huazhou, Guangdong Province. Situated
in a well-developed core district’s residential area with rich natural resources, it
is in proximity to the Juzhou Park and embraced by Xihu of 232 mu. It is well-
served by a public transport network and is only approximately 20-minutes’ drive
from Yuexi International Airport. The project occupies a site area of approximately
815,000 square meters and the entire project has a planned total gross floor area
of approximately 2,449,300 square meters, involving a total investment of over
RMBS billion. The D1 zone of LVGEM International Garden Bolin Mansion was
launched in the market during the first half of 2019. Leveraging on the advantages
such as excellent geographical location, transportation, ecological environment,
established brand reputation and ancillary educational facilities, the launch of
residential units of D1 and D2 zones in the region garnered enthusiastic market
responses on two occasions. As of 31 December 2019, the total contracted sales of
LVGEM International Garden amounted to RMB1,156.0 million and recognized sales
income was approximately RMB1,259.2 million. The area pending development
of the project remained approximately 1.354 million square meters and it is
estimated that the project will be launched at a value of approximately RMB1 to
1.5 billion each year in the future.

Hong Kong Lau Fau Shan Project is the Group’'s first real estate development project
in Hong Kong. The project is located at Deep Bay Road, Lau Fau Shan, Hong
Kong. It occupies a site area of approximately 82,400 square meters, comprising
approximately 116 low density waterfront villas, each of which has a gross floor
area of approximately 2,000 to 3,000 square feet. Embracing prime sea view and
overlooking Deep Bay, the project is geographically prestigious and adjacent to
Shenzhen with easy access to and from mainland China. Further, it is located at
the vicinity of Hung Shui Kiu development area.

LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Commercial Property Investment and Operations

The “two-pronged” business model of “development+business” is an integral part
of the Group’s development pattern. During the year, the Group holds 26 quality
commercial property projects comprising a total gross floor area of approximately
612,700 square meters, mainly represented by two commercial brands, namely
“NEO” and “Zoll”, including Shenzhen NEO Urban Commercial Complex, Hong
Kong LVGEM NEO, LVGEM Zoll Chanson Shopping Mall, LVGEM 1866 Zoll
Shopping Mall, LVGEM Zoll Hongwan Shopping Mall, LVGEM Zoll Mangrove Bay
No.1, Shopping Mall, LVGEM Zoll International Garden Shopping Mall, LVGEM
Zoll Jinhua Shopping Mall, LVGEM Zoll Yuexi Shopping Mall, Dongguan LVGEM
Zoll Shopping Mall and other shops and investment properties. The Group’s
commercial property development projects are mainly independent commercial
projects as well as complex projects that comprise commercial features. Among
them, the ancillary services of commercial properties under complex projects
significantly increase the overall value of individual residential projects among
the real estate development business.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s revenue from the investments and operations
of commercial properties was approximately RMB618.7 million (2018: RMB543.2
million), representing an increase of approximately 13.9% year-on-year.

Shenzhen NEO Urban Commercial Complex is elected as one of the ten major
landmarks of Shenzhen. It is strategically located in the western region of central
Futian District of the core central business district in Shenzhen. Itis a key urban and
commercial landmark in Shenzhen. It has easy access to public transport locating
at the intersection of four Metro Lines 1, 7, 9 and 11. NEO Urban Commercial
complex has a total gross floor area of approximately 252,539 square meters and
a total lettable area of approximately 121,236 square meters. The high-quality
corporate tenants of Grade A office building comprise offices and branches of
various Fortune Global 500 companies, banks, telecommunication corporations
and other state-owned enterprises. As at 31 December 2019, the overall occupancy
rate of NEO Urban Commercial complex was about 83% (2018: 94%).

Hong Kong LVGEM NEO is located in “Kowloon East CBD 2”, the new central
business district in Hong Kong, occupying a site area of approximately 4,500
square meters and a planned total gross floor area of approximately 55,390 square
meters. As a new smart city operator proactively developing the business layout
over the Greater Bay Area, the Group acquired 8 Bay East, the full seaview grade-A
commercial building located in 123 Hoi Bun Road, Kwun Tong for HK$9 billion
at the end of 2017, and renaming it as the “NEQ”. It is positioned as a financial
and technological centre which integrates health, green, humanity and scenes.
In July 2019, the handover of Hong Kong LVGEM NEO was completed. Apart
from being LVGEM (China)’s headquarters in Hong Kong, the project received
overwhelming responses since it was launched for leasing. As of the end of 2019,
the occupancy rate of the project was close to 50%. Tenants were mainly insurance
groups, financial or innovation and technological enterprises and virtual banks,
thereby aligning with its positioning as a “full seaview smart financial centre in
Kowloon East”. Following the commencement of operation of Shatin to Central
Link in the 1st quarter of 2020, leveraging the support of government policy,
strategic geographic location and increasingly easy access, it is expected that the
growth in asset value will significantly increase, thus bringing stable rental income
and long-term return on capital for the Group at the same time. Highlighted the
strategic significance of the project to tapping into Hong Kong property market
by the Group, the project will facilitate consolidation of the leading position of the
Group in commercial property market as well as its market position and brand
influence in the Greater Bay Area.
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Zoll Shopping Mall is a famous fashion and comprehensive shopping centre. As of
the end of 2019, the Group owns and operates LVGEM Zoll Chanson Shopping Mall,
LVGEM 1866 Zoll Shopping Mall, LVGEM Zoll Hongwan Shopping Mall, LVGEM
Zoll International Garden Shopping Mall, LVGEM Zoll Jinhua Shopping Mall and
LVGEM Zoll Yuexi Shopping Mall. As at 31 December 2019, the overall occupancy
rate was about 97%. On 21 May 2019, the Group acquired a site located in Zhang
Mu Tou Town, Dongguan for commercial use at a total consideration of RMB8
million. Occupying a total area of approximately 20,137 square meters, the site is
being developed into Dongguan LVGEM Zoll Shopping Mall, with a total gross floor
area of approximately 58,928 square meters. Subject to the necessary government
approvals, the project is planned to launch its full-scale opening in 2020, which
is expected to contribute increasing rental revenue to the Group in the future.

Comprehensive Services

The Group provided comprehensive services to customers and tenants of its
residential and commercial properties, including property management services, hotel
operations and others. For the year ended 31 December 2019, the comprehensive
services of the Group generated revenue of RMB321.3 million (2018: RMB308.2
million), representing an increase of 4.3% year-on-year.

The Group provided comprehensive property management services for most of its
property development projects, including security services, property maintenance
and management of ancillary facilities, property brokerage business, online
platform and e-shops for lifestyle services, which comprised a total gross floor
area of 2.42 million square meters. “Meilin flagship shop”, the real estate agency
business, provided new property agency, entrusted property management,
property banking and other businesses. “Ordinary living” app, our online platform
for lifestyle services, launched cleaning of air-conditioners and other businesses
and gained wide recognition from property owners, achieving a value growth of
1.19 times year-on-year in 2019. Shenzhen LVGEM Property Management Co.,
Ltd. obtained the ISO9001: 2008 certification for its quality system of property
management services and the level A property management qualification. As the
property management services and value-added services become more mature,
it is expected that the property management company will contribute sustainable
revenue growth for the Group in the future.

In respect of hotel operations, the Group operates and manages two hotels in
Shenzhen and the United States. These hotels are the LVGEM Hotel which is
located in the central business district of Futian district, Shenzhen, and the Vanllee
Hotel in Covina, California, the United States which was acquired in 2017. As at 31
December 2019, the average occupancy rate of LVGEM Hotel was approximately
75% (2018: 75%). Vanllee Hotel occupies a site area of 22,652 square meters and
has completed its renovation in 2019. With its satisfactory service standard, it has
been maintaining an occupancy rate of approximately over 46% during renovation.
The operation of Vanllee Hotel is a milestone project of LVGEM (China), marking
the further expansion of the Group’s international business, which is expected to
contribute stable hotel operation income to the Group.

LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Financing

With the support of Hong Kong's globalized capital operating platform, the Group
adopted diverse financing channels at home and abroad in their highest and
best use during the year. Under the challenging macroeconomic environment,
the financing team actively prepared the refinancing options. In 2019, the overall
finance cost was approximately 6.3% (2018: 6.2%). In August 2019, the Group
completed the renewal of domestic corporate bond. Under the demanding global
capital market environment, the Group seized the market opportunities to prudently
launch the US dollar bond exchange and issuance scheme in the beginning of
2020 as a preparation for refinancing the US$400 million public bond due to
expire in August 2020.

The Group expected to further consolidate its financial strength, enrich its cash
flow and improve the operational efficiency of the Company through domestic
and overseas financing, establish domestic and overseas financing platforms,
improve the efficiency in use of funds to further support the rapid expansion and
development and achieve stable business growth of the Group.

Future Prospect

In early 2020, all Chinese people were dedicated to fighting against the epidemic
with mutual support. The Central Government took highly effective measures
to safeguard public health and safety, in a bid to push forward the resumption
of corporate operations and production gradually. At the same time, launch or
construction of major projects was announced. Various ministries and commissions
of China have launched a series of stimulation plans for infrastructure development
such as downward adjustment of the project funds for certain sectors, loan relief
and increasing the proportion of special debts in local debts so as to further drive
the launch of strategies of urbanisation and regional balanced development across
China. The Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area is the significant
strategic plan in the national development blueprint. Following the launch of the
“Outline Development Plan for the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay
Area” and formulation of pilot modelling zones, the Greater Bay Area has entered
a new historic stage of development. Under the keynote of “no speculation on
residential properties” and with the strengths of a regulated market, the Greater
Bay Area has the potential to become the pilot of the economy of city clusters in
China and to shoulder the historic mission on coordination between the domestic
economic development and the Greater Bay Area as a world-class network hub.

In 2019, all staff strived to fight for the success of the Group and delivered
various encouraging results. Looking towards 2020, the Group will continue to be
dedicated to a general strategic upgrade and focusing on the business presence
in the core cities and areas in the Greater Bay Area under the strategic guidance
of “Focus on urban renewal in the Greater Bay Area, develop a brand new smart
city”. As to the promotion of urban renewal in the Greater Bay Area, the Group will
be aligned with the strategic planning on the Greater Bay Area and strategically
push forward various existing major urban renewal projects of the Group and
the controlling shareholder. By constantly adhering to the national policies and
integrating its unique advantages and market positioning, the Group will continue
to expand the Company’s business scale and position of a pioneer. The Group
will continue to push forward the acquisition of land resources, establish long-
term and effective collaboration with the controlling shareholder and constantly
optimize the capital contribution to projects and commercial operations, thereby
strengthening the ability in highly effective operation and brand competitiveness
of the Company. While putting committed efforts in urban renewal, the Group will
step up its endeavors in creating an outstanding business operation model, aiming
to create higher brand-added value for the Group, bring better life experience to
the residents, infuse vitality to the city’s renewal and development and deliver
substantial returns to the investors.
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By studying the projects introduced by the controlling shareholder in the future
that include the planning of industrial parks and centralised commercial clusters,
the Group intends to develop a model integrating industrial, city and commerce,
continue to develop quality projects in the core areas of core cities, develop
industrial properties (industrial park operation and industrial investment) and
operate smart commercial cities. With the unique positioning and brand-new
perspective, the Group will develop “unique properties, resources-linked properties
and smart properties”.

Meanwhile, the Group will continue to optimise the business structure and
consolidate the standardised management. In 2020, the Group will adhere to the
system management, development under three-orientation strategy and closed-end
management and continue to put more efforts in the three major business divisions,
namely finance, real estate, and assets so as to drive the corporate development.
Also, we will promote the cooperation with Huawei and China Unicom in full swing
in the area of smart technology and strive to develop the smart city benchmark by
integrating with the Baishizhou urban construction platform. In particular, Finance
Business Division will put in best efforts to maintain an effective domestic and
overseas capital operation; financial management and investor relations; Real
Estate Business Division will, according to the 2020 work schedule, undertake
the design planning, construction management, brand sales and marketing, cost
management, administrative licensing, financial and tax management and operation
plan. Each of the seven core department is responsible for its respective roles and
duties, aiming to promote the completion of various tasks with high quality and
efficiency; Asset Business Division will ensure to complete its tasks according to
the targets of 2020 budget plan.

Looking forward, the development of the Greater Bay Area is necessarily irreversible
and will become an essential growth driver of the national economic development.
With years of focus on the development of key regions in the Guangdong-Hong
Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area, the Group will seize the tremendous opportunities of
the current era and strive to develop the Company into a new smart city developer
and operator that is dedicated to the construction of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macao Greater Bay Area. In 2020, the Company will come to a new starting point
and partner with various parties from the society in a creative and aggressive
manner. Adhering to the corporate mission of “continuously enhancing the urban
value”, the Group will make sustained efforts towards the vision and goal of “being
the most respected city value-creator in the PRC”.

LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Financial Review
Revenue
The Group’s revenue mainly comprised of revenue from sales of properties held

for sale, leasing of investment properties and comprehensive services. The Group’s
revenue for the year ended 31 December 2019 was approximately RMB6,902.4
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million (2018: RMB4,515.7 million), representing an increase of approximately F: AR¥4515.7AE7T) fzﬁ@i‘bD%OSZQ% Izz
52.9% as compared to the last year, which was mainly attributable to the increase AR E D EFEWENREIG AR -
in revenue from sales of properties held for sale.
2019 2018 Increase
—g-nE  —T)F 280
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 %
AREFT AREFT AREFT %
Real estate development and sales FHERE RIEE 5,962,446 3,664,328 2,298,118 62.7
Commercial property investment and [GEUES g - b
operations 618,674 543,176 75,498 13.9
Comprehensive services 4RE RS 321,328 308,181 13,147 43
Total HET 6,902,448 4,515,685 2,386,763 52.9
For the year ended 31 December 2019, the revenue from sales of properties held HEZT-NF+ZA=-+—HLFE  RELEFEY
for sale was approximately RMB5,962.4 million (2018: RMB3,664.3 million), ¥R aEHAARESG24BETL(ZE—NF )\EV#’?
representing an increase of approximately 62.7% as compared to the last year, 3,6643HBTT) MEFEMLNE2.7% » TEREHES
which mainly contributed by the sales of the high-rise residential buildings, LVGEM BEEEF(ASSAMESR) - AEBREE-_Z— 1

Mangrove Bay No. 1. The Group’s total gross floor area of properties held for sale
sold during the year ended 31 December 2019 was approximately 271,500 square
meters (2018: approximately 296,300 square meters).

Revenue from leasing of investment properties for the year ended 31 December
2019 was approximately RMB618.7 million (2018: RMB543.2 million), representing
an increase of approximately 13.9% as compared to last year. The increase was
primarily due to the commencement of offshore operations in 2019. The Group’s
commercial properties are all located in core areas. The properties are mainly
operated under the brands of “Zoll” and “NEQ”. Disregarding the occupancy rate
of Hong Kong LVGEM NEO, which was completed in second half of 2019, the
occupancy rate of other investment properties during the year ended 31 December
2019 maintained at a high level at 91% (2018: 95%). The occupancy rate of Hong
Kong LVGEM NEO as at 31 December 2019 was approximately 50%.

The Group provides comprehensive services to customers and tenants of its
residential and commercial properties. These comprehensive services include
property management services, hotel operations, renovations and others. For the
year ended 31 December 2019, comprehensive services of the Group generated
revenue of approximately RMB321.3 million (2018: RMB308.2 million).

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group’s integrated gross profit
increased to approximately RMB4,430.4 million (2018: RMB2,686.2 million),
representing an increase of approximately 64.9% as compared to the last year;
while the integrated gross profit margin for the year ended 31 December 2019
was 64.2% (2018: 59.5%). The increase in gross profit margin was primarily
because approximately 75% of the revenue for the year ended 31 December
2019 was derived from LVGEM Mangrove Bay No.1, with a higher gross profit
margin over 70%.
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Selling Expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2019, selling expenses of the Group amounted
to approximately RMB134.1 million (2018: RMB133.0 million). The selling
expenses mainly included sales commission and advertising expenses for LVGEM
Mangrove Bay No. 1.

Administrative Expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2019, administrative expenses of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB461.5 million (2018: RMB390.4 million), representing
an increase of approximately 18.2% as compared to the last year. The increase
was mainly attributable to the donation to the Huazhou Municipal Government.

Fair Value Changes on Investment Properties

The valuation on the Group’s investment properties as at 31 December 2019 was
conducted by an independent property valuer which resulted in a fair value gain
on investment properties of RMB696.4 million for the year ended 31 December
2019 (2018: RMB323.5 million).

Finance Costs

For the year ended 31 December 2019, finance costs of the Group amounted to
approximately RMB1,256.2 million (2018: RMB658.0 million), representing an
increase of approximately 90.9% as compared to the last year.

The increase in finance costs was primarily due to (i) the increase of the Group’s
total interest-bearing loans to RMB25,976.5 million as at 31 December 2019 from
RMB23,324.4 million as at 31 December 2018; and (ii) the cessation of interest
capitalisation in relation to Hong Kong LVGEM NEO upon its completion during
the year ended 31 December 2019. The Group’s average finance cost of interest-
bearing loans was 6.3% for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: 6.2%).

Income Tax Expense

For the year ended 31 December 2019, income tax expense of the Group amounted
to approximately RMB1,617.2 million (2018: RMB925.1 million). The Group’s
income tax expense included payments and provisions made for Enterprise Income
Tax (“EIT") and Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT”) during the year. The increase of
income tax expense during the year was mainly attributable to the increase in both
EIT and LAT provision due to the sales of LVGEM Mangrove Bay No. 1.

Operating Results
For the year ended 31 December 2019, the profit attributable to owners of the

Company was approximately RMB1,749.9 million (2018: RMB1,237.2 million),
representing an increase of approximately 41.4% as compared to the last year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Gearing

Bank balances and cash as at 31 December 2019 amounted to approximately
RMB8,347.0 million (including restricted bank deposits) (2018: RMB7,589.9 million).

The Group had total borrowings of approximately RMB25,976.5 million as at 31
December 2019 (2018: RMB23,324.4 million). Borrowings classified as current
liabilities were approximately RMB10,826.7 million (2018: RMB5,824.4 million)
and the Group’s gearing ratio as at 31 December 2019 was approximately 135.3%
(2018: 137.6%), which was based on net debt (total interest-bearing loans net of
bank balances and cash (including restricted bank deposits)) over total equity.

Current, Total and Net Assets

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had current assets of approximately
RMB22,276.5 million (2018: RMB19,240.6 million) and current liabilities of
approximately RMB17,760.7 million (2018: RMB11,689.8 million), which
represented a decrease in net current assets from approximately RMB7,550.9
million as at 31 December 2018 to approximately RMB4,515.9 million as at 31
December 2019. The decrease in net current assets as at 31 December 2019
was mainly attributable to the reclassification of US$ denominated senior notes
with principal amount of US$400 million, which will be matured in August 2020,
from non-current liabilities to current liabilities.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group recorded total assets of approximately
RMB48,736.3 million (2018: RMB43,412.1 million) and total liabilities of
approximately RMB35,701.5 million (2018: RMB31,973.2 million), representing
a debt ratio (total liabilities over total assets) of approximately 73.3% (2018:
73.7%). Net assets of the Group were approximately RMB13,034.8 million as at
31 December 2019 (2018: RMB11,438.9 million).

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group was able to utilise its internal
resources and debt and equity financing to meet the funding requirements for
the development of real estate projects.

Charge on Assets

For the year ended 31 December 2019, loans of approximately RMB18,642.0
million (2018: RMB16,085.5 million) were secured by properties under development
for sale, properties held for sale, investment properties, properties, plant and
equipment and pledged deposits of the Group respectively in the total amount of
approximately RMB26,344.1 million (2018: RMB18,878.2 million).

Contingent Liabilities

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group had contingent liabilities relating
to guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities for certain purchasers amounting
to approximately RMB2,132.4 million (2018: RMB1,163.0 million). Pursuant to
the terms of the guarantees, if there is default of the mortgage payments by these
purchasers, the Group is responsible to repay the outstanding mortgage loans
together with any accrued interest and penalty owed by the defaulted purchasers
to the banks.
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The Group’s guarantee period commences from the dates of grant of the relevant
mortgage loans and ends upon the earlier of the buyer obtaining the individual
property ownership certificate or the full settlement of mortgage loans by the buyer.

The Directors consider that it is not probable for the Group to sustain a loss under
these guarantees as during the periods under guarantees, the Group can take over
the ownerships of the related properties under default and sell the properties to
recover any amounts paid by the Group to the banks. The Group has not recognised
any deferred income in respect of these guarantees as its fair value is considered
to be minimal by the Directors. The Directors also consider that the fair market
value of the underlying properties is able to cover the outstanding mortgage loans
guaranteed by the Group in the event that the purchasers default payments to the
banks for their mortgage loans.

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates and Related Hedges

Almost all of the Group’s operating activities are carried out in the PRC with most
of the transactions denominated in Renminbi. The Group is exposed to foreign
currency risk arising from the exposure of Hong Kong dollars and United States
dollars against Renminbi as a result of certain cash balances and loans in Hong
Kong dollars or United States dollars.

The Group does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the Directors
monitor the Group’s foreign exchange exposure closely and may, depending on
the circumstances and trend of foreign currency, consider adopting appropriate
foreign currency hedging policy in the future.

Treasury Policies and Capital Structure

The Group adopts a prudent approach with respect to treasury and funding policies,
with a focus on risk management and transactions that are directly related to the
underlying business of the Group.

Employees

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had a staff roster of 1,821 (2018: 1,612),
of which 1,794 (2018: 1,589) employees were based in the mainland China
and 27 (2018: 23) employees were based in Hong Kong. The remuneration of
employees was in line with the market trends and commensurate to the levels of
remuneration in the industry. Remuneration of the Group’s employees includes
basic salaries, bonuses, retirement scheme and long-term incentives such as
share options within an approved scheme.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Executive Directors

Ms. HUANG Jingshu, aged 32, is an Executive Director and Chairman of the
Company and is responsible for the overall business development of the Company.
From August 2012 to July 2013, Ms. HUANG served in the Guangzhou branch of
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (Special General Partnership) and her last position was
analyst of Corporate Risk Management Service Division, where she was primarily
responsible for providing professional services to the clients. Since November
2010, Ms. HUANG started serving in Shenzhen LVGEM Entity Management Group
Co., Ltd. (FYIMer=EEEEBABRAT]) and her position was the vice
general manager of the investment management department and was responsible
for corporate development and planning matters. Ms. HUANG obtained her
Bachelor of Arts with Honours degree in Accounting and Finance from University
of Exeter in the United Kingdom in July 2010, and her Master of Science degree
in Accounting and Finance in November 2011. Ms. HUANG was appointed as
an executive director and the chairman of the Company on 15 May 2014 and 5
June 2014 respectively. Ms. HUANG is the daughter of Mr. WONG Hong King,
the controlling shareholder of the Company and the sister of Mr. HUANG Hao
Yuan, an executive director of the Company.

Mr. TANG Shouchun, aged 57, is an Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
of the Company and is responsible for overall corporate investment and finance
matters of the Company. Mr. TANG was appointed as vice president of Shenzhen
LVGEM Entity Management Group Co., Ltd. (RIS EEREEER A
A]) in October 2015 and operations director of the Company in February 2016.
Prior to joining Shenzhen LVGEM Entity Management Group Co., Ltd. CRIIIT4x
SEEEEEBAGMRAF]), Mr. TANG has been the deputy general manager of
Yue Xiu Enterprises (Holdings) Limited and executive director of Yuexiu Property
Company Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange). Mr. TANG studied
business administration in Nanjing Agricultural University in his early years and
obtained a doctor degree. After graduating, he has been vice professor in university,
senior management in Guangdong and Guangzhou large state-owned enterprises
(including Hong Kong listed companies) and was responsible for finance, capital
operation, legal, audit, strategic and operation management matters. Mr. TANG
is a vice professor, senior accountant, senior economist and registered asset
appraiser in China. Mr. TANG was appointed as an executive director and chief
executive officer of the Company on 31 March 2016.

Mr. YE Xingan, aged 56, is an Executive Director of the Company and is responsible
for the overall project development and management and business branding
management of the Company. He joined Shenzhen LVGEM Entity Management
Group Co., Ltd. ORI AR = EEEEE AR AR]) in March 2007 and served
as the executive vice president and was responsible for its overall operation
management. Prior to joining the Company, from March 1993 to August 2002, Mr.
YE served various positions in BRHPZERDBR A A (China Vanke Co., Ltd.*),
a company primarily engaged in real estate development. From August 2002 to
March 2005, Mr. YE served as a director and general manager of Chengdu Xinyi
Investment Industry Co., Ltd. (F&EPIMEIRE BEAFRAR]) and was primarily
responsible for overall management. From March 2005 to March 2007, Mr. YE
served as a director and general manager of Shenzhen Xinyi Real Estate Investment
Development Co., Ltd. CRIITI BRI ER E#R G R A 7]) and was primarily
responsible for its overall management. Mr. YE obtained his associate degree
in accounting from Jiangxi College of Finance and Economics (I 7887 4% 2265,
now known as Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics (TFEI & KE2)) in
the PRC in June 1986, and he studied courses of master’'s degree in business
administration at International Business Administration School of University of
International Business and Economics (¥J9MEEE 5 K ZEIBR T e IR 20)
in the PRC from September 2000 to September 2001. Mr. YE was appointed as
an executive director of the Company on 15 May 2014.

EERGEREBAEBZERE

HITES

EWMFLL  BERR  ARARITESHREF C BEAL
RRAIZBBEKER -N_T——F\AE-ZT—=F+t
A B TERNED « BEMR A SHRITTEMNS 1T (R %
TREE)  HEBB AT ERBRERRGIONE - =
EEEREFLREEERS -8 -2 TF+— AL &
ZEHABEBRFRITESEEEEE@MER A A RER
NAKRETESIALE  AECERERFESZHE - &
ZEHRZE—FF+ AEEHEBEUniversity of Exeter&at &
BB gEst e YR -_E——F+— ARBE—RK
EnNSet R HERSETEN R T—NERA+
HAR-Z—NENARB  EXEHRIERTAERAF
WITEERER - ERTARRARERBREFIELELZ
TRARARNRTESEERAEZBL -

BEELE  HFL/m  ARFATEFRITBRAEE - A
BARBZERCERBERES -BAER T —RF+
AMEESECEREREEARAREGE  R-F—XRF
“AMEARREERE  c MARSEEEEEEGREA
AZAIBEBBEEEERLLE  MAEER R (—HR
BRZFT EMERBDITES - EAEFFRBENEREE
ARECEEEHEE  WHBBHLEM - FXRE - HARE
ERBRFE EREEMNAZEM BEFELHRAF])
BREEAR - TEBMG BANEE X B: B
BREERERSIIE - BREBEARIIR SR -
BARBED - PEEMEEFGMEEEER - EEER
—E-RFZ A=t - REZEREARARRITEERTH
HBEL -

HEEZRE  BFS6R  ARAFRRTES - AEALA
ZEBARBRRMEENREXDRER - BEENR-Z
TEFZAMARITRSECREREERRAR @ EE
SEEE o MIMAKRRRF - 7
—NN=F=ZRAZ-ZTZT-F)\A - BEREREREER
NERIA(—HEIEREFMLERE 2 AT EEZER
il - R-BE_FN\AZ_ZTTRF=F @ BEREREK
WOBRHREBXERAFTEETRELE  TEAAERE
B -R_TERF=RE_TZTLF=R  BEEEEER
e EHEREERBERAPEERALE - 24
BEEERE - BEEER-NANRFERARGHEIIERE
BRCABIAVEAB)SHE2ELBM - KR _FTZF
FLAZ-ZZ-FAAETREEINEER S RSERT
BEESREEIRERETBURE - R-E—HFh
ATHRA  RELRZERARFNTES -

BR(FE)HERARRAE 5

—T—NEFFR

—=



26

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREBAEBZEE

Mr. HUANG Hao Yuan, aged 29, is an Executive Director of the Company and is
responsible for investment property operation and management of the Company.
Mr. HUANG joined Shenzhen LVGEM Entity Management Group Co., Ltd. &Yl
e EEEBAGRAR) N 2014, and served as the deputy general manager
of the Investment and Development Centre and was responsible for formulating
its strategic development and investment plans, as well as responsible for project
execution and the evaluation of potential projects. From August 2016 to February
2017, Mr. HUANG served as a senior investment manager of {8 & EE R AR
/2] (Boshuang Assets Management Co., Ltd.*) and was responsible for project
development and evaluation and monitoring of investments. Mr. HUANG possesses
6 years’ working experience in the real estate industry in China. Mr. HUANG was
appointed as an executive director of the Company on 21 February 2017. Mr.
HUANG is the son of Mr. WONG Hong King, the controlling shareholder of the
Company and the younger brother of Ms. HUANG Jingshu, an executive director
and chairman of the Company.

Mr. Siu Chi Hung, aged 49, is an Executive Director of the Company and is
responsible for corporate investment, treasury and financing, investor relationship
and compliance management of the Company. Mr. SIU joined KPMG (Hong Kong)
in 1994 and became a partner in 2008. He was the Head of Real Estate of KPMG
(China) and the Head of Capital Markets development, Southern China of KPMG
(China) before his retirement in June 2018. Mr. SIU obtained his bachelor’s
degree in Business Administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in
1994. Mr. SIU is a non-practising member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, a member of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Independent Non-Executive Director
Association. Mr. SIU was appointed as an executive director of the Company on
20 September 2019.

Non-Executive Director

Ms. LI Lihong, aged 47, is a Non-Executive Director of the Company. Ms. LI has
over 24 years of experience in the banking and financial industry. She is currently
the chief risk officer of the Real Estate Finance Division of Ping An Bank Co., Ltd.
(FZR1TIB B R A 7)) (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange with
stock code of 000001) and is responsible for the risk management of the real estate
finance department. From March 2015 to November 2016, Ms. Li served as the
general manager of Ping An Caizhi Investment Management Company (‘- & 81 %8
B EIBHIRAT). She joined the Guangzhou branch of Ping An Bank Co., Ltd.
(FZRITRAD B R R) in January 2009 and held various management positions
until March 2015, the last position she held in such branch was the investment
officer. From July 2003 to January 2009, Ms. Li also served as the branch general
manager of the Corporate Finance Department and general manager assistant of
the Risk Management Department in the Guangzhou branch of China Minsheng
Banking Corp., Ltd. (FBIR &£ R1TAZ (D BPR A )) (a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange with stock codes of 600016
and 01988 respectively). In addition, Ms. Li also served as the deputy director of
the Guangzhou Tianhe branch of the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
Limited (7F B TR $R7TAX1A B BR A R]) (@ company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange with stock codes of 601398 and
1398 respectively) from July 1995 to June 2013. Ms. LI graduated from Nankai
University and obtained her master’s degree in business administration in senior
management. Ms. LI was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company
on 29 March 2018.

* For identification purposes only (£#£:2:5I
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Jing, aged 52, is an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company
and is responsible for providing independent judgement and scrutinising the
performance of the Company. Mr. WANG currently serves as a vice president of
HEE, is mainly responsible for the 7FRESH Business Unit and an independent
director of Dark Horse Venture (Beijing) Technology Co. Ltd (Bl% 2 &b R)R}
AR D BR/AF]) (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange with a
stock code of 300688). From March 2009 to December 2016, Mr. WANG served
as a chairman of the board of directors of Land Vision (Shanghai) Investment
Management Co., Ltd. ULMER S (L8R EEIRFR A F)), a professional service
provider in commercial property industry. From January 2017 to September 2018,
he served as a chairman of the board of directors (chained supermarket of retail
industry) of Beijing Ueater Technology Co. Ltd (Ut REBEZRHL AR AF]). Mr.
WANG served as an independent director of Better-Life Commercial Chain Share
Co., Ltd. =R ZEEER M BRAF]) (@ company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange with a stock code of 002251) from May 2014 to May 2017. Mr.
WANG also served as a chief strategy officer of B % E (7FRESH Business Unit)
from October 2018 to April 2019. Mr. WANG obtained his Bachelor of Engineering
Degree from Heilongjiang Business School (38T & kt) in the PRC in July
1990, and his master's degree in business administration from University of
International Business and Economics (8 9MEEE 5 AKE) in the PRC in July
1997. Mr. WANG was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the
Company on 15 May 2014.

Ms. HU Gin Ing, aged 61, is an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company
and is responsible for providing independent judgement and scrutinising the
performance of the Company. Ms. HU has over 25 years of experience in
accounting and finance. Ms. HU was appointed as an independent director of
Acer Synergy Tech Corp. (£ AR 15 A% 19 B BR 2 F)) (a company listed on the Taipei
Exchange with a code of 6751) on 15 October 2019. Ms. HU was appointed as
an independent director of Vigor Kobo Company Limited (a company listed on
the Taipei Exchange with a code of 2733) on 28 June 2019. Ms. HU has been a
director of NHL CPA Ltd., Hong Kong since January 2005. Ms. HU was appointed
as the chairman of the board of directors of Benepet Co., Ltd. (zmEEEERHAE
fRAA]) in July 2017. Ms. HU is now the vice chairman of the board of Benelife
Management Limited* (& & /EAMEE R A(L/E)BR2AF]) since February
2018. From May 2014 to June 2017, Ms. HU has served as the global chief
finance officer of Acer Incorporated (Z=E% 7 A R A &), a company listed on the
Taiwan Stock Exchange with stock code of 2353. From December 2013 to April
2019, Ms. HU has served as an independent non-executive director of Carnival
Group International Holdings Limited (ZFZERFRIERAR A R]), a company
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange with stock code of 996. She serves an
independent non-executive director of Enterprise Development Holdings Limited
(B IZER% B BR A 7)) and Superactive Group Company Limited (JEi# 2 5EEH
22 7)) (formerly known as United Pacific Industries Limited (B¢ A TEBR A
al)), all of which are companies listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange with
stock code of 1808 and 176 respectively. Ms. HU obtained her Bachelor of Arts
degree from National Taiwan University in June 1981, her Master of Science
degree of science from Barry University in the United States of America in May
1988 and her Master of Business Administration degree from Florida International
University in the United States of America in August 1990. Ms. HU is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member of the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ms. HU was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company on 15 May 2014.

* For identification purposes only (Z#t5
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Mr. MO Fan, aged 37, is an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company
and is responsible for providing independent judgement and scrutinising the
performance of the Company. Mr. MO has over 13 years of experience in financing.
Mr. MO currently serves as a Chief Financial Officer of the joint venture company
of Vanke Service and Cushman & Wakefield. Mr. MO obtained his Bachelor of
Business Administration degree and a Bachelor of Communication Engineering
degree from Zhejiang University in the PRC in June 2005 respectively, and his
Master of Science degree in Banking and Finance from Loughborough University in
the United Kingdom in December 2006. Mr. MO was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company on 8 April 2019.

Senior Management

Ms. HU Yong, aged 57, is the vice president of the Group and is responsible
for its financing. Prior to joining the Group in January 2005, from July 2003 to
December 2004, Ms. HU served as the assistant to general manager in China
Jiantou Commerce & Trading Co., Ltd. (F#£$% 5 E B R A 7)) and was responsible
for finance duties. From January 1987 to January 2001, she served in various
positions in Shenzhen Petrochemical Chemical Co., Ltd. (I THEE A 7)),
including general manager from July 1996 to January 2001. She was responsible
for financial and accounting matters. Ms. HU obtained her associate degree in
accounting from Shenzhen University GRYIIZRZR) in July 1989, and studied strategic
financing management courses in the Research Institute of Tsinghua University
in Shenzhen (RYIEZE A ERIEPT) in the PRC in April 2008.

Mr. REN Hongbing, aged 52, is the vice president of the Group and is responsible
for the project construction and development. Mr. REN joined the Group in March
2001. He had served various positions including the vice general manager and
general manager of Zhuhai LVGEM Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. 3K/84k S5
HhEE F 85 5 PR A 7)) and was responsible for project development. Prior to joining
the Group, Mr. REN served as various positions in Shenzhen Huatai Enterprises
Company (FYIIZEZE{b %2 7)) and was responsible for technology and engineering
matters. Mr. REN obtained his bachelor’s degree in industrial and civil buildings
(THEER ML) from Yangzhou Construction Engineering Institute (35 /M &
TRER) in the PRC in July 1988, and his Master of Business Administration
degree from University of Wales in January 2012.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have pleasure in presenting their
report together with the audited consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2019.

A review of the business of the Group during the year under review and a discussion
on the Group’s future business development, possible risks and uncertainties that
the Group may be facing and important events affecting the Company occurred
during the year ended 31 December 2019 are provided in the section headed
“Chairman’s Statement” on pages 4 to 8 and the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 9 to 24 of this annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year ended 31 December
2019 using financial performance indicators is provided in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 9 to 24 of this annual report.

Principal Activities

The Group is principally engaged in property development and property investment
businesses.

Results and Dividend

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 and the state of
affairs of the Group at that date are set out in the consolidated financial statements
on pages 63 to 205.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK6.1 cents
(equivalent to approximately RMB5.46 cents) per ordinary share for the year
ended 31 December 2019.

Convertible Bonds and Share Capital

Details of the movements in the Company’s convertible bonds and share capital
during the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in notes 34 and 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Reserves

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Distributable Reserves

Pursuant to the applicable statutory provisions of the Cayman Islands, the Company’s
reserves available for distribution as at 31 December 2019, amounted to approximately
RMB283.1 million (2018: RMB306.3 million), of which approximately RMB275.8
million has been proposed as final dividend for the year.
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Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group are
set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

Principal Properties

Details of the principal properties for investment purposes and properties under
development for sale are set out on pages 207 to 212.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of
association or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

Tax Relief

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to shareholders by
reason of their holding of the Company’s shares.

Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
five financial years is set out on page 206.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed Securities

During the year, the Company issued an aggregate of 103,826,087 ordinary
shares (including the issue of 4,392,000 shares by the Company pursuant to
the exercise of share options under the share option scheme of the Company).
Details are as follows:

(a) On 24 April 2019, the Company received a conversion notice for the conversion
of aggregate 50,000,000 convertible preference shares in the capital of the
Company into 50,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company.

(b) On20and 26 November 2019, the Company received two conversion notices
for the conversion of aggregate 53,826,087 convertible preference shares in
the capital of the Company into 53,826,087 ordinary shares of the Company.

The Company has not redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year. Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
has purchased or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.
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Directors

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report
were as follows:

Executive Directors

Ms. HUANG Jingshu (Chairman)

Mr. TANG Shouchun (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. YE Xingan

Ms. DENG Chengying (resigned on 20 September 2019)
Mr. HUANG Hao Yuan

Mr. SIU Chi Hung (appointed on 20 September 2019)

Non-Executive Director
Ms. LI Lihong
Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. ZHU Jiusheng (resigned on 8 April 2019)
Mr. WANG Jing

Ms. HU Gin Ing

Mr. Mo Fan (appointed on 8 April 2019)

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association, Mr. SIU Chi Hung will
retire at the first general meeting of the Company after his appointment. In addition,
Ms. LI Lihong, Mr. WANG Jing and Ms. HU Gin Ing will retire by rotation. All the
above Directors being eligible for re-election, will offer themselves for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company has received from each independent non-executive Director an
annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and the Company considers such Directors
were independent.
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EEERE
Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set out on pages
25 to 28.

Directors’ Service Agreements

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the
Company and is subject to termination by either party in the manner as set out
in the service agreement.

The non-executive Director and each of the independent non-executive Directors
have entered into a letter of appointment with the Company and is subject to
termination by either party in the manner as set out in the letter of appointment.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting have a service agreement with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
not determinable by the employing company within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions” in this report
and in note 48 to the consolidated financial statements, none of the Directors and
controlling shareholders of the Company had a material beneficial interest, either
direct or indirect, in any contract of significance to the business of the Group to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year.

Remuneration of the Directors and the Five Highest Paid
Individuals

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals
are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

The remuneration of the Directors and senior management is determined with
reference to their duties, responsibilities and performance and the Group’s results.
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests in the Shares, EZBRFTETHAEREAATINKMG -~ 48
Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company BEROREFTFHEENER

As at 31 December 2019, the Directors and the chief executive of the Company RIZE—NE+_A=1+—8  BARAREEFLHE
had the following interests in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the 16050 ([ BH RHEEED ) E3521FEFNELMETR
Company which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company EEZRARAEBZTHRABRARRZRKRG - ABERD
pursuant to section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”), or as BHPHEE T XS RELR @ SRE EMARA TR ESE

otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model TEARX HWIZRESTRIZENE M7 2 AME AR T R AT
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers of the Listing Rules. Kt o
(A) Interest in shares and underlying shares of the Company (A RELTRGHEZREBERGZER
Number of underlying Approximate
shares (under equity percentage of the
Long position/ Number of derivatives of the Aggregate issued share capital
Name of Director Short position Capacity shares held Company) held interests of the Company
Fis R DS E
(RAERQT R ERARERIT
EERE TR/ KR 227 FrsRHEE fTEIAT) EREE REZBOEIH
Ms. HUANG Jingshu Long Position Beneficiary of a trust  2,400,000,000 - 2,400,000,000 47.52%
EUGie 593 EFERXEA (Note 1)
(Kret1)
Long Position Interests of spouse - 650,000,000 650,000,000 12.87%
59) [ (Note 2)
(Hizt2)
Long Position Personal interest - 4,500,000 (Note 3) 4,500,000 0.09%
59-) BN 3 (H5£3)
Mr. TANG Shouchun Long Position Personal interest - 10,000,000 (Note 3) 10,000,000 0.20%
EEERE e AR (K1:#3)
Mr. YE Xingan Long Position Personal interest - 10,000,000 (Note 3) 10,000,000 0.20%
BTkt 59-) BN 3 (K1523)
Mr. HUANG Hao Yuan Long Position Beneficiary of a trust  2,400,000,000 - 2,400,000,000 47.52%
BERTE 59} BRI A (Note 1)
(Hizt1)
Long Position Personal interest - 4,500,000 (Note 3) 4,500,000 0.09%
e AR (K1:#3)
Mr. WANG lJing Long Position Personal interest - 3,000,000 (Note 3) 3,000,000 0.06%
FHEE 59-) BN 3 (Kt523)
Ms. HU Gin Ing Long Position Personal interest - 3,000,000 (Note 3) 3,000,000 0.06%
LS - 55} AR (K1:#3)
Notes: Haz -
1. Ms. HUANG Jingshu and Mr. HUANG Hao Yuan are deemed to be interested 1. HREWEZ T REAREERAERBE R E IR
in 2,400,000,000 shares in the Company by virtue of them being beneficiaries FRNZEA  BUIRESMBEEHIEXVIEmE -
of the family trust of Mr. WONG Hong King for the purpose of Part XV of the SR AfEA A A A 2,400,000,0008% A% 15 2 1
SFO. Frad
2. Ms. HUANG Jingshu is deemed to be interested in 650,000,000 convertible 2. MEBEHFLEEAEXNVIEME @ EHEFTLEHES
preference shares held by Mr. Xu Jun Jia, her spouse, for the purpose of Part M E R BT 52 5L £ FTHE A 2 72650,000,0004% AT #4
XV of the SFO. MRE LR R s -
3. Share options were granted on 28 June 2016. Details of share options granted 3. BREITR-Z—"NEAAZTNABAELE - BFAK
to the Directors of the Company are set out in part (B) of this section. NEEEZEIREEE NDHRAS(B)IET °
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests in the Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company (Cont'd)

(A)

(B)

Interest in shares and underlying shares of the Company (Cont'd)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none of the Company’s
Directors, chief executive of the Company and their associates, had any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations that was required to
be recorded pursuant to section 352 of the SFO.

Long position in underlying shares — share options

Under the share option scheme of the Company, share option may be
granted to certain participants including the Directors and employees of the
Company and its subsidiaries to subscribe for the shares of the Company.
Details of share options granted to the Directors during the year are as follows:

EERFETRAEREAQFANRSG - 8
ERGRESDERNVER @)

(A  REDARDEERREBERGD &R (F)

B EXEBEEN  R_E-NAF+-A=+—H"
ARARZEE ARBAETBTRABRBEZHE
ABHER AR A Sk AR ARROAE 2 B - FEREAX
NREFEBEEAREIAR - MBREFRHAE
GBI 35216 T LARC# -

(B) HEEARNDZHR-HERE
RBARRZ BEEFTE - BREATRTET2HE

ANBREERARTAREMBARZEE)ARE
ARBZB - RERETES ZBRIEFBINT

Number of share options
BREHE
Granted Exercised Lapsed Balance at Exercise
Balance at during during during 31 December price per
Name of Director Date of grant Exercisable period 1 January 2019 the year the year the year 2019 share
dd/mmiyyyy dd/mmiyyyy HK$
R=B-n% R=Z-n%
-A-8 TZA=t+-H
EzER BB iy &8 REREHE RERTRE  RERXX &% BROKE
B/R/% B/R/% S
Ms. HUANG Jingshu 28/06/2016 28/06/2016 - 27/06/2026 4,500,000 - - - 4,500,000 1.846
EUGEE (Note 3) (Note 4)
(H3t3) (Hizt4)
Mr. TANG Shouchun 28/06/2016 28/06/2016 - 27/06/2026 10,000,000 - - - 10,000,000 1.846
BEELE (Note 3) (Note 4)
(Hrzt3) (Wizt4)
Mr. YE Xingan 28/06/2016 28/06/2016 - 27/06/2026 10,000,000 - - - 10,000,000 1.846
EAREE (Note 3) (Note 4)
(Hit3) (Hiit4)
Ms. DENG Chengying (Nofe 1) 28/06/2016 28/06/2016 - 27/06/2026 8,500,000 - - - 8,500,000 1.846
WEELT (f:21) (Note 3) (Note 4)
(H3t3) (Hizt4)
Mr. HUANG Hao Yuan 28/06/2016 28/06/2016 - 27/06/2026 4,500,000 - - - 4,500,000 1.846
BERLE (Note 3) (Note 4)
(Hrt3) (Wizt4)
Mr. ZHU Jiusheng (Note 2) ~ 28/06/2016 28/06/2016 - 27/06/2026 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 1.846
BABEE (H:#2) (Note 3) (Note 4)
(Hit3) (M)
Mr. WANG Jing 28/06/2016 28/06/2016 - 27/06/2026 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 1.846
THksE (Note 3) (Note 4)
(H3t3) (Hit4)
Ms. HU Gin Ing 28/06/2016 28/06/2016 - 27/06/2026 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 1.846
piEY (Note 3) (Note 4)
(Hi#3) (Hi4)
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests in the Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company (Cont'd)

(B)

Long position in underlying shares — share options (Cont’d)

Notes:

1.

Ms. Deng Chengying resigned as an executive Director on 20 September
2019.

Mr. ZHU Jiusheng resigned as an independent non-executive Director on 8
April 2019.

The share options are exercisable in the following manner for a period of 10
years from the date of grant:

(i) 30% of the share options shall exercise on the date of the grant and
up to 27 June 2026;

(ii) 30% of the share options shall exercise upon the expiry of one year

from 28 June 2016 and up to 27 June 2026; and

(iii) 40% of the share options shall exercise upon the expiry of two years
from 28 June 2016 and up to 27 June 2026.

Details of the fair value of the options granted in 2016 are set out in note 40
to the consolidated financial statements.
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EEEHE

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Shares and Underlying

Shares of the Company

So far as known to the Company, as at 31 December 2019, shareholders (other
than Directors or chief executive of the Company) who had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part

FERRRAQFANRG RAEBERS %
AR

RZZB-NF+ZA=+—8  SARFAMMA  KR(E
EPARAEZITHABRINRAR AR ML MBI
R RIREBEES M E R EXVEBE2R3DHBME AR
Al ERIOAR  IREES LB RIIEI6CHETHFE

XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the MEERMAR - SR
Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:
Long position in ordinary shares ZERROZHRE
Approximate
percentage of
Number Number the issued
of of underlying Aggregate share capital
Name of Shareholder Capacity shares held shares held Interests of the Company Notes
1EARAT]
R FSEERG ERITRAEAZ
RERZE 51 E ] WEE g LR iz
China LVGEM Property Holdings Beneficial owner 1,058,414,583 - 1,058,414,583 20.96% 1
Limited (“China LYGEM”) EmMAA
B RIMERERBR AT
([9BSR )
Go Great International Limited Interests of controlled corporation 1,165,557,094 - 1,165,557,094 23.08% 1
(“Go Great”) R EERES
SRR ARAR ( [=25%] )
Mr. WONG Hong King Interests of controlled corporation 1,165,557,094 - 1,165,557,094 23.08% 1
(“Mr. WONG”) X EERER
wmEERE ([EEE])
Founder of a trust 2,400,000,000 - 2,400,000,000 47.52% 2
{EFERIRLA
Kinson Group Limited Beneficial owner 2,400,000,000 - 2,400,000,000 47.52% 2
s Z-UN
Evergreen Holdings Limited Interests of controlled corporation 2,400,000,000 - 2,400,000,000 47.52% 2
i EE R
Cantrust (Far East) Limited Interests of controlled corporation 2,400,000,000 - 2,400,000,000 47.52% 2
i EE RS
Toplist Investments Limited Beneficial owner 300,000,000 - 300,000,000 5.94% N/A
EmmAA TEA
Wkland Investments V Limited Beneficial owner 300,000,000 - 300,000,000 5.94% 3
EnmAA
China Vanke Co., Ltd.* Interests of controlled corporation 300,000,000 - 300,000,000 5.94% 3
EREERHBRAT R EE R
Chance Talent Management Limited ~ Beneficial owner 17,826,087 401,328,671 419,154,758 8.30% 4
EnmAA
China Construction Bank Corporation Interests of controlled corporation 17,826,087 401,328,671 419,154,758 8.30% 4
FEIESRRITRH AR AR R EERES
Central Huijin Investment Ltd. Interests of controlled corporation 17,826,087 401,328,671 419,154,758 8.30% 4

PRESHBAREEAT

*  For identification purpose only £ 5|
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Shares and Underlying
Shares of the Company (Contd)

Long position in ordinary shares (Cont'd)

Notes:

1. China LVGEM is owned as to 100% by Go Great, which is in turn owned as to
100% by Mr. WONG. Accordingly, Go Great and Mr. WONG are deemed to be
interested in the 1,058,414,583 shares held by China LVGEM.

2. Kinson Group Limited is owned as to 100% by Evergreen Holdings Limited, and
Evergreen Holdings Limited is owned as to 100% by Cantrust (Far East) Limited,
acting as the trustee for the family trust of Mr. WONG.

3. Wkland Investments V Limited is owned as to 100% by SR ERMD AR A F
(China Vanke Co., Ltd.*). Accordingly, BRI EMD AR 25 (China Vanke Co.,
Ltd.*) is deemed to be interested in the 300,000,000 shares held by Wkland
Investments V Limited.

4. Chance Talent is owned as to 100% by China Construction Bank Corporation,
and China Construction Bank Corporation is owned as to 57.11% by Central
Huijin Investment Ltd.. Accordingly, Central Huijin Investment Ltd. is deemed to
be interested in the 419,154,758 shares held by Chance Talent.
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1. EREATFRZRI00% 2 Em(MNEXERAFRES
100% 2 #x5) - FHItt - @B REREEE BN RESITE
B2 #%1,058,414, 583 BN A ELS ©

2. Evergreen Holdings Limited## A Kinson Group Limited 100%
2 KE2S > MCantrust (Far East) Limited{EBE L4 2 Riklz
LAY L AJE B Evergreen Holdings Limited 100% 2 ## % ©

3. BRIERHARATHEAWKIand Investments V Limited 2
100% M o Bt - BEMZERMDBR A REE AR WkKland
Investments V Limited FT#3 4 2 5% %:300,000,0008% & (5 # B
e o

4. 2 R IR TT IR 15 B IR A R ¥ B Chance Talent 100% 2 #
wm MPRESKREEREAAFBEERBEZRRITIRG A
BRARS7.11% 2 e o At - FRESKEAEREMEAR
WAR B Chance TalentFTid A 2 :%5419,154, 758 15

B o
Long position in convertible preference shares ARREERRDZETR
Approximate
percentage of the
Number of issued convertible
convertible preference
preference share capital
Name of Shareholder Capacity shares held of the Company Notes
F N
eIk Y ERITREZ
RERZE 51 BEERBEE BREDH i
China LVGEM Beneficial owner 2,214,010,572 64.32% 1
alETo S e 2PN
Go Great Interests of controlled corporation 2,214,010,572 64.32% 1
= i EE R
Mr. WONG Interests of controlled corporation 2,214,010,572 64.32% 1
BEAE i rE S
All Group Wise International Beneficial owner 650,000,000 18.88% 2
(Holdings) Limited ERBEAA
BB (ERR) BRAR
Mr. Xu Jun Jia Interests of controlled corporation 650,000,000 18.88% 2
HEREE RrE g
Proud Pine Limited Beneficial owner 284,000,000 8.25% N/A
HIAER AR EamAaA T
Poly Platinum Enterprises Limited Person having a security interest in shares 910,830,000 26.46% 3
FEROEOREEROA
Greater Bay Area Homeland Investments  Interests of controlled corporation 910,830,000 26.46% &

Limited
RNERHERREREGRAF

*  For identification purpose only £ 5|
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Shares and Underlying
Shares of the Company (Cont'd)

Long position in convertible preference shares (Cont'd)

Notes:

1. China LVGEM is owned as to 100% by Go Great, which is in turn owned as to
100% by Mr. WONG. Accordingly, Go Great and Mr. WONG are deemed to be
interested in the 2,214,010,572 convertible preference shares held by China
LVGEM.

2. All Group Wise International (Holdings) Limited is owned as to 100% by Mr.
Xu Jun Jia. Accordingly, Mr. Xu Jun Jia is deemed to be interested in the
650,000,000 convertible preference shares held by All Group Wise International
(Holdings) Limited.

3. Poly Platinum Enterprises Limited is indirect owned as to 100% by Greater Bay
Area Homeland Investments Limited. Accordingly, Greater Bay Area Homeland
Investments Limited is deemed to be interested in the 910,830,000 convertible
preferecne shares held by Poly Platinum Enterprises Limited.

Employee and Remuneration Policies

The Group remunerates and provides benefits for its employees based on current
industry practice. Discretionary bonuses are awarded to staff based on the financial
performance of the Group and performance of individual staff.

In addition, share options may be granted to eligible employees in accordance
with the terms of the Company’s share option scheme.

Retirement Schemes

The Group participates in several defined contribution retirement plans which
cover the Group’s eligible employees in China, and a mandatory provident fund
scheme for the employees in Hong Kong. Particulars of these retirement plans
are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

Share Options

The existing share option scheme of the Company was adopted on 2 June 2016.
The share option scheme was adopted for the purpose of enabling the Company
to grant options to selected eligible participants as incentives or rewards for their
contribution or potential contribution to the Group.

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the movements in the share
options are set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the year.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Save as otherwise disclosed in this report, no rights to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the Company were granted to any
Director or their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were any
such rights exercised by them; or was the Company and any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors, or their respective spouse or
children under 18 years of age, to acquire such rights in any other body corporate
for the year ended 31 December 2019.
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Major Suppliers and Customers

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year attributable to the Group’s
major suppliers and customers are as follows:

Purchases

— the largest supplier 29%
— five largest suppliers combined 54%
Sales

— the largest customer 0.4%
— five largest customers combined 1.8%

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders (which, to
the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers and
its five largest customers.

Connected Transactions

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group has entered into the following
connected transaction/continuing connected transaction, certain details of which
were disclosed in compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

Subscription of New Shares in Copious Favour Holdings Limited

On 21 May 2019, Shenzhen LVGEM Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.* (Il
2 EHERIE AR A F) (the “Purchaser”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into an equity transfer agreement (the “Equity Transfer
Agreement”) with Dongguan LVGEM Real Estate Development Co., Ltd* (5
TEF S EHERZ AR AR (the “Target Company”) and Dongguan Lusheng
Enterprise Investment Co., Ltd.* (R4 R EEILEBR A A)) (the “Vendor”)
to acquire 100% equity interest in the Target Company at a total consideration of
RMB8 million (the “Acquisition”). The Acquisition was completed on 28 May 2019.

The family members of Mr. WONG, the controlling shareholder of the Company,
is ultimately wholly-owned the entire issued share capital of the Vendor which is
an associate of Mr. WONG and therefore a connected person of the Company.
As such, the Acquisition shall constitute a connected transaction of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Continuing Connected Transaction
Security Services Agreement

On 26 October 2015, the Company and Shenzhen Forsafe System Technology Co.,
Ltd. (“Forsafe”) entered into a security services agreement (the “Security Services
Agreement”) pursuant to which Forsafe provides security products, intelligent
security system design, engineering and installation services, including fire security
system and low current intelligent system to the Group (the “Services”), for a term
commencing from the date of agreement and ending on 31 December 2017. On
24 November 2017, the Security Services Agreement was renewed for a term of
3 years continuing on 1 January 2018.

Forsafe is a wholly owned subsidiary of J&IITBARIRERBE AT (Shenzhen
Hongjing Investment Co., Ltd*) (“Shenzhen Hongjing”), the shareholding interest
of which has been transferred from Mr. WONG to his spouse, Ms. HE Yaxing and
certain associates on 28 September 2015, Ms. HE Yaxing becomes the controlling
shareholder of Shenzhen Hongjing. Therefore, the Security Services Agreement
constitutes continuing connected transaction of the Company under the Listing Rules.

*

For identification purposes only 15
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Connected Transactions (Cont'd)
Continuing Connected Transaction (Cont'd)
Security Services Agreement (Cont'd)

For the year ended 31 December 2019, no fees were charged by Forsafe for the
provision of the Services under the Security Services Agreement, which was within
the annual cap of RMB30 million for the same period.

The aforesaid continuing connected transaction has been reviewed by the
independent non-executive Directors of the Company and they confirmed that
the aforesaid transaction was entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group, (ii) on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favourable to the Group than terms available to or from independent third parties,
and (iii) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing the transactions on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and the
shareholders as a whole.

Based on the work performed, the auditor of the Company has provided a letter
to the Board, confirming that nothing has come to their attention which causes
them to believe the continuing connected transaction abovementioned:

(i)  has not been approved by the Board;

(ii) has not been entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the
relevant agreements governing the transaction; and

(iii) has exceeded the annual cap.

Related Party Transactions

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the Group in the normal
course of business are set out in note 48 to the consolidated financial statements.
Those related party transactions, which constituted connected transactions not
being exempt from annual reporting requirement under the Listing Rules, are set
out in the section headed “Connected Transactions” above, and the Company has
complied with the relevant disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

Directors’ Interest in Competing Business

None of the Directors had any interest in the businesses which compete or are
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group
that were required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

A separate Environmental, Social and Governance Report will be published in
compliance with the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide as set
out in Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules within three months after the publication
of this annual report.

Corporate Governance

A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
is set out on pages 43 to 54 of this report.
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Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total issued share
capital was held by the public during the year ended 31 December 2019 and up
to the date of this report.

Changes in Directors’ Information

Changes in directors’ information since the date of the 2019 interim report of the
Company and up to the date of this report which are required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules are as follows:

—  Ms. HU Gin Ing was appointed as an independent director of Acer Synergy
Tech Corp. (B ARSI 1D B PR A 7)) (a company listed on the Taipei Exchange
with a code of 6751) on 15 October 2019.

—  Mr. MO Fan changed his position from Managing Partner of Overseas
Financing Business of &R /H B PR AF] (China Vanke Co., Ltd.*) to
Chief Financial Officer of the joint venture company of Vanke Service and
Cushman & Wakefield in January 2020.

Save as disclosed above, there was no change to the Directors’ information as
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

Events after the Reporting Period

On 20 February 2020, the Group commenced an exchange offer (the “Exchange
Offer”) for the existing USD denominated senior notes with principal amount of
USD400,000,000 (equivalent to RMB2,801,040,000). The Exchange Offer extends
the due date of the existing senior notes to 2023 with an increased coupon rate
of 12% per annum. Upon the expiry of the Exchange Offer on 2 March 2020,
senior note holders holding notes with an aggregated amount of USD227,390,000
(equivalent to RMB1,942,451,000) had validly tendered their notes for exchange
pursuant to the Exchange Offer. On the following day, the Group announced the
issuance of a new series of USD denominated senior notes with principal amount
of USD222,610,000 (equivalent to RMB1,558,849,000) for cash to the same
amount at an interest rate of 12% per annum due 2023 (the “New Issuance”).
The Exchange Offer and the New Issuance were completed on 10 March 2020.
The Exchange Offer is a non-cash transaction and would be accounted for as
a debt extinguishment of the existing USD dominated senior notes as the terms
associate with the Exchange Offer are substantially different from the existing
USD denominated senior notes. For details of the transactions, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 20 February 2020, 25 February 2020, 3
March 2020, 4 March 2020 and 11 March 2020.

On 15 March 2020, the Company entered into a strategic cooperation agreement
with China United Network Communications Co., Ltd. Shenzhen Branch and
Shenzhen GenJoy Technology Co., Ltd. in relation to the establishment of a long-
term strategic cooperation relationship for the joint development of informatisation
and smart urban areas. Details of the strategic cooperation is disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 16 March 2020.
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EEERE
Events after the Reporting Period (Contd)

The outbreak of a respiratory illness caused by a novel coronavirus, or known
as the COVID-19, in China, has affected many businesses to different extent.
As the Group’s business are all in various locations in the mainland where
different precautious measures were imposed by local governments, all at once
or implemented at different stages depending on the latest development, the
Group’s ability to serve its customers is largely dependent on various government
measures and the availability of workforce, which may be affected by the travel
restrictions and home quarantine requirements. Due to the inherent unpredictable
nature and rapid development relating to the novel coronavirus and its pervasive
impact, the Group has taken action to negotiate with its major subcontractors and
employees to confirm continuous and adequate supply of manpower. The Group
will closely monitor the situation in this regard and seek alternative subcontractors
and manpower if necessary.

Given the dynamic nature of these circumstances and unpredictability of future
development, the directors of the Company consider that the financial effects on
the Group’s consolidated financial statements cannot be reasonably estimated
as at the date of this report.

Save as disclosed above, the Board is not aware of any significant event requiring

disclosure that has taken place subsequent to 31 December 2019 and up to the
date of this report.

Auditor

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2019 have been audited by Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) who will
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. Save as aforesaid,
there was no change in auditor of the Company in any of the preceding three years.

A resolution for the re-appointment of Deloitte as the auditor of the Company will

be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

HUANG Jingshu
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2020
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The Company is committed to the establishment of good corporate practices and
procedures. The corporate governance principles of the Company emphasise a
quality board, transparency and accountability to all shareholders of the Company.

Corporate Governance Practices

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group complied with all the
code provisions of Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix
14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Board will continue to monitor and review the Group’s corporate governance
practices to ensure compliance with the Code.

Board of Directors
Board Composition

The Board comprises five executive directors, one non-executive director and three
independent non-executive directors. All five executive Directors are members of the
executive committee of the Company responsible for dealing with the business of
the Company in accordance with all applicable rules and regulations, including but
not limited to, the Listing Rules. All Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) have been consulted on all major and material matters of the Company.

The Board members as at the date of this report were:
Executive Directors

Ms. HUANG Jingshu (Chairman)

Mr. TANG Shouchun (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. YE Xingan

Mr. HUANG Hao Yuan

Mr. SIU Chi Hung

Non-Executive Director

Ms. LI Lihong

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Jing

Ms. HU Gin Ing

Mr. MO Fan

Further details of the current Directors are set out on pages 25 to 28 under the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” of

this report.

The number of independent non-executive directors meets the requirements
under the Listing Rules.
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Board of Directors (Contd)
Board Composition (Cont'd)

The positions of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are held separately
by two executive directors to ensure their respective independence, accountability
and responsibility. The Chairman is responsible for determining overall business
strategies of the Group. The duty of the Chairman is to work closely with audit,
nomination and remuneration committee of the Company and to ensure that all
key and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely and constructive
manner. The Chief Executive Officer is responsible to work closely with the
executive committee of the Company to ensure management strategies, plans
and performance of the Group are appropriately carried out in accordance with
to the Board’s decision and to provide guidance to the Board on major issues.

The Board is responsible for corporate strategy, annual and interim results,
succession planning, risk management, major acquisitions, disposals and capital
transactions, and other significant operational and financial matters. Major corporate
matters that are specially delegated by the Board to the management include
the preparation of annual and interim accounts for Board approval before public
reporting, execution of business strategies and initiatives adopted by the Board,
implementation of adequate systems of internal controls and risk management
procedures, and compliance with relevant statutory requirements and rules and
regulations.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an annual confirmation
of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the
view that all independent non-executive Directors meet the independence guidelines
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are independent in accordance with
the terms of the guidelines. The Company had made letters of appointment with
all the independent non-executive Directors which may be terminated by either
party by giving one month’s written notice; and subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years in accordance with the articles of association of
the Company.

Attendance Record at Board Meetings
For the year ended 31 December 2019, seven full Board meetings were held, two

of which were the regular ones held at approximately semi-annually intervals, to
review the business of the Group and approve the financial results of the Group.

The attendance of individual members at the meetings of the Board are set out
as follows:

BE=g)
EER AR
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HEAzBIM MEMREEAE ETREERER
LB BEEBER - TEZBENRARR ZEREZE
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WRFAEEEREEFE - ETRRMARREZ W -
TREEHARARNBZHTEZEESEEAIE - IRRER
A A RRBEREFEIRTESEERET - A
HREIEFBERNEESRMES -

EERAACERE FERTHES  AAGE Bk
EBIE  BAWNE  HEMREARS  MEAMEREERE
BEH BRRRFIEREREATZIELEXFERRE
SHEFELTHRE  UHESSRYEIIAMATIE - B
TEEGRMN EEEME LI - T2 SRR
EEEBREEEFARETERAEMRE « RAEBRH -

BRIFRTESORE LHRAFI IR ZRERR
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& EHRAEII3GAE 2 BIIEIES] - IRBEIESZ &
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MEEBA  RREBEAARZABERZMR - EHEED
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Meetings attended/
Number of Meetings held
HEEBAE BITEBEAE

HITEE

Executive Directors

Ms. HUANG Jingshu (Chairman) FWET L (£E) 717

Mr. TANG Shouchun (Chief Executive Officer) BEALE (TTHAEH) 717

Mr. YE Xingan BRI 717

Ms. DENG Chengying ARt (R-ZFE-—NFAAZ1THEFE) 4/7
(resigned on 20 September 2019)

Mr. HUANG Hao Yuan =R E 717

Mr. SIU Chi Hung BEMEE (RZE-NFAAZ1THEZE) 3/3
(appointed on 20 September 2019)

Non-Executive Director HHITEE

Ms. LI Lihong £ IR 0/7

Independent Non-Executive Directors BUFHITEE

Mr. ZHU Jiusheng (resigned on 8 April 2019) WAL (R=F—NFMA/HEHF) 0/2

Mr. WANG Jing FWSTE 5/7

Ms. HU Gin Ing Mg Rt 5/7

Mr. MO Fan (appointed on 8 April 2019) BNEE (R=ZF-NEFELANAEEF) 3/4

LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2019



Board of Directors (Contd)
Attendance Record at Board Meetings (Cont’d)

Apart from the said meetings, matters requiring Board approval were arranged by
means of circulation of written resolutions of all Board members.

Directors have access to relevant and timely information, and they can ask for
further information or retain independent professional advisors if necessary. They
also have access to the advice and services of the company secretary, who is
responsible for providing Directors with Board papers and related materials and
ensuring that Board procedures are followed. Directors are given sufficient time for
discussion at the Board meetings. Where queries are raised by Directors, prompt
and full responses will be given if possible.

Directors’ Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate directors and officers liability insurance
in respect of legal action against Directors.

Directors’ Professional Development

Newly appointed Directors receive comprehensive, formal and tailored induction
on their appointments, so as to ensure that they have appropriate understanding
of the business and operations of the Group and that they are fully aware of their
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory
requirements. There are also arrangements in place for providing continuing
briefing and professional development to Directors at the Company’s expenses
whenever necessary.

Pursuant to Code A.6.5, Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure
that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. During the year,
all Directors have participated in appropriate continuous professional development
activities by ways of attending trainings, reading materials or conducting academic
research relevant to the Company’s business or to the Directors’ duties and
responsibilities.

Model Code for Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as
its own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions. The obligation
to follow the Listing Rules is set out in the terms of the service agreements of
each executive Director and the letters of appointment of each independent non-
executive Director. Having made specific enquiry of all the Directors, the Directors
confirmed that they have complied with the required standard as set out in the
Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Board Committees

The Company currently have four committees, namely, the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Executive Committee, for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. Terms of reference of the
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Executive
Committee are available on the websites of the Company (www.lvgem-china.com)
and the Stock Exchange (www.hkex.com.hk). The Board committees are provided
with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request,
are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances,
at the Company’s expenses.
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CEERRE

Board Committees (Contd)
Audit Committee

The Company established an Audit Committee on 14 November 2005 with terms
of reference in compliance with the Code. In view of the implementation of the
Stock Exchange’s consultation conclusions on “Review of the Corporate Governance
Code and Related Listing Rules” effective on 1 January 2019, a revised terms of
reference of the Audit Committee was adopted by the Board on 31 January 2019.

The Audit Committee consists of independent non-executive directors only. The
members of the Audit Committee as at the date of this report are as follows:

Mr. ZHU Jiusheng (resigned as the Chairman on 8 April 2019)
Mr. WANG Jing

Ms. HU Gin Ing (appointed as the Chairman on 8 April 2019)
Mr. MO Fan (appointed on 8 April 2019)

Mr. ZHU Jiusheng was the Chairman of the Audit Committee between 1 January
2018 and 8 April 2019. Ms. HU Gin Ing was appointed as the Chairman of the
Audit Committee from 8 April 2019. No member of the Audit Committee is a
member of the former or existing auditor of the Company.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and approve the financial
reporting process, risk management and internal control systems of the Group.
During the year, the Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s interim results for
the six months ended 30 June 2019. The Group’s final results for the year ended
31 December 2019 have been reviewed by the members of the Audit Committee
before submission to the Board for approval. The Audit Committee was of the
opinion that the preparation of such results complied with the applicable accounting
standards and requirements and that adequate disclosure has been made. The
Audit Committee has also reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems.

Two meetings of the Audit Committee were held during the year. The attendance
of each member is set out as follows:

Name of members

BEEZES(#E)
EREE®

ARBR_ZEZRF+-ATHRRIEREZES - TR
BTRIBRT R E o ERBRAm 2B hEERTAD
R EMRAMEX JRBRER T - NE—A—BE
it EFEN_ZE-NF-A=+—BHRMHEEITNE
TZEeREDE -

ERZENERBEBIIFNTES - RAFHRA LGN
ERZBEKENT

RNBEE (RZFE-NFOANAFEEE)
Taes

Rt (R=F-AFOANAEZERLRE)
BAESE (RZF-NFEANAEZE)

BNABRER-_T-N\F-A-RE_FT-AFMANA
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HEZERERZESLIR - IBENEREEGZKE
TYRRAZ AT ESER LSRR

ERZE NI BRI HmE RIEREBEME Rz
FRREERAEZENE RERN - BEXZEED
EHNAEEHE T -NAFRNA=ZTHLEANEANTHE
BoAREBRE_T-NFT A=+ RALFEZHK
FENR2EE SR ENCEERZESRMN - BREE
ERRRAERZER/DBTHAZ L REFRIAR
EFHEENHRE - ERZ 8 NEHNAREELAE
2R 2 B

RENBRZESGHBTMASE - BUKEZHERBR
BT

Meetings attended/Number of Meetings held

RE BB HESERE EIERAE
Mr. ZHU Jiusheng (resigned on 8 April 2019) WMhBEE (R=ZF—NFOHANAEF) 0/1

Mr. WANG Jing B Ot 212

Ms. HU Gin Ing A I 2/2

Mr. MO Fan (appointed on 8 April 2019) ENEE (RZFE-AFHANAEZE) 11

Nomination Committee REEES

The Company established a Nomination Committee on 14 November 2005 with
terms of reference in compliance with the Code. In view of the implementation
of the Stock Exchange’s consultation conclusions on “Review of the Corporate
Governance Code and Related Listing Rules” effective on 1 January 2019, a
revised terms of reference of the Nomination Committee was adopted by the
Board on 31 January 2019.
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Board Committees (Contd)
Nomination Committee (Cont'd)

The members of the Nomination Committee include one executive director and two
independent non-executive directors. The members of the Nomination Committee
as at the date of this report are as follows:

Ms. HUANG Jingshu (Chairman)

Mr. ZHU Jiusheng (resigned on 8 April 2019)
Mr. WANG Jing

Mr. MO Fan (appointed on 8 April 2019)

The primary duty of the Nomination Committee is making recommendations to
the Board on appointment and removal of directors and management of Board
succession. During the year, the Nomination Committee had reviewed and
considered the proposed appointment of Mr. MO Fan and Mr. SIU Chi Hung as
new independent non-executive Director and executive Director respectively and
made related recommendation to the Board for approval. In reviewing and assessing
the Board composition, the Nomination Committee had considered the various
aspects set out in the board diversity policy. It had also reviewed and assessed
the independence of the independent non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee resolved that all the existing Directors should be
recommended to be retained by the Company. In accordance with the Company’s
articles of association, Mr. SIU Chi Hung will retire at the first general meeting of
the Company after his appointment. In addition, Ms. LI Lihong, Mr. WANG Jing
and Ms. HU Gin Ing will retire by rotation. All the above Directors being eligible for
re-election, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

Three meetings of the Nomination Committee were held during the year. The
attendance of each member is set out as follows:

Name of members
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Meetings attended/Number of Meetings held

REERB HESERE BIERRE
Ms. HUANG Jingshu 17 G 33
Mr. ZHU Jiusheng (resigned on 8 April 2019) WAL E (REZF—NFMANHEE) 0/2
Mr. WANG Jing FadkE 3/3
Mr. MO Fan (appointed on 8 April 2019) BENGEE (R=ZF—NFMHANAEZE) 11

Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) in
January 2019 which sets out the selection criteria and nomination procedures
adopted to guide the Nomination Committee to select and recommend candidates
for directorship so as to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business.

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the Nomination Committee
in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate:

° Reputation for integrity

° Accomplishment and experience

o Compliance with legal and regulatory requirements

o Commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest
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Board Committees (Contd)
Nomination Committee (Cont'd)
Nomination Policy (Cont’d)

o Diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age (18 years or above), cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service

The Secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call a meeting of the
Nomination Committee, and invite nominations of candidates from Board
members if any, for consideration by the Nomination Committee prior to
its meeting. The Nomination Committee may also put forward candidates
who are not nominated by Board members.

For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations for the Board'’s consideration and approval. For proposing
candidates to stand for election at a general meeting, the Nomination
Committee shall make nominations to the Board for its consideration and
recommendation.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Diversity Policy”)
in August 2013 in accordance with the requirement under the Code.

The Diversity Policy aims to set out the approach to achieve diversity on
the Board to ensure that the Board has the balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. In identifying suitable candidates,
the Nomination Committee will consider candidates on merit and against
the objective criteria with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board. The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the
Diversity Policy and review the same as appropriate.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established a Remuneration Committee on 14 November 2005
with terms of reference in compliance with the Code. The Remuneration
Committee consists of one executive director and two independent non-
executive directors.
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Board Committees (Contd)
Remuneration Committee (Cont'd)

The members of the Remuneration Committee as at the date of this report are
as follows:

Ms. HU Gin Ing (Chairman)

Ms. HUANG Jingshu

Mr. ZHU Jiusheng (resigned on 8 April 2019)
Mr. MO Fan (appointed on 8 April 2019)

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to review and determine
the terms of remuneration packages, bonuses and other compensation payable
to Directors and senior management. The Company has adopted the model of
remuneration committee as described in Code Provision B.1.2(c)(i) of the Code.
As such, the responsibility for determining the remuneration packages of individual
executive Directors and senior management of the Group has been delegated to
the Remuneration Committee.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee considered and reviewed the
existing terms of remuneration of all the Directors based on factors including
time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors, employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group and desirability of performance-based remuneration. The
Remuneration Committee considered that the existing terms of remunerations of
the Directors were fair and reasonable.

Details of the remuneration of the senior management by band for the year ended
31 December 2019 are set out below:

Remuneration band
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Details of the remuneration of the Directors for the year ended 31 December 2019
are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

Two meetings of the Remuneration Committee was held during the year. The
attendance of each member is set out as follows:

Name of members

BE-Z-NF+-A=T—HIFEESHFMOHFER
REREBTEIMRMFELO ©

RERFHZESHBTRRGE - SUKE ZHEBR
BT

Meeting attended/Number of Meeting held

REEB HESERE EBIERRE
Ms. HU Gin Ing tAER S 2t 2/2
Ms. HUANG Jingshu EAET XL+ 2/2
Mr. ZHU Jiusheng (resigned on 8 April 2019) MNBEE (RZFE-NFHANAEE) 0/1
Mr. MO Fan (appointed on 8 April 2019) BREE (RZF-NAFAHNAEZ(EF) 11
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Board Committees (Conta)
Executive Committee

The Board has delegated to the Executive Committee the authority of dealing with
the operational matters of the Group, save for those matters which are reserved
for the Board'’s decision and approval pursuant to the written terms of reference,
which includes taking in charge of major decision making in relation to the
day-to-day business operations of the Company, administering the Company’s
routine resolutions and dealing with ad hoc matters, ensuring adequate funding
and reporting periodically to the Board. The Executive Committee consists of five
executive directors and assumes full accountability to the Board for all operations
of the Group.

To comply with the requirement under the Code in respect of the responsibilities
for performing the corporate governance duties, the Board has delegated its
responsibilities to the Executive Committee to develop, review and monitor the policies
and practices on corporate governance of the Group and make recommendations
to the Board, to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
the legal and regulatory compliance, to review and monitor the code of conduct
and ethical behavior applicable to the Directors and employees and the training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior management,
and to review the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosures in the
corporate governance report.

Thirteen meetings of the Executive Committee were held during the year. The
attendance record of each member is set out as follows:

Name of members

BEEZES(#E)
HITEER

BB EE RS E M E S ERE ROENFIRI - BT
ZECREZORTERERMEEASRENSESE -
BRABAEAQAFABEHREFNENRE BEAR
AIPITRERLEEHRER - BRECHNES ME
HRAEFESER - RITEZE G A RRITEFEKRILAR.
AEEZEREXEBNEESERE -

REETANERETEXERREZHRTE  EFECH
WITZREeRERR  RUMEEARBELOEERZHR
RER TRMESSROES R KERARREET
FRMEERENENBRELRER R MEFERRE
EREEMNRTERMERTANEERSMEEAERD
BRI EEEER - AR AR RETFRIBIE R R
EREEQRENNHRE -

REAREBHRBITTIZRATEZESEH - BUKEZ
HEEREFIT

Meetings attended/Number of Meetings held
HEEBAE ETEERY

REERE

Ms. HUANG Jingshu (Chairman) EWEF LT (FE)
Mr. TANG Shouchun BEELE

Mr. YE Xingan LA

Ms. DENG Chengying (Note 1) BEa Lt (K1)
Mr. HUANG Hao Yuan =EREE

Mr. SIU Chi Hung (Note 2) EEMEE (Wit2)

Notes:
1. Resigned as an executive Director on 20 September 2019.
2. Was appointed as an executive Director on 20 September 2019.

The Executive Committee reviewed the Company’s compliance with the Code and
the regulatory and statutory requirements during the year under review, and the
disclosures of this corporate governance report.
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s risk management and internal
controls system and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Board is committed to
implementing an effective and sound internal controls system to safeguard the
interests of shareholders and the Group’s assets. The Board has delegated to the
management the implementation of the system of internal controls and the review
of all relevant financial, operational, compliance controls and risk management
function within an established framework.

The Company has established internal audit department to monitor compliance
with policies and procedures and the effectiveness of internal control structures of
the Group. The internal audit department reports directly to the Audit Committee
and ensure the internal controls are in place and functioning properly as intended.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) in January
2019 which sets out the guidelines for the Board to determine the declaration
and payment of dividends.

The recommendation of the payment of any dividend is subject to the absolute
discretion of the Board. In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall also
take into account, inter alia, the Group’s financial results, cash flow situation,
shareholders’ interests, general business conditions and strategies, future
operations and earnings, capital requirements and expenditure plans, taxation
considerations, statutory and regulatory restriction (if any) and other factors the
Board may deem relevant at such time. Any payment of the dividend by the
Company is also subject to any restrictions under the articles of association of the
Company and all applicable laws and regulations.

The Board will review the Dividend Policy, as appropriate, and there is no assurance
that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for any given period.
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Shareholders’ Rights

1.

Convening an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”)

One or more shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition,
not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company having the right
of voting at general meetings can deposit a written request to convene an
EGM at the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong (“Hong
Kong Office”), for the attention of the Board or the Company Secretary. If
within 21 days of such deposit of the requisition, the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

The notice period to be given to all the registered shareholders in respect
of the EGM varies according to the nature of the proposal as follows:

- At least 14 clear days’ notice (the notice period must include 10 clear
business days) in writing if no special resolution is to be considered
at the EGM.

- At least 21 clear days’ notice (the notice period must include 10 clear
business days) in writing if a special resolution is to be considered
at the EGM.

Right to put forward proposals at general meetings

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to move new resolutions at
the general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law (2013
Revision) or the articles of association of the Company. Shareholders who
wish to move a resolution may request the Company to convene an EGM
as stipulated in above paragraph 1.

Right to propose a person for election as a director

If a shareholder of the Company wishes to nominate a person other than
a retiring Director or a person recommended by the Board to stand for
election as a Director of the Company, the shareholder concerned shall
lodge with the Company (for the attention of the Company Secretary) at
the Hong Kong Office or at the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, a duly signed nomination form which
includes, inter alia, the intention to propose that person for election as a
Director, notice in writing by that person of his willingness to be elected,
and the information required by the Listing Rules.

The period for lodgement of the nomination form will commence no earlier
than the day after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed
for such election and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such
general meeting and the minimum length of the period during which the
nomination form and associated documents may be given to the Company
will be at least 7 days.
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Shareholders’ Rights (Contad)

4, Right to put enquiry to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All enquiries must
be in writing with contact information of the person making the enquiry and
deposited at the Hong Kong Office for the attention of the Company Secretary.

Detailed procedures can be found in the document entitled “Shareholders’
Rights” which is available on the Company’s website.

Communication with Shareholders

Shareholders are encouraged to attend annual general meetings of the Company.
The Chairman of the Board will attend the annual general meeting and invite the
Chairman of Audit Committee, Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee
and other Board Committee(s), or in their absence, other members of these Board

Committee(s), to attend the annual general meeting.

The Company held the annual general meeting on 30 May 2019.

Details of Directors’ attendance record of general meetings during the year ended

31 December 2019 are as follows:
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Annual General Meeting
RRBFRE
Meeting attended/Number of Meeting held
HEEERE BTERAE

Executive Directors
Ms. HUANG Jingshu (Chairman)
Mr. TANG Shouchun (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. YE Xingan
Ms. DENG Chengying
(resigned on 20 September 2019)
Mr. HUANG Hao Yuan
Mr. SIU Chi Hung
(appointed on 20 September 2019)

Non-Executive Director
Ms. Li Lihong

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. ZHU Jiusheng (resigned on 8 April 2019)

Mr. WANG Jing
Ms. HU Gin Ing
Mr. MO Fan (appointed on 8 April 2019)

BITEE

BEWET L (£E) 1/1
BEERE (TTHA4EE) 11
BTN 171
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(R=ZZF—NFANA=+HEE)
=R E 11
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Investor Relationship and Communication

The Company strives to achieve a high level of transparency in communicating
with shareholders and the investment community at large. Briefings and meetings
with institutional investors and analysts are conducted at opportune times. The
Company is committed to continuing to maintain an open and effective investor
communication policy and to update investors on relevant information on its
business in a timely manner, subject to relevant regulatory requirements. In order
to ensure effective, clear and accurate communications with the investors and
analysts, all corporate communications are arranged and handled by the executive
directors with the assistance of an independent corporate communication firm and
designated senior executives according to established practices and procedures
of the Company. The Company has announced results of the year under review
in a timely manner.

Constitutional Documents

During the year ended 31 December 2019, there were no changes to the
constitutional documents of the Company.

The memorandum and articles of association of the Company is available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Directors’ and Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial
statements which give a true and fair view. In preparing such consolidated financial
statements, it is fundamental that appropriate accounting policies are selected
and applied consistently.

The auditor’s responsibility is to express an independent opinion, based on their
audit, on those consolidated financial statements and to report their opinion to the
shareholders of the Company, as a body, and for no other purpose. The auditor
does not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of the independent auditor’s report.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of results and cash flows for that year.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2019, the Directors have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and
Hong Kong Accounting Standards and Interpretations; made adjustments and
estimates that are prudent and reasonable; and have prepared the consolidated
financial statements on the going concern basis. The Directors also ensure the
timely publication of the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

Auditor’s Remuneration

The fee in respect of audit and non-audit services provided to the Group by independent
auditor for the year ended 31 December 2019 amounted to RMB2,490,000 (2018:
RMB2,341,000) and RMB806,000 (2018: RMB850,000) respectively.
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Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of LVGEM (China) Real
Estate Investment Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 63 to 205, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2019, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA'’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont'd)

Key audit matter
Valuation of investment properties

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a key audit matter
as they represented 48% of the Group’s total assets, combined with the
judgements associated with determining the fair value.

As disclosed in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements, the fair
value of completed investment properties amounted to approximately
RMB23,567,529,000 as at 31 December 2019 and an increase in fair value
recognised in profit or loss amounted to approximately RMB696,378,000 in
aggregate for the year then ended. The completed investment properties were
located in the People’s Republic of China (the “Mainland China”), Hong Kong
and the Kingdom of Cambodia (“Cambodia”).

As set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group’s
investment properties were stated at fair value based on the valuation performed
by independent professional valuers (“Valuers”). As disclosed in note 13 to
the consolidated financial statements, the fair value of completed investment
properties have been arrived at using income capitalisation approach and
direct comparison approach, respectively, which were dependent on certain
key inputs and assumptions in respect of prevailing market conditions such as
capitalisation rate and monthly market rent for income capitalisation approach,
selling price per square meters for direct comparison approach.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
Our procedures in relation to the valuation of investment properties included:
o Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the Valuers;

o Obtaining an understanding of the valuation processes and significant
assumptions to assess if these approaches meet the requirements of
HKFRSs and industry norms;

o Evaluating the appropriateness of the valuation methods applied by the
Valuers, in particular the valuation techniques and the capitalisation
rate, based on our knowledge of the property markets in the Mainland
China, Hong Kong and Cambodia; and

o Assessing the reasonableness of other valuation inputs and source
data, including monthly market rent for income capitalisation approach,
selling price per square meters for direct comparison approach by
comparing these estimates, on a sample basis, to entity-specific
information such as rental income, tenancy summary, location nearby
and size of the investment properties, as well as market data based on
our knowledge of the property markets in the Mainland China, Hong
Kong and Cambodia.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont'd)
Key audit matter

Assessment of net realisable value of properties held for sale and properties
under development for sale

We identified the assessment of net realisable value of properties held for sale
and properties under development for sale as a key audit matter due to the
significant judgement involved in the determination of net realisable value (the
“NRV”) of these properties.

The Group had properties under development for sale of approximately
RMB8,165,855,000 and properties held for sale of approximately
RMB2,467,237,000 (collectively referred to as “Properties for Sale”) as at 31
December 2019, which are situated in the Mainland China, Hong Kong and
Cambodia.

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company determined the NRV of the properties held for sale by using
prevailing market data such as most recent sale transactions, and the NRV of
the properties under development for sale was determined by using estimates
of future cash flows to be derived from these properties. These estimates
required judgement as to the anticipated sale prices by reference to recent
sales transactions in nearby locations, marketing costs (including price
discounts required to stimulate sales) and the excepted costs to completion of
properties, the legal and regulatory framework and general market conditions.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our procedures in relation to assessment of the NRV of the Properties for Sale
included:

° Performing sensitivity analysis to identify the impact that changes in
key inputs such as the estimated future selling prices have on the NRV
of the Properties for Sale;

o Assessing the appropriateness of the estimated future selling prices
of the Properties for Sale, on a sample basis, by comparing them
to transaction prices of similar properties in the nearby or relevant
locations, or actual selling price of properties sold subsequent to the
end of the reporting period in the same project or relevant locations,
based on our knowledge of the property markets in the Mainland
China, Hong Kong and Cambodia; and

° Challenging the Group’s forecast of construction costs, on a sample
basis, by comparing to the construction costs for similar units and
against signed contracts or quotes with subcontractors.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont'd)

Key audit matter
Revenue recognised from sales of properties

We identified revenue recognised from sales of properties as a key audit
matter as the revenue from sales of properties is significant to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and there is judgement involved in determining the
appropriate point at which to recognise revenue from sales of properties.

As disclosed in “Revenue recognition” paragraph under note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements, revenue from sales of properties is
recognised when the completed property is transferred to customers, being
at the point that customer obtains the control of the completed property and
the Group has present right to payment and collection of the consideration is
probable. The Group has recognised revenue of RMB5,962,446,000 from its
property development and sales segment for the year ended 31 December
2019, which is disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our procedures in relation to revenue recognised from sales of properties
included:

o Assessing the management’s control over the point of time at which
revenue from sales of properties is recognised by obtaining an
understanding of the management’s control process and testing the
control on a sample basis; and

o Reviewing the terms stated in the sales and purchase agreements, on
a sample basis, and obtaining evidence regarding the completion and
the delivery of properties, on a sample basis, including completion
certificates and delivery notices, to assess whether the criteria for
revenue recognition set out in “Revenue recognition” paragraph under
note 3 to the consolidated financial statements have been met.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont'd)
Key audit matter
Provision for land appreciation tax

We identified the provision for land appreciation tax (“LAT”) as a key audit
matter since the implementation and settlement of this tax varies among
various tax jurisdictions in cities of the Mainland China, and the Group has not
finalised certain LAT calculations and payments with local tax authorities in the
Mainland China. Accordingly, significant judgement is required in determining
the amount on the appreciation of land value and its related LAT.

LAT is prepaid when properties are pre-sold to the buyers and is provided when
properties are delivered to the buyers and revenue is recognised. As disclosed
in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements, current year’s provision for
LAT amounted to RMB1,023,621,000 was recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2019. As disclosed
in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group recognises LAT
based on the management's best estimates according to the understanding
of the tax rules, which are determined by the appreciation of land value. The
amount of the land appreciation is determined with reference to estimated
proceeds of the sales of properties less the estimated deductible expenditures,
including the cost of land use rights and all property development expenditures.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
Our procedures in relation to the provision for LAT included:

o Involving our tax specialists in the Mainland China to assess the
accuracy of the land appreciation amount calculations based on their
knowledge of the relevant tax rules and regulations, in particular to
the LAT rate announced by the State Administration of Taxation in the
Mainland China; and

o Evaluating the estimated proceeds of the sales of properties and
estimated deductible expenditures, adopted by the management by
comparing their estimates made in previous years to actual results as
well as current year’s estimates.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report, but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conta)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conta)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’'s
report is Yuen Wing Hang.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
30 March 2020
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZT—)\F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
Ktat ARET T ARETIT
Revenue Wz 3 6,902,448 4,515,685
Cost of sales SHER A (2,472,093) (1,829,515)
Gross profit EF 4,430,355 2,686,170
Other income, other gains and losses Hipdg A - B AU s K E1E 6 112,292 155,095
Selling expenses HERX (134,059) (132,982)
Administrative expenses THHEX (461,498) (390,433)
Fair value changes on investment KEMENN L BEES
properties 13 696,378 323,461
Fair value changes on derivative R ESSTE T Ao A L BEE
component of convertible bonds ) 34 (20,170) 172,192
Finance costs BE K AN 7 (1,256,165) (657,995)
Share of results of a joint venture EiE—ReERARIER 2 (8)
Profit before tax % AT 2 F 8 3,367,131 2,155,500
Income tax expense FriSfi sz 9 (1,617,168) (925,097)
Profit for the year FERF 1,749,963 1,230,403
Profit (loss) for the year attributable to: UTATEEFEFERR(EE):
Owners of the Company /N 1,749,884 1,237,167
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR RERS 79 (6,764)
1,749,963 1,230,403
RMB cents RMB cents
ARYESD AREES
Earnings per share attributable to the FRAXDTARREGEREF
owners of the Company during the year 12
- Basic —ExK 35.12 25.21
— Diluted —#8 20.73 13.60

BE(FE)HERAERAT gy
%

—E-NFFF



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
FERBRAMRERER

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT

Profit for the year FREF 1,749,963 1,230,403
Other comprehensive (expense) income Hib2m (B X)W
Item that may be subsequently reclassified to BEAREEN 7 EERm 2HE -

profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on translation [E R EEMNHEER (31,311) (59,930)
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: T E2EH S HEEE#EHEE :
Fair value changes on investment in equity BARBEFAREMEERGE ZBRATEEE

instrument at fair value through other Z AR EBEZE(HNREE)

comprehensive income, net of tax 37,732 34917
Other comprehensive income (expense) for the FEHMEEWKE(BIX)

year 6,421 (25,013)
Total comprehensive income for the year FEZHINZEE 1,756,384 1,205,390
Total comprehensive income (expense) UTATEMAZEKE (B )% :

attributable to:

Owners of the Company RARIRR 1,756,905 1,211,876

Non-controlling interests IR (521) (6,486)

1,756,384 1,205,390
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At 31 December 2019
R=Z—NF+=-A=+—8H

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI R R

2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZT—)\F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
Ktat ARET T ARETIT
Non-current assets FERBEE
Investment properties WEYE 13 23,567,529 22,117,251
Property, plant and equipment ME - MENREE 14 996,014 458,393
Goodwill GRS 15 231,602 231,602
Interest in a joint venture R—EEE R RN ER 16 6,058 6,060
Interest in an associate R A R 17 = =
Amount due from a joint venture U —RAE N almIE 16 522,318 522,318
Equity instrument at fair value through BEARBEFAEMEZARGZ
other comprehensive income AT A 19 541,125 490,816
Deferred tax assets R IEEE 20 565,713 345,030
Deposit paid Bfiike 21 29,410 -
26,459,769 24,171,470
Current assets REEE
Properties under development for sale BRERPFEME 22 8,165,855 7,407,278
Properties held for sale HEME 23 2,467,237 3,302,382
Other inventories HipFE 24 738 629
Accounts receivable e BR FX 25 31,212 11,576
Deposits paid, prepayments and other Bfftee - FEAREREMEKGRIE
receivables 26 3,230,928 890,294
Financial assets at fair value through profit 1ZA R BEEIABZY SREE
or loss - 10,559
Debt instrument at fair value through other ZA 7 BEFF A LM 2 ERE 2 EFT
comprehensive income =L 18 - 20,000
Tax recoverable ATYE B R 33,562 8,048
Restricted bank deposits ZRRFIERITER 27 2,804,061 3,915,826
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR RIS 28 5,542,921 3,674,042
22,276,514 19,240,634
Current liabilities REBEE
Accounts payable FERTERER 29 1,111,831 1,383,514
Accruals, deposits received and other FEstE R - BiEE R EMENFRIE
payables 30 673,358 744,814
Contract liabilities aRAaE 31 2,505,265 2,268,288
Lease liabilities HEBE 32 22,674 -
Tax liabilities HIEaE 2,398,675 1,468,779
Borrowings (=3} 33 4,306,274 3,232,448
Senior notes and bond BREERENES 35 5,027,123 2,591,909
Debt component of convertible bonds AR ESREB DD 34(a) 1,493,257 -
Derivative component of convertible bonds A3 f&f& 5474 T A S D 34(b) 222,207 -
17,760,664 11,689,752
Net current assets REEEZFE 4,515,850 7,550,882
Total assets less current liabilities HEERARBERE 30,975,619 31,722,352

SR (TE)HERERRD
=T I
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BER R ® R

At 31 December 2019

R=F-—NF+—A=+—8H

2019 2018
—B-nE -2\
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
Kfat ARET R ARETT
Non-current liabilities B0 1 h=Ni
Borrowings BE 33 15,149,805 13,309,348
Senior notes and bond BEERNES 35 = 2,809,060
Debt component of convertible bonds AR ESHEE IS 34(a) - 1,381,645
Derivative component of convertible bonds A& {&54T4E T A EH 34(b) = 198,105
Lease liabilities HEBE 32 95,380 -
Deferred tax liabilities EEFRTERE 20 2,695,601 2,585,251
17,940,786 20,283,409
Net assets EEFE 13,034,833 11,438,943
Capital and reserves [N
Share capital & 36 42,060 41,141
Reserves G 37 12,885,799 11,290,307
Equity attributable to owners of the AR B #E 2
Company 12,927,859 11,331,448
Non-controlling interests PR M A 106,974 107,495
Total equity FER YRR 13,034,833 11,438,943
The consolidated financial statements on pages 63 to 205 were approved and FEIE205A AU BHRRCEEFTEN T _FTF=H

authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 March 2020 and are signed

on its behalf by:

HUANG Jingshu

EHEF

CHAIRMAN AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
TRRAITES

LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

GEREREER

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE—Z-NF+A=1+—HItFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FLRRRELRE
Convertible Investment Non-

Share Share  preference Ofher  Bichange  revaluation  Shareoption  Statory  Retained Sub-— controlling Total

capital -~ premium shares  reseves TESenve TESenve TEServe TEServe profits fotal  interests equity

Ra  ROEE TERERR RGEE  EXRE REEMRE BRERE iHE  REEY Mt FERER  ER4E

RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMBUOO

MRETT  ARETR ARETn ARETn ARETR ARETT ARETr ARETn ARBTR ARETR ARETR  ARETR

Balance as at 1 January 2018 W=E-)\5-A-RER 2121 6300567 599114 (112%306) 119,608 B4 208337 149812 8219115 983062 233141 10069203

Proft (loss) for the year EEET|EE) = = = = = = - - 137067 1237167 (6,764) 1230403
Fairvalue changes on investments inequiy — RAZ BB ALR2EMEZRATA

insrument at fair value through other REDABRED(RRE)

comprehensive income, net of tax - - - - - 34917 - - - 34917 - 34917
Bichange diferences arsingon ranslaion. B E kA28 - - - - (608 - - - - (B 7 (59930
Tota comprehensie (expense) income for e 2R (%) 28

Jear = = = = (60,208) 34917 - - 187067 1211876 (6480) 1205390
Recognion of equiyseffed sharebased B RIERENR AR 508

nayments (nofe 40) (W) - - - - - - 21959 - - 21959 - 2199
Comverson of converible bonds (nole ) TR ER Ky w0 - - - - - - -0 B K
Issue ofordinary shares (note 36) BEERED) 172 498% - - - - - - B T - 960
Issie of converile preference shares (nole 37) % RREXR(K37) - - R = - = = - - R - R
Acquision of a subsidiary and acouisiton o~ B EMBAARUE-EHBAAZ

non-controling interest n a subsdiary SHERER 380

(note 38(b)) = = - (3%8430) = = = = - (3%43) 138 (397049
Roquistion of an addtonal nterestina EIER-FRBRANER

subsidiary - = = (4.09) = = = = - (4000) (119267 (123363)
Lapse of share optons EREXK - - - - - - R - 209 - - -
Exercise ofshare options fifekEhE B 1599 - - - - (5287 - - 10m -1
Transfer o statutory resere ERTTRE - - - - - - - 564 (71564) - - -
Dividend declared and made (nte 11) BERREANRSHL) - - - = - - - - (01740 Q0L7A) (1279 (203019)
Biance a1 31 Dcenter 2018 B-NERSATH-EEES AL GRMED 66l (LTS BA0 LG 200 2036 QN7 LBME 0045 1148
Adjustment (nofe 2) D) - - - - - - - L T -
Balance as at 1 January 2019 (restated) RZE-NE-A-BHEe(HED) 41141 6882600 6,246,161  (11637887) 59400 110,661 WM 2136 9612 13793 1074% 11505468
Proftfor th year EERA - = = = = = - - 178 1749884 9 1749%3
Fairvalue changes on investmentsinequly A% BREAEM2ANEZRATA

instrument a far value through other REZDAEREY(NREE)

comprehensive income, net of tax - - - - - 37732 - - - 31732 - 37732
Exchange diferences arsng on fansiation B Bt 428 28 - - - - B - - - - o 60 G131
Total comprehensive (expense) income for e~ EE 2B s

Jear - - - - (30,711) 31732 - - 174984 175690 (521) 1,796,384
Comversion of converble preference shares — FETRRERR M%)

(note 36) 830 180376 (181,56) = = = = = = = = =
Lapse of share optons BREXK = - - - - - B - 858 - - -
Ererise of e options il EhiE ¥ 10819 - - - - (367 - - 7188 - 7188
Transfer o statuory resene ERTETRE - - - - - - - DU () - - -
Dividend decered and made (ot 11) BERREHHRE W) 5 5 2 - = - - - A (@) - (@)
Bl 31 Deere 2019 HIE-MEICAT-ROER G0 BN AR (LG G0 1M 2078 3365 DS LOTED 6T 134ER
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

AERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

2019 2018
—E-hF —T-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Operating activities REER
Profit before tax FR A5 A & A 3,367,131 2,155,500
Adjustments for: FHRIER -
Depreciation e 37,399 40,529
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME - BERRENEIR
equipment 925 2
Loss on disposal of investment properties HER B YN EIR = 3,299
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HERB A RM kS (33,300) -
Fair value changes on investment properties RENMENRREBEZE) (696,378) (323,461)
Fair value changes on derivative component of AR ESTET AP AR EBEES
convertible bonds 20,170 (172,192)
Fair value changes on financial assets at fair BARBEMABSEZSHEEZAAE
value through profit or loss (L - 47
Share of results of a joint venture EiE—HEERAREE 2 8
Reversal of impairment loss on accounts B U R IR R E R 1R
receivable (59) (39)
Equity-settled share-based payments LA RS 4 & DA RS (9 2 St /0B - 21,959
Recovery of other receivables previously 8 [5] LA AT 2 Bl SH B9 E A B U SRR
written-off - (1,500)
Interest income FEUA (93,570) (103,905)
Investment income BERA (418) (5,816)
Dividend income & B (19,745) (15,665)
Finance costs BUE R 1,256,165 657,995
Loss on non-substantial modification of R ATRE SR AEZ IEERE
financial liabilities at amortised cost &8 57,287 -
Loss on early redemption of financial liabilities IRATERIRE ER AT R BB E s
at amortised cost E8E 1,099 -
Exchange difference bE 5 Z5E 66,761 51,288
Operating cash flows before movements in LEESEHFNLCLERESRE
working capital 3,963,469 2,308,049
Increase in properties under development for BRPGEMERFEDZEILM
sale and properties held for sale (347,813) (1,380,684)
(Increase) decrease in other inventories Hbires (38n) R (109) 516
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable JE A B 2 (3% ) S (19,034) 365,755
Decrease in deposits paid, prepayments and Bfftze - FENRERE B EKIER D
other receivables 72,165 124,621
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable FERBRZR G )12 40 (272,234) 783,265
Increase in contract liabilities ARAELM 236,977 2,268,288
Decrease in accruals, deposits received and FE:TEA - BEYES R EMERNRIER D
other payables (1,636,266) (1,193,879)
Cash from operations KERBFENIRSE 1,997,155 3,275,931
Income taxes paid B ATSH (857,022) (520,338)
Net cash from operating activities KEEEMSESEHE 1,140,133 2,755,593
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 December 2019 =PAN Ay r~i—1
HE-T-NE+-A=+—ALEE mERERER
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
Ktat AR¥T T ARETIT
Investing activities REEH
Placement of restricted bank deposits ERZRHISRITER (2,922,449) (6,795,462)
Consideration paid for acquisition of a RBAEFEREBMBEARZEMNRE
subsidiary in prior year - (1,590,000)
Repayment of consideration payable SAEARE = (2,068,852)

Net cash inflow arising from acquisition of 2% % U E — B A R WEEE &
assets and liabilities through acquisition BEMNBEESRAFRE

of a subsidiary 38 298,970 =
Additional costs of investment properties & Y13 FYREINK AN (177,920) (1,189,777)
Advances to related parties [l BB T S F VR (1,701,251) (1,126,965)
Advance to a non-controlling interest MFEIE RS B R = (15,734)
Placement of short-term time deposits with 7R FE R =18 A3 A _HE—F AR E|EH

original maturity beyond three months SEHATERR

but within one year (447,605) (442,133)
Purchase of financial assets at fair value ~ BEIRAABEABRZSRHEE

through profit or loss (21,873) (284,342)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEEYZ - &= M&RE (52,201) (78,306)
Purchases of debt instruments at fair value BEEIZ AL BEFAHEMEEKER 2

through other comprehensive income BT A (225,064) (20,000)
Purchases of financial assets at fair value B EIZ AL BEFABRZ S REE

through profit or loss - (10,736)
Withdrawal of restricted bank deposits IRV PR $$R1T1FE K 4,037,303 4,998,888
Repayment from related parties EZliEyapet 988,723 1,036,999
Repayment from a non-controlling interest  3E1Z AR HEz5 18 20 1,629 3,227
Withdrawal of short-term deposits with RERREER=ME AU EEBE—FREIHH

original maturity beyond three months KEHERTER

but within one year 442,133 624,929
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HEIR AR BEFFABRZ S REE

at fair value through profit or loss FT{S30UE 32,850 434,342
Interest received B UF S 65,216 87,591
Dividend income received [EE LIS ON 19,745 15,665
Proceeds from disposal of investment HEEYE TS RIE

properties - 1,536
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant  HEWZE - E MERETEIOE

and equipment 48 135
Repayment from a joint venture —EEERTER = 5
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary HE—RHHEBA RS RE 39 25,056 -
Proceeds from disposal of debt HERAABEFAREMEZEREZ

instruments at fair value through other BT AMSHIE

comprehensive income 245,064 =
Net cash from (used in) investing activities REFEFE(FTA)BEEEE 608,374 (6,418,990)

BR(PE)BEREBRAF g9
—TNFEFH

—=



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

AERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

2019 2018
—E—-hF —ZT—)\F
NOTE RMB’000 RMB’000
Kfat ARETR ARET T
Financing activities RESEE
Repayments of borrowings EBEE (8,301,256) (4,994,599)
Repayments of bonds EEES (486,474) -
Interest paid BRFE (1,709,740) (1,231,136)
Dividend paid ETARE (234,207) (203,019)
Repayment of lease liabilities EBEHEEAE (13,669) =
Deposit paid for acquisition of additional ~ YEER —REIM B A B EEIMER K B L
interests in a subsidiary & 21 (29,410) =
Acquisition of an additional interest in a BB R — B A R A
subsidiary - (75,348)
Proceeds from new borrowings FEEEMEHRE 10,863,647 8,286,284
Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds %17 A[ R E 5 AT1S B - 959,968
Issue of new shares upon exercise of share 7T{ B RRAE LAZE T T#T A%
options 7,118 10,770
Proceeds from issue of new shares BITHARFTISEIE - 497,620
Proceeds from issue of convertible BEATAHRAIRB R AR TS 5KIR
preference shares - 287,047
Capital contribution by non-controlling B AR Z IEIERRAR R 2 HE
shareholders of subsidiaries - 1,386
Net cash from financing activities REEBMENESFE 96,009 3,538,973
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash BRERBEZEYWRMMCHL ) BE
equivalents 1,844,516 (124,424)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes HNEERSB N E 18,891 6,099
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of FHHEERBREZEY
the year 3,231,909 3,350,234
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the ERRERBEEEEY
year 5,005,316 3,231,909
Represented by: 15 -
Cash and cash equivalents BeRREEEY 5,095,316 3,231,909
Add: Fixed deposits with original maturity ~ #i : JRE|HAR A% R =1E B LR —F
date more than three months but HE B TFERR
within one year 447,605 442,133
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRES 5,542,921 3,674,042

LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

GENERAL

LVGEM (China) Real Estate Investment Company Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability
and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the
Company’s registered office and principal place of business in Hong
Kong are P.O. Box 1350, Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, Grand Cayman
KY1-1108, Cayman Islands and Level 5, NEO, 123 Hoi Bun Road, Kwun
Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong respectively. Its ultimate controlling party is
Mr. WONG Hong King (“Mr. Wong”), the father of Ms. HUANG Jingshu,
the Chairman of the Company, and Mr. HUANG Hao Yuan, an Executive
Director of the Company.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities of
its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 50.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB”), which is also the functional currency of the Company.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year

The Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) has applied
the following new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time in
the current year:

HKFRS 16 Leases

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-
2017 Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the new and amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

e P RRME

—REHR

s (R REDMEREBRAR([ARF])A—FRNHA
EHEHMKLZBRAF] - ERHDNEBHMERS
FIERARITHRZFT]) R EH o RRBFMIEE
BREAFEEFEMEB 2 IS FIRP.O. Box 1350,
Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, Grand Cayman KY1-
1108, Cayman Islands & &SN BEERIE/G/EE 1235
HFRNEOKXESE - A&l AERREEE(E
S BIARAEFEERETF LT RARRNITE
BEEREEZRE -

KRB B —EREZERAR - HEZMBRRNES
FHPTEESO0

HAVBHRAARE(TARBE D2 ARETR
RATNINEEE -

R REEITEBMBREER
([EBMBRERER L)

RAFEBRFERZHITREEIT BB BRS

)

RRR R EME AR (G A EE DERRFEER
ERATHRESEMAS([EE SRS ])RM
HVRTR] RAIERT BB 2R

BEPBWMEEL  HE
£5165%

HFE(ERMBHRS MEHEER N EEN
2EZEE)
— e EE235%

TRMBGHSEL  EAABEZREAETER
SR (BRI AN)

EB LR
F19R(ETA)

FHEIEET - MR EE

gL REFERRREERAZ
F28IR(EFTA) RHfEs

ERMBREER  BHBMBREEN T —HF
(ERTA) E-ETLFBEHZ
FREBE

BT XFmES - RAFERRAZERN ] RRER]R
AR BHEERHARENANEE R AEFENI T
HRRARKREA R, SBENZE GRS PR < KR E
BAFE -
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Cont'd)

HKFRS 16 Leases

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time in the current year
period. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17 Leases (“HKAS 17”), and the
related interpretations.

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply HKFRS 16 to
contracts that were previously identified as leases applying HKAS 17
and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a
Lease and not apply this standards to contracts that were not previously
identified as containing a lease. Therefore, the Group has not reassessed
contracts which already existed prior to the date of initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1 January 2019,
the Group applies the definition of a lease in accordance with the
requirements set out in HKFRS 16 in assessing whether a contract
contains a lease.

As a lessee

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with the cumulative
effect recognised at the date of initial application, 1 January 2019.

As at 1 January 2019, the Group recognised additional lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets at amounts equal to the related leases liabilities
by applying HKFRS 16.C8(b)(ii) transition.

When applying the modified retrospective approach under HKFRS 16 at
transition, the Group applied the following practical expedients to leases
previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17, on lease-by-
lease basis, to the extent relevant to the respective lease contracts:

elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for
leases with lease term ends within 12 months of the date of initial
application; and

ii. applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with a similar
remaining term for similar class of underlying assets in similar
economic environment.

When recognising the lease liabilities for leases previously classified as
operating leases, the Group has applied incremental borrowing rates of
the relevant group entities at the date of initial application. The weighted
average incremental borrowing rate applied is 9.5%.

Before the application of HKFRS 16, the Group considered refundable
rental deposits paid as rights and obligations under leases to which
HKAS 17 applied under deposits received, prepayment and other
receivables. Based on the definition of lease payments under HKFRS
16, such deposits are not payments relating to the right to use of the
underlying assets and should be adjusted to reflect the discounting effect
at transition. The impact of this on the Group is insignificant.

LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2019
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HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

FERFR RAEETERBUBREER
(TERMBREED )

ERPRRELENE16REE

RAFEHR  AEBEREREEVHMELRE
165% - HEM B ME LR E LT MR BT R G LR
F17RAE (R GTEAEL7R ) RAAERE -

HENTEZH

AEEEEERARREEDE  EMEEBMBRE
ERFIEEANERNEREBGHERELTR K
ER(BRUBRERBEES) —RRFSRETL
HELESHEMHBNREEZEL - BRI ER
ERRERAZINABEHEZAH - B - A%H
WESHHEIERARYRMEFEZAL

MR T NF— A — B KL HERNE KT
5 AKRBERBEE B BIME LR F 165 E A
HMEEHREEHENRTRAEENTES

1ERATA

AEEDEHERABTBYBHREEANFION - MR
AR ERNYBEARSE T NF—A—BER-

RZZ—NF—A—R  AEEZERERETEUHER
SHERIF16.C8(b) IR BEMEREIMEE A B RER
BEE  SHEAENHEEHEAE -

REEHRBRIBETBY B RS ERE1IREBEE
FLEWAR - REERERNHELEH EAREEE
BRERFI7R OB RELEHENHERAUTE
ST - EAEBREEANERERR

. BETHAEMRVIARER B LR 12 H R
ERNEERAEAREEREERE R

i BERLEERIR AR IR EE R R
HREMNEEHSERE A EK -

EREMABAKLTHENEERRHEERER - A
SENUI5A FE R B B FE AR R R B B R ARG B KA
K o FiTE PR B9 AR T I IRIE (5 R K 9.5% o

NEBEEMBREERE1IHA - ARESKEN
REMESEEVRNEKEZRS  ANFARELE
WHIBTEEGFENEISRERNHEERN LR
£ - REBEFBHBWELENF 165 THENFTNE
% 2 EFReWIFR(ERAREEENGRAN
WEALEH B AR BREE R M REIR R o UL ORE A
SEHTETK



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE—Z-NF+A=1+—HItFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2.

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Cont'd)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Cont'd)

As a lessee (Cont'd)

e M HRAR MR

FERFRT RAEETEBMBREZER
(TEBMBHREER @)

=B IE®R

\

EERE16FREE(E)

TERAMNA ()

At 1 January 2019
R=F—-—hF—H—H

RMB$'000
AREFT
Operating lease commitments disclosed as at 31 RZE—N\F+ZA=+—BEENCEHEFE
December 2018 209,469
Lease liabilities discounted at relevant incremental & B SRR S KA RETENR
borrowing rates 134,214
Less: Recognition exemption — short-term leases W HEREE - RHEE (2,491)
Lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 —hWF—A—HHNHEEAR 131,723
Analysed as AT BRI DT
Current ) 24,328
Non-current IETRB 107,395
131,723
The carrying amount of right of use assets under sub-lease (classified as RZFE—NF—A—H 2HEEBETHNEREEE
investment properties) as at 1 January 2019 comprises the following: (DEEAREYHE)NEEERENATSIE
Investment
properties
REYE
Note RMB’000
Hiat ARETIT
As at 31 December 2018 RZZE—N\F+=—A=1+—H 22,117,251
Right-of-use assets leased out under operating AFE BB RS RIS 165k 2 FERR A AL &
leases recognised upon application of HKFRS 16 ERHMNEREEE 131,723
Adjustment to fair value of right-of-use assets HR=ZZF—NF— A —BARIIEEEDMENE
accounted for as investment properties at 1 AREEENA R EEAR
January 2019 (a) 88,700
As at 1 January 2019 R=ZZFE—NF—HA—H 22,337,674

Note:

Azt -

(a) The Group subleases certain premises out under operating leases.
Accordingly, the related right-of-use assets are classified as investment
properties and are measured at fair value on the initial application of HKFRS
16 on 1 January 2019, resulting in an adjustment of RMB88,700,000 to the
right-of-use assets classified as investment properties, and a corresponding
credit to retained profits. The related tax effect of RMB22,175,000 was
recognised as deferred tax liabilities and included in adjustment to retained
profits.

(a)

REAUKLLEHEESEETYWE - Bt X =
NE-—A—HB HHEERAREERSIBREREY
¥ URVRERETBMBRELENFISRZR
REEME BRUPERREVEZCAEEE
E I A A R #588,700,0007T + W AHMEFT ARE &
7 - 48 Bﬁﬁéi‘%%%AE%ZZHS,OGOTEE&%R%@?@
BRAE Wt ARBEFFE -

—=— 4,

—=
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Cont'd)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Cont’d)
As a lessor

In accordance with the transitional provisions in HKFRS 16, except
for sub-leases in which the Group acts as an intermediate lessor, the
Group is not required to make any adjustment on transition for leases in
which the Group is a lessor but account for these leases in accordance
with HKFRS 16 from the date of initial application and comparative
information has not been restated. The impact to the Group as a lessor
as at 1 January 2019 is insignificant.

Before application of HKFRS 16, refundable rental deposits received
were considered as rights and obligations under leases to which HKAS
17 applied under accruals, deposits received and other payables. Based
on the definition of lease payments under HKFRS 16, such deposits are
not payments relating to the right-of-use assets and should be adjusted
to reflect the discounting effect at transition. The impact of this on the
Group is insignificant.

The following table summarises the impact of transition to HKFRS 16 on
retained profits at 1 January 2019.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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FERFR RAEETERBUBREER
(TEBMBHRELER @)

BRPBHRELENE16RHEER)
TERHENA

RIBE BB ME LR EIGRABIEIR - BRAE
BEERTRIBBANSEES  NEBBANREE
TERHEANEENBE R MR  WAEB TSR
e B R RIBETBY B RS EREISRHZEHE
EANRR - RUESFILEER - KT NF—H—
BSAREBERHBEANZETAK -

NEBEBMBREERELIHA - AEESKE UK
RERSESEANEER - e WiZe REMRE
NHBETEEGFLENEITSRERNHEERN LT
£ REFEUBRELRF IR THENFKAE
% REREWIFRERBEERMOMN - LAE
HFE A RBGERR RIS - ILEHAKER
TEIK -

TREMBEEEBHBHREENFIOREN —F
—NF-A-BRBAENOTE -

Impact of adopting

HKFRS 16 at

1 January 2019

R=ZB-NIF

—A—H

RipBBHERE
ERIFE16EHTE

Note RMB’000
Kzt ARETT

Retained profits REBER

Fair value changes on investment properties RENMENRAREE

Tax effects Mg 2

(a) 88,700
(a) (22,175)

Impact at 1 January 2019

R-F-NE—A—BNKE

66,525

The following adjustments were made to the amounts recognised in the
condensed consolidated statement of financial position at 1 January
2019. Line items that were not affected by the changes have not been
included.

LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BBt A= RAEE e M HRAR MR

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2. FEAHFTREEIT BB ERE XL

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (BB BEREERD ) @)
(Cont'd)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Cont'd) EBMER RAlsE165REE (22)
As a lessor (Cont'd) TERHTN (&)

Carrying amounts

previously Carrying amounts
reported at 31 under HKFRS 16
December 2018 Adjustments at 1 January 2019
R=B—h%F
R-B-N\E — B —HRE
+=A=+-—8H EBEREAEL
SR 2HPREE A F1655 W ERMEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFIT AREFIT AREFIT
Non-current Assets FREEE
Investment properties SE=E/ES 22,117,251 220,423 22,337,674
Current Liabilities REEE
Lease liabilities HEARE - 24,328 24,328
Non-current Liabilities kRBAB
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFIBAGE 2,585,251 22,175 2,607,426
Lease liabilities HEAE - 107,395 107,395
Capital and Reserves BEARRHE
Share premium and reserves & imE R E 11,290,307 66,525 11,356,832
New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective EEMERNKRERZHITRLETEBHEHREE
Al
The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to AREEN IR RE R T OB BB R AERZ T R
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective: ST BB R ELER
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts! BERMBREEAELT5R RBE A& 4!
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business? ERSFEAEIRUBETA) EBZEER?
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets BEYVBERELLFIONN REEHEBENT)
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its Fh @R B85 (8L HAEENE 2B
Associate or Joint Venture? ) BELESFE
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material* BERGTERERERES BEAMZEER
R LSS HACHEN)
Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 Interest Rate Benchmark BB R EERFEI - H = A
and HKFRS 7 Reform* BB GFAERFE395 &
BB RS ERE T
CEHEN)
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021. 1 R —F— A —BSARFRNEE R AR
2 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the 2 HWERAH AR T -_ZTF— A —Hs UEHBY
acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period B EE E ER IS A B O EE S 0 R AU AR -
beginning on or after 1 January 2020.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined. 3 RET EI HABk LA1Z PSR HY E E HART A 3K -
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020. 4 MN-ZT-_ZTF— A —HABRBNFEERR AR -
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Cont'd)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue hut not yet effective (Cont'd)

In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSs, a revised
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting was issued in 2018.
Its consequential amendments, the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards, will be effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,
the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all new
and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material

The amendments provide refinements to the definition of material by
including additional guidance and explanations in making materiality
judgments. In particular, the amendments:

° include the concept of “obscuring” material information in which
the effect is similar to omitting or misstating the information;

° replace threshold for materiality influencing users from “could
influence” to “could reasonably be expected to influence”; and

° include the use of the phrase “primary users” rather than simply
referring to “users” which was considered too broad when
deciding what information to disclose in the financial statements.

The amendments also align the definition across all HKFRSs and will
be mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on
1 January 2020. The application of the amendments is not expected
to have significant impact on the financial position and performance
of the Group but may affect the presentation and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE—Z-NF+A=1+—HItFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Cont'd)

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 (the “New
Framework”) and the Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in HKFRS Standards

The New Framework:
o reintroduces the terms stewardship and prudence;

o introduces a new asset definition that focuses on rights and a new
liability definition that is likely to be broader than the definition it
replaces, but does not change the distinction between a liability
and an equity instrument;

o discusses historical cost and current value measures, and
provides additional guidance on how to select a measurement
basis for a particular asset or liability;

° states that the primary measure of financial performance is
profit or loss, and that only in exceptional circumstances other
comprehensive income will be used and only for income or
expenses that arise from a change in the current value of an asset
or liability; and

o discusses uncertainty, derecognition, unit of account, the
reporting entity and combined financial statements.

Consequential amendments have been made so that references in
certain HKFRSs have been updated to the New Framework, whilst some
HKFRSs are still referred to the previous versions of the framework.
These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2020, with earlier application permitted. Other than specific
standards which still refer to the previous versions of the framework, the
Group will rely on the New Framework on its effective date in determining
the accounting policies especially for transactions, events or conditions
that are not otherwise dealt with under the accounting standards.

e P RRME
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for investment properties and certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at
the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions
that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 (since 1 January
2019) or HKAS 17 (before application of HKFRS16), and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as
net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are
categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described
as follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within
Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly

or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company and
its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss from the date the Group gains control until the date when
the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group's
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from
the Group’s equity therein, which represent present ownership interests
entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd)
Basis of consolidation (Cont'd)
Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in
the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries, including
re-attribution of relevant reserves between the Group and the non-
controlling interests according to the Group’s and the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the
Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of
that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any) are derecognised.
A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the
former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9
or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or a joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd)
Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination is
measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-
date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

- deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to
employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;

- liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured
in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the
acquisition date (see the accounting policy below);

- assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that
standard; and

- lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present value
of the remaining lease payments (as defined in HKFRS 16) as if
the acquired leases were new leases at the acquisition date. Right-
of-use assets are recognised and measured at the same amount
as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or
unfavourable terms of the lease when compared with market
terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree,
and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment,
the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'a)
Business combhinations (Cont’d)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant subsidiary’s
net assets in the event of liquidation are initially measured at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value. The choice of
measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value
at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains control),
and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or
other comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts arising from
interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously
been recognised in other comprehensive income and measured under
HKFRS 9/HKAS 39 would be accounted for on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had disposed directly of the previously held
equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the
end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, the Group
reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted retrospectively
during the measurement period (see above), and additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known,
would have affected the amounts recognised at that date.

Acquisition of a subsidiary not constituting a business

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do not
constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises the individual
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by allocating the
purchase price first to investment properties which are subsequently
measured under fair value model and financial assets/financial liabilities
at the respective fair value, the remaining balance of the purchase price
is then allocated to the other identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis
of their relative fair values at the date of purchase. Such a transaction
does not give rise to goodwill or bargain purchase gain.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE—Z-NF+A=1+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd)
Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as
established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the accounting
policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of
the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-generating units)
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, which
represents the lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purpose and not larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may be impaired.
For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill has
been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that reporting
period. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating
units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of the cash-
generating unit within the group of cash-generating units, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount of
profit or loss on disposal. When the Group dispose of an operation within
the cash-generating unit (or a cash-generating unit within group of cash-
generating units), the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on the
basis of the relative values of the operation (or the cash-generating unit)
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit (or the group of
cash-generating units) retained.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of a joint
venture is described below.

Investments in an associate and a joint venture

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint
arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd)
Investments in an associate and a joint venture (Cont'd)

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate or a joint venture
are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, an
investment in a an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate or the joint venture. Changes in
net assets of the associate/the joint venture other than profit or loss and
other comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such changes
resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When
the Group’s share of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds
the Group’s interest in that associate or joint venture (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net
investment in the associate/the joint venture), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised
only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or the joint
venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee becomes a
joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint
venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount
of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in
which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the
interest in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36
as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in
accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of
the investment subsequently increases.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd)

Investments in an associate and a joint venture (Cont'd)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or a
joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method, the
Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss
that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or
liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of
the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate or the joint venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interest in the joint venture that
are not related to the Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of
goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or services
that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or
services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration (or
an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Cont'd)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards
complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

For property management service, the Group recognises revenue in the
amount to which the entity has a right to invoice, as the Group has a right
to consideration from a customer in an amount that corresponds directly
with the value to the customer of the entity’s performance completed to
date.

Existence of significant financing component

For sales of properties, in determining the transaction price, the Group
adjusts the promised amount of consideration for the effects of the time
value of money if the timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or
implicitly) provides the customer or the Group with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the customer. In those
circumstances, the contract contains a significant financing component.
A significant financing component may exist regardless of whether the
promise of financing is explicitly stated in the contract or implied by the
payment terms agreed to by the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer of the
associated goods or services is less than one year, the Group applies
the practical expedient of not adjusting the transaction price for any
significant financing component.

For advance payments received from customers before the transfer
of the associated goods or services in which the Group adjusts for the
promised amount of consideration for a significant financing component,
the Group applies a discount rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction between the Group and the customer at contract
inception. The relevant interest expenses during the period between
the advance payments were received and the transfer of the associated
goods and services are accounted for on the same basis as other
borrowing costs.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that the Group
incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it would not have
incurred if the contract had not been obtained.

The Group recognises such costs (e.g. sales commissions) as an asset if
it expects to recover these costs. The asset so recognised is subsequently
amortised to profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with
the transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which the assets
relate.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing all incremental
costs to obtain a contract if these costs would otherwise have been fully
amortised to profit or loss within one year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd)
Lease

Definition of a lease (upon application of HKFRS 16 in accordance with
transitions in note 2)

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the Group
assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in accordance
with transitions in note 2)

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases
of rental premises that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease
payments on short-term leases are recognised as expense on a straight-
line basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:
o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Except for those that are classified as investment properties and
measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

Right-of-use assets that meet the definition of investment property are
presented within “investment properties”.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'a)
Lease (Cont'd)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in accordance
with transitions in note 2) (Cont'd)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included in
the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group as lessee (prior to 1 January 2019)

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or
operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset
to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases
are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term except for
investment properties measured under fair value model.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)
Lease (Cont’d)

The Group as a lessor (upon application of HKFRS 16 in accordance
with transitions in note 2)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease components, the
Group applies HKFRS 15 to allocate consideration in a contract to lease
and non-lease components. Non-lease components are separated from
lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head lease
and the sublease as two separate contracts. The sublease is classified as
a finance or operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset arising
from the head lease, not with reference to the underlying asset.

Lease modification

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a new
lease from the effective date of the modification, considering any prepaid
or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease as part of the
lease payments for the new lease.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd)
Foreign currencies (Cont'd)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and
on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise, except for exchange differences on
monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for
which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming
part of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised
initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to
profit or loss on disposal of the foreign operation.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. RMB) using exchange
rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expense
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which
case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
exchange reserve attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation), all of the
exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or
loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate
share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. For properties under
development for which revenue is recognised over time, the Group
ceases to capitalise borrowing costs as soon as the properties are ready
for the Group’s intended sale.

Effective 1 January 2019, any specific borrowing that remain outstanding
after the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in
the general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on general
borrowings.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE—Z-NF+A=1+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd)
Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or
losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial
support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised
as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to
the contributions.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised
as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion
of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any
amount already paid.

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing
similar services are measured at the fair value of the equity instrument at
the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined at
the grant date without taking into consideration all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually
vest, with a corresponding increase in share option reserve. At the end
of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of
equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant
non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that cumulative
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment
to share option reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised
in share option reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the
share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised
at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share option
reserve will be transferred to retained profits.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from profit before tax because of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements
and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised
for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, and interests in an associate
and a joint venture, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE—Z-NF+A=1+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)
Taxation (Cont'd)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the carrying
amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely
through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is
rebutted when the investment property is depreciable and is held within
a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in
which the Group recognises the right- of-use assets and the related lease
liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax deductions are
attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes
requirements to the leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are assessed
on a net basis. Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets over the
lease payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities resulting in net
deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by
the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when
they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use
in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes (other than freehold lands and properties under construction
as described below). Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Freehold lands are not depreciated and are measured at cost less
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Construction in progress in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly attributable to bringing
the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management and, for qualifying
assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as
other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for ownership interest which includes
both leasehold land and building elements, the entire consideration
is allocated between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.

When the payments cannot be allocated reliably between the leasehold
land and building elements, the entire property is generally classified as
property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets (other than
freehold land and construction in progress) less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE—Z-NF+A=1+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd)
Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation (including properties under construction for such
purposes).

Effective 1 January 2019, investment properties also include leased
properties that are recognised as right-of-use assets upon application of
HKFRS 16 which are subleased by the Group under operating leases.
The carrying amounts of these investment properties include the carrying
amount of the related lease liabilities, where appropriate, to avoid double
counting.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Cost incurred for investment properties
under development comprises development expenditure including
professional charges directly attributable to the development and
borrowing costs, and these costs are capitalised as part of the carrying
amount of the investment properties under development during the
development period.

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties including
completed investment properties and investment properties under
development, are measured at their fair values, adjusted to exclude any
prepaid or accrued operating lease income. Gains or losses arising from
changes in the fair value of investment properties are included in profit
or loss for the period in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under construction
are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of the investment
properties under construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use or no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Effective 1 January
2019, a leased property which is recognised as a right-of-use asset upon
application of HKFRS 16 is derecognised if the Group as intermediate
lessor classifies the sublease as a finance lease. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in the profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.

If there is a transfer from investment property carried at fair value to
owner-occupied property evidenced by the commencement of owner
occupation, the property’s deemed cost for subsequent accounting shall
be its fair value at the date of change in use.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd)
Properties for/under development/properties for sale

Properties for/under development which are intended to be sold upon
completion of development and properties for sale are classified as
current assets. Except for the leasehold land element which is measured
at cost model in accordance with the accounting policies of right-of-
use assets upon the application of HKFRS 16, properties for/under
development/properties for sale are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on a specific identification basis
including allocation of the related development expenditure incurred
and where appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for the properties less estimated
cost to completion and costs necessary to make the sales.

Properties for/under development for sale are transferred to properties
for sale upon completion.

Other inventories

Other inventories comprising consumable stores for own consumption
which are recognised at cost, and subsequently at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost of inventories are determined on a weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.

Transfer from inventories to investment properties carried at fair value

The Group transfers a property from inventories to investment property
when there is a change in use to hold the property to earn rentals or/
and for capital appreciation rather than for sale in the ordinary course
of business, which is evidenced by the inception of an operating lease
to another party. Any difference between the fair value of the property
at the date of transfer and its previous carrying amount is recognised in
profit or loss.

Impairment on tangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of tangible assets are estimated individually.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd)
Impairment on tangible assets other than goodwill (Cont'd)

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication that corporate
assets may be impaired. If such indication exists, corporate assets are
also allocated to individual cash-generating units, when a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit,
the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating
units, including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion
of corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units,
with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units. In
allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to
the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of
the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal
or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group
will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of
money is material).

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value
except for trade receivables arising from contracts with customers which
are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the
fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd)
Financial instruments (Cont'd)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective
is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective
is achieved by both selling and collecting contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows

that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL"), except that at the date of initial application of
HKFRS 9Y/initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment
in other comprehensive income (“OCI”) if that equity investment is
neither held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by
an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the
near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial
instruments that the Group manages together and has a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging
instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost of FVTOCI as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd)

Financial instruments (Cont'd)

Financial assets (Cont'd)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (Cont’d)

0]

(ii)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost and
debt instruments/receivables subsequently measured at FVTOCI.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired
(see below). For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit
impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.

Debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts for debt instruments
classified as at FVTOCI as a result of interest income calculated
using the effective interest method are recognised in profit or
loss. All other changes in the carrying amount of these debt
instruments are recognised in OCl and accumulated under the
heading of investment revaluation reserve. Impairment allowances
are recognised in profit or loss with corresponding adjustment
to OCI without reducing the carrying amounts of these debt
instruments. The amounts that are recognised in profit or loss
are the same as the amounts that would have been recognised
in profit or loss if these debt instruments had been measured at
amortised cost. When these debt instruments are derecognised,
the cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd)

Financial instruments (Cont'd)

Financial assets (Cont'd)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (Cont’d)

(iii)

(iv)

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from
changes in fair value recognised in OCI and accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve; and are not subject to impairment
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified
to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments, and will
continue to be held in the investment revaluation reserve.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the
dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent
a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are
included in the “other income, other gains and losses” line item in
profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured
at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are
measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss includes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including accounts receivable,
deposits paid, other receivables, amounts due from a joint venture,
restricted bank deposits, bank balances) and financial guarantee
contracts which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount
of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)
Financial instruments (Cont'd)

Financial assets (Cont'd)

Impairment of financial assets (Cont'd)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default
events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In contrast,
12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for accounts receivable
without significant financing component. The ECL on these assets are
assessed collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal
to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE—Z-NF+A=1+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)
Financial instruments (Cont'd)
Financial assets (Cont'd)

Impairment of financial assets (Cont'd)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Cont'd)

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

o significant deterioration in external market indicators of

credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low credit
risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower has
a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in
the near term and iii) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash
flow obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to have
low credit risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of
‘investment grade’ as per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'a)
Financial instruments (Cont'd)
Financial assets (Cont'd)

Impairment of financial assets (Cont'd)

For the year ended 31 December 2019
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(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Definition of default

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when the instrument is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of
default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit impaired includes observable data about
the following events:

(a)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables,
when the amounts are over two years past due, whichever
occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd)

Financial instruments (Cont'd)

Financial assets (Cont'd)

Impairment of financial assets (Cont'd)

)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL
reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract
and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition. For
a lease receivable, the cash flows used for determining the ECL
is consistent with the cash flows used in measuring the lease
receivable in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases (since 1 January
2019) or HKAS 17 Leases (prior to 1 January 2019).

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases
where evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet be
available, the financial instruments are grouped on the following
basis:

° Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s accounts
and other receivables are each assessed as a separate
group) :

° Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P RRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)
Financial instruments (Cont'd)
Financial assets (Cont'd)
Impairment of financial assets (Cont'd)
(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Cont'd)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

Except for investments in debt instruments that are measured
at FVTOCI, the Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of accounts receivable
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account. For investments in debt instruments that are
measured at FVTOCI, the loss allowance is recognised in OCI
and accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve without
reducing the carrying amount of these debt instruments.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument classified as
at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the
FVTOCI reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd)
Financial instruments (Cont'd)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities
or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including accounts and other payables, borrowings,
debt component of convertible bonds and senior notes and bond are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer
to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee
contracts liabilities are measured initially at their fair values It is
subsequently measured at the higher of:

o the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with
HKFRS 9; and
o the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative

amortisation recognised over the guarantee period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd)
Financial instruments (Cont'd)

Financial liabilities and equity (Cont'd)

Convertible bonds contain debt and derivative components

A conversion option that will be settled other than by the exchange of a
fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the
Group’s own equity instruments is a conversion option derivative.

At the date of issue, both the debt component and derivative component
are recognised at fair value. In subsequent periods, the debt component
of the convertible bonds is carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. The derivative component is measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible bonds are
allocated to the debt and derivative components in proportion to their
relative fair values. Transaction costs relating to the derivative component
are charged to profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs relating to
the debt component are included in the carrying amount of the debt
portion and amortised over the period of the convertible bonds using the
effective interest method.

Non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that do not result
in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant financial liabilities
will be calculated at the present value of the modified contractual cash
flows discounted at the financial liabilities’ original effective interest rate.
Transaction costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount
of the modified financial liabilities and are amortised over the remaining
term. Any adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial liability is
recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.

Senior notes and bond

Senior notes issued by the Group that contain both liability and early
redemption option (which is not closely related to the host contract) are
classified separately into respective items on initial recognition. At the
date of issue, both the liability and early redemption option components
are recognised at fair value.

Bond issued by the Group that contains both liability and interest
rate adjustments (which is closely related to the host contract) is
not separated into host contract and embedded derivative on initial
recognition. At the date of issue, the bond is recognised at fair value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE—Z-NF+A=1+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conta)
Financial instruments (Cont'd)

Financial liabilities and equity (Cont'd)

Senior notes and bond (Cont'd)

In subsequent periods, the liability components of the senior notes and
bond are carried at amortised cost using effective interest method. The
early redemption option of senior notes is measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that related to the issue of the senior notes and bond
are included in the carrying amount of the senior notes and bond
and amortised over the period of the senior notes and bond using the
effective interest method.

Derivatives financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when
derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently remeasured
to their fair value at the end of the reporting period. The resulting gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss unless the derivative is designated
and effective as hedging instrument, in which event the timing of
the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge
relationship.

Derecogpnition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (contd)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the directors of the Company have made
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax
assets arising from investment properties that are measured using the
fair value model, the directors of the Company have determined that
certain of the Group’s investment properties as at 31 December 2019
amounting to RMB13,529,300,000 (2018: RMB12,840,412,000)
situated in the People’s Republic of China (excludes Hong Kong,
Macau Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of
China and Taiwan) (the “Mainland China”) are held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment properties over time, rather than
through sale. The presumption that the carrying amounts of certain of
the Group’s investment properties situated in the Mainland China are
recovered entirely through sale has been rebutted and the deferred tax
on the changes in fair value of these investment properties is recognised
according to the relevant tax rules. For remaining investment properties
amounting to RMB10,038,229,000 (2018: RMB9,276,839,000), the
presumption that the carrying amounts of these investment properties
measured using fair value model were recovered entirely through sales
was not rebutted.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that may have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed
below.

Income tax

The Group is subject to income tax in various jurisdictions. Significant
judgement is required in determining the amount of the provision of tax
and the timing of payment of the related taxation. Where the final tax
outcome is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in
periods in which such determinations are made.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (contd)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont'd)
Income tax (Cont'd)

The Group is subject to LAT in the Mainland China. However, the
implementation and settlement of this tax varies among various tax
jurisdictions in cities of the Mainland China, and the Group has not
finalised certain LAT calculation and payments with local tax authorities
in the Mainland China. Accordingly, significant judgement is required
in determining the amount on the appreciation of land value and its
related LAT. The Group recognised LAT based on the management’s
best estimates according to the understanding of the tax rules, which are
determined by the appreciation of land value. The amount of the land
appreciation is determined with reference to estimated proceeds of the
sales of properties less the estimated deductible expenditures, including
the cost of land use rights and all property development expenditures.

During the year, the Group incurred LAT of RMB1,023,621,000 (2018:
RMB685,180,000) which was charged to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss as income tax expense. The directors of the Company
considered the amount charged to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss to be adequate as this is calculated according to the method which
is in compliance with the existing rules and interpretation of LAT.

As at 31 December 2019, a deferred tax asset of RMB131,314,000
(2018: RMB nil) in relation to unused tax losses has been recognised in
the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of tax losses of RMB92,844,000
(2018: RMB23,066,000) as it is not probable that taxable profit will
be available due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The
realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends on whether
sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences will be available
in the future. In cases where the actual future profits generated are more
than expected, additional recognition of deferred tax assets may arise,
which would be recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
for the period in which it takes place.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (contd)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont'd)
Valuation of investment properties

Investment properties with the aggregate carrying amount as at 31
December 2019 of RMB23,567,529,000 (2018: RMB22,117,251,000)
are stated at fair value based on the valuation performed by independent
professional valuers. The fair value of the investment properties was
determined by reference to valuations conducted on these properties
by an independent firm of property valuers using property valuation
technigues which involve certain assumptions. Changes in assumptions
may result in changes in the fair value of the Group’s investment
properties which are reported in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and affect the carrying amount of these properties included in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Information about valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions
used in the determination of the fair value of investment properties are
disclosed in note 13.

Assessment of net realisable value of properties held for sale and
properties under development for sale

The directors of the Company determine the net realisable value
of completed properties held for sale with carrying amount of
RMB2,467,237,000 (2018: RMB3,302,382,000) by using prevailing
market data such as most recent sale transactions.

The assessment of directors of the Company on net realisable value
of properties under development for sale with carrying amount of
RMB8,165,855,000 (2018: RMB7,407,278,000) requires the estimates
of future cash flows to be derived from these properties. These estimates
require judgement as to the anticipated sale prices by reference to
recent sales transactions in nearby locations, marketing costs (including
price discounts required to stimulate sales) and the expected costs to
completion of properties, the legal and regulatory framework and general
market conditions.

The Group had not recognised any an impairment loss for the years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018. Where there is any decrease in the
estimated selling prices arising from any changes to the property market
conditions, a further loss will be recognised on the properties held for
sale and properties under development for sale.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Revenue represents the income from property development, property
leasing and provision of comprehensive services, net of business tax and
other sales related taxes and after deduction of any discounts.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as follows:

e P RRME

Wm ko BEFR
WABRAMERR - MEBE IR BB
A SN B A 8K A B BLIE A R AE AT 47
in e

FAREEZBEDHTT -

2019 2018
—E-hF —ZT—)\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AREFIT
Sales of properties YIS IHE 5,962,446 3,664,328
Rental income LU A 618,674 543,176
Revenue from hotel operation, property KEBEES  MEEERSREMARE
management service and other services EollEa 321,328 308,181
6,902,448 4,515,685
Timing of revenue recognition from contracts 70 = E-I==N Ol € yin):sdi)
with customers
At a point in time R A2 TER 5,962,446 3,664,328
Over time BE & BRI RER 321,328 308,181

Sales of properties

For contracts entered into with customers on sales of properties, the
relevant properties specified in the contracts are based on customers’
specifications with no alternative use. Taking into the consideration of
relevant terms, the legal environment and relevant legal precedent, the
Group concluded that the Group does not have an enforceable right to
payment prior to transfer of relevant properties to customers. Revenue
from sales of residential properties and commercial buildings is therefore
recognised at a point in time when the completed property is transferred
to customers, being at the point that customer obtains the control of the
completed property and the Group has present right to payment and
collection of the consideration is probable.

The Group receives an upfront payment, ranging from RMBZ20,000 to
RMB2,000,000 (2018: RMB20,000 to RMB2,000,000) for different
properties from customers for the subscription of properties and such
amount will be treated as the deposits from customers after signing
the sale and purchase agreement. However, depending on the market
conditions, the Group may offer customers a discount compared to the
listed sale price, provided that the customers agree to pay the rest of the
consideration earlier.

For contracts entered into with customers on sales of properties, the
expected duration of satisfying the performance obligation of which is
within one year. The transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied
contracts is not disclosed as permitted under HKFRS 15.

The Group considers the advance payment contains no significant
financing component and accordingly no adjustments of the amount of
consideration would be made.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (conta)

Rental income

Revenue from leasing of commercial properties, office premises and car
parks is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 (since 1 January
2019) or HKAS 17 (before application of HKFRS 16).

Revenue from hotel operation, property management service and other
services

Revenue from hotel operation and property management service is
recognised over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation, as the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group’s performance as the Group performs.

All hotel operation service is for periods less than one year. As permitted
under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied
contracts is not disclosed.

For property management service, the Group elected to apply practical
expedient by recognising revenue in the amount to which the Group has
right to invoice. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price
allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

In identifying its operating segments, the executive directors of the
Company, being the chief operating decision makers, generally follow the
Group's service lines, which represent the main products and services
provided by the Group. The Group has identified the following reportable
segments under HKFRS 8:

- Real estate development and sales: sales of properties

- Commercial property investment and operations: lease of
commercial properties, office premises and car parks

- Comprehensive services: hotel operation, property management
service and other service income

Each of these operating segments is managed separately as each of
these products and service lines requires different resources as well as
marketing approaches.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
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5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (conta)
Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by
operating and reportable segment:

For the year ended 31 December 2019

e P RRME

5. WERkIEER@®

BHhmREE

W

AT RAREEIZEE R AT 20 BH s R EEN D
1T

HE-F-AFf A=+ ALFE

Commercial
Real estate property
development investment Comprehensive
and sales and operations services Total
FEERE BMEYERE
RHE bl FERY st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AR®BTRT ARWTRT AR¥TR

Revenue: Yz -

From external customers PYERIN=E Y= 5,962,446 618,674 321,328 6,902,448
Inter-segment revenue Bay il e - 16,212 37,685 53,897
Total segment revenue PN SEEE 5,962,446 634,886 359,013 6,956,345
Reportable segment profit A2/ EER 3,784,827 550,378 95,150 4,430,355

For the year ended 31 December 2018

BE T \F+-A=+—HIFFE

Commercial
Real estate property
development investment  Comprehensive
and sales and operations services Total
EHERE REMERE
NMIHE EERE e RS #ast
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETRT

Revenue: U2 :

From external customers KEINBEFE 3,664,328 543,176 308,181 4,515,685
Inter-segment revenue AR = 9,895 45819 55,714
Total segment revenue DREWNSERE 3,664,328 553,071 354,000 4,571,399
Reportable segment profit A2{HEEF 2,119,707 457,685 108,778 2,686,170

Inter-segment sales are at mutually agreed terms.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (conta) 5.

Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit or loss

The Group does not allocate fair value changes on investment properties,
fair value changes on derivative component of convertible bonds, other
income, other gains and losses, depreciation, finance costs, share of
results of a joint venture and corporate expenses to individual reportable
segment profit or loss for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment by the chief operating decision makers while
the investment properties are allocated to the segment of “commercial

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

WEkoEER#)

2K Bk - BE2HER

B 58 -

property investment and operations” for presenting segment assets.

The accounting policies adopted in preparing the reportable segment
information are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in

A3 EET R ERAMAR o

AEBTEAEZLERREFBZERDBEREK
ARHEMEREDEN R A BEZS  TARES
MAETARONAABEZS  HMUA - Bk
mREE - TE - BEKA - B
NRAFXOEEBYA RSB 2REA - MIRE
MENREFDBHEESIEE BHEVEREREK

BERARFEER

RELR] 2R D BEMPTERA 2 & 5T BUER B AL E K

note 3.
2019 2018
—E-hF —T—N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETT
Revenue &
Reportable segment revenue BEX: Tl 6,956,345 4,571,399
Elimination of inter-segment revenue HIESBRRE (53,897) (55,714)
Consolidated revenue tRE Wes 6,902,448 4,515,685
Profit &R
Reportable segment profit A 2D BEF] 4,430,355 2,686,170
Fair value changes on investment properties R &EMERN AL EEE 696,378 323,461
Other income, other gains and losses HagA ~ Efplkas REsE 112,292 155,095
Depreciation e (37,399) (40,529)
Finance costs A& A AN (1,256,165) (657,995)
Share of results of a joint venture EE—EEeERRER (2) (8)
Fair value changes on derivative component  AJ#RREALTA TE DA L BE
of convertible bonds #H) (20,170) 172,192
Corporate expenses NG (558,158) (482,886)
Consolidated profit before tax MR BTER S B F 3,367,131 2,155,500
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
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WER s EER @)

TREERAR

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (conta) 5.
Segment assets and liabilities
NTAEAEERAEHRREEDENEESN © B

RBARBERDERRRFERATIREERRER
HamE  FYE25ZEER

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets by reportable and
operating segment, no liabilities are presented as the information is
not reportable to the chief operating decision makers in the resource
allocation and assessment of performance:

Segment assets DHEEE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —T—)\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AREFIT
Assets BE
Real estate development and sales EHEE MEE 12,452,128 10,720,169
Commercial property investment and FEEYFERE BELE
operations 23,591,289 22,119,061
Comprehensive services 4R A BRTS 362,963 365,004
Reportable segment assets AHREDREE 36,406,380 33,204,234
Goodwill fEES 231,602 231,602
Equity instrument at fair value through other 1225 BEFT A HAib 2 mE ke 2 B A
comprehensive income TR 541,125 490,816
Financial assets at fair value through profitor  #Z AR BETAEBRZ SREE
loss - 10,559
Debt instrument at fair value through other BARBESAEMEEMKE 2 EK
comprehensive income TH — 20,000
Bank balances and cash (including restricted  $R174588 MIR & (BIER R HIEITER)
bank deposits) 8,346,982 7,589,868
Deferred tax assets REF A = 565,713 345,030
Interest in a joint venture and amount due R—EEEARNERKEK—fHEeE
from a joint venture NGIE/S:z] 528,376 528,378
Interest in an associate R—EBE R R ERE = -
Corporate assets NEIEE 2,116,105 991,617
Consolidated total assets REBEE 48,736,283 43,412,104

REASBXRR RS BEBNEROE  BEE &
RABEAAEMEERRZBRATA  BARE
B ARG ZERMEE RAABEAAEMEE
Wz BB TR  RITESRKRS (BRIRHIRT
T BERBREE R —RAZERAMER K IE
W—EaERRE  RN—HEERRNERIAR
RABEI  MABEDREREDHE -

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating
resources between segments, all assets are allocated to operating
segments other than goodwill, equity instrument at fair value through
other comprehensive income, financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, debt instrument at fair value through other comprehensive
income, bank balances and cash (including restricted bank deposits),
deferred tax assets, interest in a joint venture and amount due from a
joint venture, interest in an associate and corporate assets.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (conta)

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are located on the Mainland China, Hong Kong,
the United States of America (the “USA”) and the Kingdom of Cambodia
(“Cambodia”). Revenue from external customers are mainly generated
from the Mainland China for the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018. Information about the Group’s non-current assets is presented
based on the geographical location of the assets.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

WEkoEER#)
hEER

REBOEBLNFEAM  FE  EF25RE
(R DERBREER(RBE]D -BHE-_T—1
FRZZ-NF+ZA=+—HILFE ' KA
BRI ERETEAM - AEENFRDE
EEFHREEMMENERS -

2019 2018

—E-hF —ZT—)\F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREF ARETT

Mainland China AR A 14,309,782 13,638,238
Hong Kong B85 9,732,606 8,458,137
USA ESE 213,074 203,765
Cambodia SRAHZE 865,867 803,882
25,121,329 23,104,022

Note: Non-current assets excluded goodwill, equity instrument at fair value
through other comprehensive income and deferred tax assets.

No major customers contributed over 10% of the total sales of the Group
for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.
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6. OTHER INCOME, OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 6. Hftl A - Hfttlzmm R 518
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETIT
Interest income FLEMA 93,570 103,905
Investment income from financial assets RESBEEMRERA 418 5,816
Dividend received from equity instrumentat XA 4 EEzH AR b2 EWES 7 IR
FVTOCI T EFTMERZ AR B 19,745 15,665
Foreign exchange gain, net b 5 e 58 12,356 24,349
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (note 39) & —RNE ARz Wk (A7£39) 33,300 -
Loss on early redemption of financial liabilities 12 ATEE IR KA ATIEY 2 HEE
at amortised cost (note 35) Z 1B (H17E35) (1,099) =
Loss on non-substantial modification of WESER AT BRE 2 SR AECIEEX
financial liabilities at amortised cost (note HE BB (A:735)
35) (57,287) -
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE « BEMEEREER
equipment (925) (2)
Loss on disposal of investment properties HEREYENEE = (3,299)
Recovery of other receivables previously (5] LA BT 2 B85 A L P WK IE
written-off - 1,500
Fair value changes on financial assets at BARBEFSABGEZEMEEL
FVTPL R BEZE = (47)
Government grants (note) RS HRE (A7) 9,743 -
Others Hfth 2,471 7,208
112,292 155,095
Note: It represented cash received from unconditional grants by the local it : &R R BT A SR B At AT & RS W
government to encourage the business operations in the Mainland China. B E R RAEFTIER & -
7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BERZR
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Interest on: A
Bank and other borrowings RITREMBEE 1,186,817 820,891
Convertible bonds AR E 25 172,237 131,969
Senior notes and bond BAEBRES 411,241 410,200
Lease liabilities HEAaE 11,929 -
Less: Amount capitalised in investment W BRERREYMERERPEEYE
properties under development and BAR{bH) "
properties under development for
sale* (526,059) (705,065)
1,256,165 657,995
* The finance costs have been capitalised at rates ranging from 3.73% to * BB ARTIIRF BE373%E9.41% (ZF—/)\F :
9.41% (2018: 3.67% to 9.00%) per annum. 3.67%%9.00% ) &AL ©
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

8. KRHAAF

2019 2018
—E-hF T )\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT
Profit before tax is arrived at after charging MR BT 2R TR (BT A :
(crediting):
Cost of properties held for sale recognised as  FE2./4 5 S H13 & W 3 BB 2R
expense 2,177,619 1,544,621
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #)¥ - RE R B EFTE 37,448 40,652
Less: Amount capitalised in investment B BRERREYENRERPEES
properties under development and MEENMbLZ &5
properties under development for sale (49) (123)
37,399 40,529
Gross rental income from investment KREMEMSHS WAL
properties 618,674 543,176
Outgoings in respect of investment properties HENERNEATR S KA ZZEYE
that generated rental income during the R (F7aE1)
year (note 1) (68,296) (85,491)
550,378 457,685
Operating lease charges in respect of land and BRI+ REFHLLHSER
buildings - 29,178
Expense relating to short-term lease and other £245 BiFE & & 0 & HARA 9154 & F
leases with lease terms ended within 12 BB REERE 1658 B Bt
months of the date of initial application of 12fB A R RMEMBEH RN
HKFRS 16 (note 2) Fx (Kfat2) 4,886 -
Reversal on impairment loss on accounts P BR R (B 5 1 7 B
receivable (59) (39)
Auditor’s remuneration 1Z AN 2,490 2,341
Staff costs BTAA
— Directors’ emoluments (note 10) —EEHM(AF10) 11,851 13,722
— Salaries and other benefits in kind — e REMEYFIZ 333,279 285,753
— Equity-settled share-based payments — DARR A E LARR D A B RIE - 18,008
— Amount recognised as expense for —ERARKBRR AR NS
retirement benefit costs 27,946 22,007
Less: Amount capitalised in investment Vo BRI EYENEREDEZEY
properties under development and EERN &5
properties under development for sale (60,571) (56,556)
312,505 282,934
Note 1: For the year ended 31 December 2018, the amount included rental KaEl - BEZZ—)\FT+A=1+—HILEFE ' %28

expense paid for properties that are under sublease arrangement of

RMB23,282,000.

Note 2:  For the year ended 31 December 2019, total cash outflows for such Hiat2 -

leases amounted to RMB4,886,000.

LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
120
Annual Report 2019

ERSELRHFRTOVENNEEHAIARE

23,282,0007T °

HE_Z-NF+-_A=+—BILFE  25HE

\

HIER & 7t A8 FE 3 A R #64,886,0007T ©




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019
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9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. FEHEX
2019 2018
—E-NF —T-N\F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Htat ARETT ARETIT
Current tax BRERREIE
Mainland China Enterprise Income H B A FEFT IS R
Tax (“EIT") ([EEFTER)
— Current year —REE (a) 765,660 467,249
— (Overprovision) underprovision in —BFFEGBEREB)
prior year BETR (19,250) 13,330
746,410 480,579
Mainland China LAT P B At S (E R
— Current year —RFE (b) 1,023,621 685,180
— Overprovision in prior year —BAFERREEE (c) (7,778) (161,781)
1,015,843 523,399
Deferred taxation (note 20) RIEFRIA(HT7£20)
— Current year —REE (147,029) (119,326)
— Underprovision in prior year —BEFERETR 1,944 40,445
(145,085) (78,881)
Total income tax expense FriSfim 4858 1,617,168 925,097
Notes: Htet -
(a) Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise Income Tax (@) WMEFEARELMBECEMSHE(CEMSR

(b)

(c)

(the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate
of the Mainland China subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008 onwards.

No Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided for as the Group had no
estimated assessable profits for both years.

Under the Provisional Rules on LAT Implementation Rules of the Mainland
China implemented on 27 January 1995, all gains from the sales or transfer
of land use rights, buildings and their attached facilities in the Mainland
China are subject to LAT at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on
the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of sales of properties less
deductible expenditures including cost of land use rights and all property
development expenditures.

The amount for the year ended 31 December 2018 included an
overprovision of LAT of RMB161,781,000 in relation to an urban
redevelopment project in Shenzhen, Mainland China. The Group had
recomputed the LAT provision based on the actual relocation compensation
to original inhabitants finalised during the year ended 31 December 2018.

(b)

(c)

EDREEMEREERGS - B =T \F—A
—Hi - PEAHTEARM KR /25% o

BN AEEN M EFELEEAGEERTAT -
UL BB E B M ST TR o

BER-—ANAF-A-+EREENTEAM LT
HIRERETIRGIERAR - rERHEREER
B A A 3 R - 1T R HAR R R T TS
BVUES - SRR DI IEET - RR TS (ERE
(BMSHEMEPT SRR AR S - BIE L6
RRAREMERRMAS)AREXE - f30%

FE0%RE

HE_Z—\F+_A=+—BItFEZLEBRE
BT B AR I B — SR T BUETR B A
ML ETEEE B ARE161,781,0007T - AEEE
BEBEE-_T—/\E+_A=1+—BLEEEER
RERELHERREHESHERBLI0EE
Bifh o
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e P RRME

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (conta) 9.

No Cambodia Corporate Income Tax has been provided for both
years. Pursuant to the Cambodia tax laws, a subsidiary of the Group is
entitled to preferential tax treatment with full exemption from Cambodia
Corporate Income Tax for three years from 14 June 2018 to 13 June
2021.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HEZ-NF+A=1+—HItFE

FrieBip < @)

7 68 B R B 4 S0 B B B 00 S T A BT R
o BEFBEBE - AEENHERAE -2 —
NEARTHERE-B-—FAXA+=HIL=
EETARBERSE  BEEREIOREL KA
851 -

NEERBRY RGBS ROBRTATRFE
BRAAT -

2019 2018
—E-hF —E—)\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARETTT
Profit before tax BR A% AT 22 K 3,367,131 2,155,500
Tax at the Mainland China EIT at 25% (2018:  1225% 7 Bl At (> 2SR B R (—F— N\
25%) F 1 25%) 841,783 538,875
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax 7R AT HIH B & KR IS 22
purposes 145,363 73,126
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax BERBTRANTR IS E
purposes (112,385) (70,739)
Tax effect of temporary difference arising from 723Kk K FE AL 89 BT B Z= REFTEE AL OB
withholding tax for undistributed profits V-2 = 11,000
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AR IBEEEOR ST E 17,809 71
Utilisation of tax losses previously not BRI AR 2 TR IE R 1B
recognised (364) (44,007)
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences RFERR 2 AT B s =58 2 T ig o  28
not recognised 127 2,805
Mainland China LAT charge FR B A (R ST 1,015,843 523,399
Effect of tax exemption granted to a subsidiary [FISEIFHZEN B A al X HIEHRE 2 &
in Cambodia (13,811) =
Tax effect of Mainland China LAT charge R A I E R S 2 B R e 2 (253,961) (130,850)
(Overprovision) underprovision in prior year BATE(BEREB) BETZ (19,250) 13,330
Others HAih (3,986) 8,087
Income tax expense for the year NEEREHRZ 1,617,168 925,097
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 10. EEREEME
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEHWS
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 11 (2018: 9) ENSEMIIG(ZE—N\F : 9R8)EEFH
directors are as follows: KBTS -

Equity-  Contributions

Salaries settled  to retirement
and share-based benefit
Fees allowance payments scheme Total
LUREREE
BURRAR 2 4 BIRER
HE HEREH IR FHEIHER @st
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000

Wi ARETL  ARETL  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR

2019 —E-hE

Executive directors HITES

Ms. Huang Jingshu EET Lt - 2,762 - 120 2,882

Mr. Tang Shouchun ESHELL (a) - 2,287 - 114 2,401

Mr. Ye Xingan HEERTAE - 2,050 - 51 2,101

Ms. Deng Chengying BEEL+ (b) - 2,037 - - 2,037

Mr. Huang Hao Yuan =R E - 1,251 - = 1,251

Mr. Siu Chi Hung RS E (c) - 465 - 12 477

- 10,852 - 297 11,149

Non-executive director FHTES

Ms. Li Lihong TEALT (d) - - - - -

Independent non-executive BV EHITES

directors

Mr. Zhu Jiusheng MNBEEE (e) 63 - - = 63

Mr. Wang Jing Taks 229 - - = 229

Ms. Hu Gin Ing i e 255 - - - 255

Mr. Mo Fan ENEE (f) 155 - - - 155
702 - - - 702
702 10,852 - 297 11,851

gR(FE)MERABRAE 453
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (cont«d)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Cont'd)

10. EEREEME»)

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

(@) EBME(#E)

Equity-  Contributions
Salaries settled  to retirement
and  share-based benefit
Fees allowance payments scheme Total
ARG RS
PARRA 24+ RIRIEF
we  HekEl KR SHEIMER fst
Notes RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Kt ARETT AREFT AREFT ARETT AREFT
2018 —E-N\E
Executive directors HITEE
Ms. Huang Jingshu EARET 22+ - 2,310 382 116 2,808
Mr. Tang Shouchun BEEHEALE (a) = 2,201 850 110 3,161
Mr. Ye Xingan B EIL A = 1,900 850 59 2,809
Ms. Deng Chengying B4+ (b) - 1,500 722 = 2,222
Mr. Huang Hao Yuan  E/&R&ELE = 827 382 38 1,247
- 8,738 3,186 323 12,247
Non-executive director JEHITES
Ms. Li Lihong FRBALT (d) = = - - -
Independent non- BYKHITES
executive directors
Mr. Zhu Jiusheng MNBEE (e) 245 - 255 - 500
Mr. Wang Jing FaksE 220 - 255 - 475
Ms. Hu Gin Ing AR iz £ 245 - 255 - 500
710 - 765 - 1,475
710 8,738 3,951 323 13,722
Notes: (a)  Appointed and acted as the Chief Executive Officer of the Wi (@) EEREWERRNDRITHAEE -

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

()

Company.

Acted as Executive Director of the Company since 15 May
2014 and resigned on 20 September 2019.

Appointed and acted as the Executive Director of the

Company since 20 September 2019.

Appointed and acted as the Non-executive Director of the
Company since 29 March 2018.

Acted as the Independent Non-executive Director of the

Company since 15 May 2014 and resigned on 8 April 2019.

Appointed and acted as the Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company since 8 April 2019.

LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
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(b)

()

BT NFRATHARERER
RPTES IR -_T—AFhA=
+ BEHE -

BE-Z-NENAA-+HEEREY

ERARFMITES -

AT \FZA-t+HhBHRERT
WHEAARRRIIEAITES -

BE-Z-WEAATARRERER
ABMIFTES YN _—F—NF
A\ BBHE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

10. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (contd)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ emoluments (Cont’d)

Except Ms. Li Lihong who agreed not to receive remuneration
during her service period as the non-executive director, no
other directors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments for
the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018. The executive
directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company
and the Group. The non-executive director’'s and independent
non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services as directors of the Company.

Employees’ emoluments

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year
included three directors (2018: three directors). Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining two (2018: two) highest
paid employees who are neither a director nor chief executive of
the Company are as follows:

e P RRME

10. EEREEM= @

(a)

(b)

EEMEe(E)

HE_T-—NEFErR=FT—N\F+=ZA=+—H
IHFE  BREBAZTRENETE IR AR
BEAIERTEBR 2SN - BIEEMESN
EZRRIBERETAIE - ERATFIAITESRH
& AR EREREANRRAEBEBLRER
TEHREN o ERFTVIBEMITE S MIB M IERIT
EENNS ARSETAQRESMRE Y
RS B0 SR B

EEMS

RER AEBLUSSHHESED - 2148
ZREBE(CT)N\F: =R) c AFEEHTMH
F(ZZE-N\F : MB)AFEARRERNIEE
2TBRABZRSHHER ZFHMFENT

2019 2018

— —T)\F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT AREFIT

Salaries, allowance and benefits in kind HE - R REYWREF 3,881 3,500
Equity-settled share-based payments VAR HE 45 & AR (D 2 St RO 308 - 1,571
Contributions to retirement benefit scheme  ERIEFIETEI i3k 51 59
3,932 5,130

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the
directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within the
followings bands is as follows:

NET5IME BB WHAATEEZ BEH
BERABIT :

2019 2018
—E-hE —T-N\F

Hong Kong Dollar (“HK$”) 2,000,001 to 2,000,001 ([Ex)E
HK$2,500,000 2,500,000/ 7T 2 =
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7t 23,000,000/ 7T - 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001/ 7t 23,500,000/8 7T = 1
2 2

— =

—=

BR(PE)MERERRAF 495
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11.

12.

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

DIVIDENDS 1. RE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —T-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARETT
Dividends recognised as distribution during FAERED RIS
the year:
2018 Final dividend- HK5.3 cents (equivalent —Z&— N\ REIA%E — 5.3/l
to approximately RMB4.65 cents) (FERHAREEL655) 234,207 -
2017 Final dividend- HK5 cents (equivalentto —Z&—+ 4 RHIA% S — 55l
approximately RMB4.40 cents) (FHERHAREL405) - 201,740

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend in respect
of the year ended 31 December 2019 of HK6.1 cents (equivalent to
approximately RMB5.46 cents) (2018: HK5.3 cents) per ordinary share
of the Company has been proposed by the directors of the Company and
is subject to approval by the shareholders in the forthcoming general
meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE 12.

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable
to the owners of the Company is based on the following data:

BEHRR  ARREFZRREBE_TNF
TZAZT - HLEFERPREERARREBER
6.1BMBEERNARKS460) (ZF—\F :53
Bl - EEFRRNEERRAE L4 -

BREFN

72 TR 1 S AR S 8 AR T B A T B
st

2019 2018
—B-hF = )\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT
Earnings &R
Earnings for the purposes of basic earnings AR:TEERERETHET]
per share 1,749,884 1,237,167
Effect of dilutive potential earnings in BITEERTE AT SIERN
respect of — Convertible bonds FE—ARRES 23,891 (18,803)
Earnings for the purposes of diluted earnings R s & GRS 2 A & F)
per share 1,773,775 1,218,364

LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

12.

13.

e P RRME

EARNINGS PER SHARE (conta) 12. BRER @)
2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZE-N\F
Number of shares REE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares ~ AR EFAREARZ TR AR 7 Em A%
of the Company for the purpose of basic Ik
earnings per share 4,982,703,643 4,906,539,369
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares in A ESE LR A TS IEN T E
respect of
— Share options — B 74,021,926 94,740,027
— Convertible bonds — AR E S 127,022,653 431,840,962
— Convertible preference shares — ARRE LR 3,374,231,808 3,527,514,957

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
of the Company for the purpose of diluted
earnings per share

I8

ARG ESREERTNARRNE

bailike

8,557,980,030 8,960,635,315

The computation of diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31
December 2019 does not assume the conversion of certain outstanding
convertible bonds of the Group as the conversion would result in an
increase in earnings per share.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out various offices, residential properties and retail
stores under operating leases with rentals payable monthly. The leases
typically run for an initial period of one to fourteen years.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the lease
arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the respective functional
currencies of group entities. The lease contracts do not contain any
residual value guarantees or any lessee’s option to purchase the
property.

13.

HEEECZE-NFT AT BILEFESNER
BEAMNE  WERRAEEETHARTENT S
BEFEL SR RERNBEEHERATIEM -

REWE

AEERBEEHEELZANRAE FEVER
TERH HERRAXMN EREE—ROLEH
Hi—Z=+meF o

HRATAEEEONEEEESBNIREERE
HASEMERNEEREMAZINERR - HES
WU BEEAFRBEEERIAEATEEREH
WA ETER A -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (contd) 13. REWZE#)

HE_Z-NFTZA=+—HILFE  7ERK

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the total cash outflow for leases

classified as investment properties is RMB25,598,000.

EMEZHEZRE R EE R ARKE25,598,000

T o
Investment
Completed properties under
investment development
properties at fair value Total
EXR RAAKLEBEBEARZ
REWE BRPREME et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFIT AREF T AREFIT
At 1 January 2018 R-ZE—N\F—HF—H 11,624,589 8,026,088 19,650,677
Transfer from properties held for EE A EEEE
sale 162,692 - 162,692
Additions NE - 1,590,400 1,590,400
Disposals HE (4,835) - (4,835)
Transfer upon completion TA ST AR 15 B3 756,463 (756,463) -
Increase in fair value recognised in  ERNIER Z A BEE M
profit or loss, unrealised REAIR 175,006 148,455 323,461
Exchange adjustments bE H R = 394,856 394,856
At 31 December 2018 RZZE—N\F+=-_A=+—H 12,713,915 9,403,336 22,117,251
Adjustment upon application of RIERB B IERE R
HKFRS16 (note 2) F16R BB H2) 220,423 - 220,423
At 1 January 2019 (restated) RZZE-hF-A—BHKEE7) 12,934,338 9,403,336 22,337,674
Additions NE = 545,036 545,036
Transfer upon completion TATTRK 14 B3 10,439,446 (10,439,446) =
Transfer to property, plant and HETYE  BERERE
equipment (note 14) (Ktat14) = (520,459) (520,459)
Acquired on an acquisition of a e B[ EIESNGIISE PN
subsidiary (note 38(a)) (H1:+38(a)) - 291,024 291,024
Increase in fair value recognised in MBS NIER Z A BEE M
profit or loss, unrealised RELIR 180,523 515,855 696,378
Exchange adjustments Ve 5 R 13,222 204,654 217,876
At 31 December 2019 N-ZE—-hE+=-_A=+—H 23,567,529 - 23,567,529

All the completed investment properties are rented out under operating
leases or are held for capital appreciation purposes.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

13.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Conta)

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties with aggregate
carrying value of RMB23,567,529,000 as at 31 December 2019 (2018:
RMB22,117,251,000) were arrived at on the basis of valuations carried
out on those dates by Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and
Advisory Limited, which is a firm of independent qualified professional
valuers not connected to the Group.

As 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of investment properties
that were leased out under subleases amounted to RMB216,600,000.
During the year ended 31 December 2019, income from subleasing
these properties amounted to RMB32,302,000 and a fair value loss of
these properties amounted to RMB3,823,000 was recognised in profit of
loss.

For completed investment properties, the valuations have been arrived
at using income capitalisation approach, where the market rentals
of all lettable units of the properties are assessed by reference to the
rentals achieved in the lettable units as well as other lettings of similar
properties in the neighbourhood. The capitalisation rate adopted is made
by reference to the yield rates observed by the valuer for the similar
properties in the locality and adjusted based on the valuers’ knowledge
of the factors specific to the respective properties.

For investment properties under development that are measured at fair
value, the valuations have been arrived at residual approach assuming
that the investment properties will be completed in accordance with
the development proposals and the relevant approvals for the proposals
have been obtained. The key inputs in the valuations include the market
value of the completed investment properties, which are estimated with
reference to sales evidence of similar properties in the nearest locality,
with adjustments made to account for differences in locations and
other factors specific to the respective properties based on the valuers’
judgement. Costs of development are also taken into account including
construction costs, finance costs and professional fees, as well as
developer’s profit margin which reflects the remaining risks associated
with the development of the properties at the valuation date and the
return that the developer would require for bringing them to completion
status, which is determined by the valuers based on its analyses of recent
land transactions and market value of similar completed properties in the
respective locations.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, the highest and
best use of the investment properties is their current use. The fair values
of certain investment properties have been adjusted to exclude prepaid
or accrued operating lease income to avoid double counting.

13.

e P RRME

REWMER =)

R-ZZE—-—AFE+_A=+—8 AEBE@EAEE
A AR #23567,529,0007t( —ZF — )\ F : AR
22,117,251,00070 ) 2 I EW 3 2 A i BE TR
ERITEETGHRBABRAANZBFTETHE
BIER AR AENEBY EBE 2B A ER
HELERT -

RIZE-AF+-A=+—0 BEIEELNEK
EYEEmERARE216,600,0007T « BE T —
NFT-A=1T—HIFE K2 EZEMED
Woas A A R #32,302,0007T - MZEMENRAE
EEER/ARK3,823,000T - ZEAABEBER
BRI RERR

RERRBEMENE - KAEERARAA R
HRET - MENFATHBEEOTERS S
B A 11 L B8 i LA SR BB AR LM S ) K A A B 4 2
BHASRITIFE - RAZ EAMELEHBRE
FRILY 2 0 ek 3 A0 AR IR (AR AT AN B R VS
1T -

HRRANEBEMABZERTREVENS @ HED
ENRELIBRRZEREDELCRERRRERD
MENHEARSNOMETT - AENEZH AR
BRECTRIREYMERNTE - T2 E RIS E L
YR ERBME - R RBGERHE D
FERAERAREMENEBTIRSELETH
B ZELEREXETAAZE  BFZRAK
R BEKANBEE A RAZEFOFBER(REE
I A R 40 2 7 3 0 R0 65 [ B 5 35 PR 68 W) SR B
BRI IR ) - 3R AR TOAR YR ik (B R 273 28
TR SN IAREBALE TR ETLEENS
HrimEsE

EHREMEN D A BER - RENEZ B AR
AEERBERS - ETRANENAABEDH
OO TB A ST S TR B M A fEtH B - BT
W -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

13. REVME #)
RZEBE—NEFR_ZE—NEFE+_A=+—8 £&

BEBREMEZDABEHNEMBZEIZHAM
IRER T

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (contd)

The major inputs used in the fair value measurement of the Group’s
major investment properties as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 are set
out below:

Relationship of
unobservahble
inputs to fair value Sensitivity

Investment properties held by
the Group in the consolidated  Fair value
statement of financial position hierarchy

Valuation technique

and key inputs Significant unobservahle inputs

TA8E
REEEHBRRRAE DREE fEERITR BAHER
FEEEANRENE £ TEBARE IEFABRAAYNE AREEZEE SRE

Completed investment

properties

BRRIREN ¥

Completed investment Level 3 Income Capitalisation  Capitalisation rate, taking into account  The higher the A slight increase in
properties located in the Approach the capitalisation of rental income capitalisation the capitalisation
Mainland China with an potential, nature of the property, rate, the lower rate used
aggregate carrying amount The key inputs are: and prevailing market condition, the fair value. would result
of RMB13,408,400,000 (1) Capitalisation of a range from 1.5% to 6.0% in a significant
(31.12.2018: rate; and (31.12.2018: from 2.0% to 6.0%). decrease in fair
RMB12,580,001,000) (2) Monthly market value, and vice

rent. versa.

CRRBEAMAE TRIEE E=& WAERGEE A RENMEBRWNES - N BN RH PR AL/
M REAEAARE BERERTR BRAMELERLSS & AREE RIRFHEHL
13,408,400,0007C( =& FTEGABENT ¢ E6.0%(ZE—NFF+-A=1— R o REEANER
—NFF+ZRA=+—H: (DERbEE : & H :2.0%%6.0%) ° 1] R4 e
AR#12,580,001,000 (mz A -
7T)

Monthly market rent, taking into The higher the A significant
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account the completion time,
location, and individual factors,
such as frontage and size, between
the comparables and the property,
at an average of a range from
RMB4 to RMB707 (31.12.2018:
from RMB4 to RMB600) per square
metre (“sgm”) per month on gross
floor area basis.

BRI - LB MEEE RN
BEERBRE  UEEEEAR
£FAFEHKR(FAK)FHN
FAREATEARETIO7TT(ZF
—N\F+ZA=+—H8: AR¥4
TEAREEG00TT) ©

monthly market
rent, the higher
the fair value.

s ARG R EEEYE TEARES

DRBEES -

increase in the
monthly market
rent used
would result

in a significant
increase in fair
value, and vice
versa.

FA™%S AT AR

EMBERNAR
BEAREEM -
RZIR



For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE—Z-NF+A=1+—HItFE

13.

Investment properties held by

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Conta)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P RRME

13. BREM= 2

Relationship of

the Group in the consolidated  Fair value Valuation technique unohservahble
statement of financial position hierarchy and key inputs Significant unobservable inputs inputs to fair value Sensitivity
FTAEE

PGB BRRERAE DREE fRERTTR WABEE

FEERANRENE 8 TEBAHE TEFAEREAYE DREEZBE SRBE

Completed investment Level 3 Direct Comparison Selling prices per sgm based on The higher the A significant
properties located in the Approach market observable transactions selling prices increase in the
Mainland China with an of similar properties, of a range per sqm, the selling prices
aggregate carrying amount The key input is: from RMB75,340 to RMB76,538 higher the fair per sgm used
of RMB139,900,000 Selling price per (31.12.2018: from RMB68,966 to value. would result
(31.12.2018: sgm. RMB70,702) per sgm on gross floor in a significant
RMB133,914,000) area basis. increase in fair

value, and vice
versa.

RPBEAMHE TRIRE B=& BELERE BREBBUDENAERTSRSEET STAKEEE BTHRHEEER
M REREAARE NETRHEBE  UEEEE  BEs 28 RIS EE
139,900,0007t(=ZF—N FEHABENT REEGEFANTFARKETS340 EBEYS - RRBEKEE
F+ZA=+—RH: AR BEPAKEERK . TEARKT6538T(ZT—N\F M K2R -
#133,914,0007T) +=ZA=+—8: AR®%689%67T

= ARK70,7027T) °

Completed investment
properties

ERMBREME

Completed investment Level 3 Income Capitalisation ~ Capitalisation rate, taking into account ~ The higher the A slight increase in
properties located in Approach the capitalisation of rental income capitalisation the capitalisation
Hong Kong with an potential, nature of the property, rate, the lower rate used
aggregate carrying amount The key inputs are: and prevailing market condition, of the fair value. would result
of RMB9,154,180,000 (1) Capitalisation 2.5% (31.12.2018: N/A). in a significant
(31.12.2018: N/A) rate; and decrease in fair

(2) Monthly market value, and vice
rent. versa.

R EBHBTHIRED B=H WAB ARG E KA RERNMEBRBANED - MEE  EXMRH PrAE AL/
% REREAARE BREMTR - AN ER25% & AREE ERASEHD
9,154,180,0007T(=% ZMABBRNT (ZZ—NF+ZRA=+—HB: F MUK o AEBEKNIER
NE+=ZA=+—-H8: % M BERNMEEE: & #BA)- 18 - 2R -
#A) (2) B AM

Monthly market rent, taking into The higher the A significant

account the completion time,
location, and individual factors, such
as frontage and size, between the
comparables and the property, at an
average of a range from RMB310
to RMB350 (31.12.2018: N/A) per
sgm per month on gross floor area
basis.

35 ARt RATB LR Ry %
2R TR -~ (LB R AN
RESRERR  WEEREAE
RZAGTHRTEANTARE
310 E AR (ZE—N\F
+=-B=1+—8: TEH) °

increase in the
monthly market
rent used
would result

in a significant
increase in fair
value, and vice

monthly market
rent, the higher
the fair value.

versa.
miZAEES 0 FIATSARAR
AREEYS - ENEEH AR
BEAEEM -
2 TR o
8 434
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (contd)

Investment properties held by

For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE—TNE+- A=+ AILEE

13. REVME #)

Relationship of

the Group in the consolidated  Fair value Valuation technique unohservahle
statement of financial position hierarchy and key inputs Significant unohservable inputs inputs to fair value Sensitivity
FAHE
REEHBRRTRAE DREE fRERTR [IPN- ¢3!
FEERFENRENS £ TEBAHE TETTHEGARE DRBEEZBE SRBE
Completed investment Level 3 Income Capitalisation  Capitalisation rate, taking into account  The higher the A slight increase in
properties located in Approach the capitalisation of rental income capitalisation the capitalisation
Cambodia with an potential, nature of the property, rate, the lower rate used
aggregate carrying amount The key inputs are: and prevailing market condition, the fair value. would result
of RMB865,049,000 (1) Capitalisation of a range from 8.3% t0 9.3% in a significant
(31.12.2018: N/A) rate; and (31.12.2018: N/A). decrease in fair
(2) Monthly market value, and vice
rent. versa.
URRBERNETHIEED F=R WABAGHEE B REXMCESIMAEN - EM B R PR A L3/
¥ RHAERARE BEREMMR  ENMELEANT & AREE RIRFHEHL
865,049,0007L(=F—\ TEGABENT ¢ 83%F93%(ZE—N\F+=_A= R o REEKNER
E+-A=+—0: 1@ (D) BEREE: kR +—8: ~@ER) - 1] - 2R -
A) (2 mHAM -
Monthly market rent, taking into The higher the A significant

LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
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account the completion time,
location, and individual factors, such
as frontage and size, between the
comparables and the property, at an
average of a range from RMB103

to RMB165 (31.12.2018: N/A) per
sgm per month on gross floor area
basis.

35 A MRS R AT A LR S B 5
2R TR - (L8 REGA RN
HIEERERZ  DEREARAE
EGRABTAREANTARK
103LE AR (ZE—N\F
+ZA=+—H: TER) -

monthly market
rent, the higher
the fair value.

misAEMS -
AAEBEES -

increase in the
monthly market
rent used
would result

in a significant
increase in fair
value, and vice
versa.

FTAT™5 ARAR
=Y IESECE N
EEAREM -
RZ TR -
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BBt A= RAEE e M HRAR MR

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (conta) 13. REWZE )
Investment properties held by Relationship of
the Group in the consolidated  Fair value Valuation technique unohservahble
statement of financial position hierarchy and key inputs Significant unobservable inputs inputs to fair value Sensitivity
FTAEE
PGB BRRERAE DREE fRERTTR WABEE
FEERANRENE 8 TEBAHE TEFAEREAYE DREEZBE SRBE

Investment properties under
development that are
measured at fair value as
at 31 December 2018

RZE-NE+ZA=+—
ARAABEFEZER

FIREM
Investment properties under  Level 3 Cost Approach Costs of building on completion basis,  The higher A significant
development located in the taking into account the construction the costs of increase in
Mainland China with an The key inputs were: costs incurred, accrued construction building, the costs of building
aggregate carrying amount (1) Costs of building; costs and relevant fees, and higher the fair would result
of RMB145,011,000 and the value of land between the value. in a significant
(2) Developer's comparable and the property, of increase in fair
profit margin RMB126,277,000. value, and vice
versa.
URPEAHERTRE =& BRASE HEKEEMEZ BERAETRE BFRAES - BFERAKEEN
M REAEEAARE EEMESEAR - RETESEKAR DREESS .  HERAREE
145,011,0007T FEHAZENT RIBEAE AR AT E LR ER RIEEM - R2
(1) BFHA : & ZWEZ BN LHEEAARE TRIA
(2) MEERER 126,277,0007T °
Developer’s profit margin, taking The higher the A significant
into account the comparable land developer's increase in
transactions and progress of the profit margin, developer’s
property, of 20%. the higher the profit margin
fair value. used would
resultina
significant

increase in fair
value, and vice

versa.
BT RAJBRR TR Z R E#E REEABEZE  MAREEMEE
& - REEMNEER20% ° = RAEE AIBIE A4 B B
% o DRBEAEE
m- RZIFA o

E%E]u

BR(FESERRBRLD 45

—E-NEFFR
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (contd)

Investment properties held by
the Group in the consolidated  Fair value
statement of financial position hierarchy

Valuation technique
and key inputs

Significant unohservable inputs

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

13. REVME #)

Relationship of
unobservahble
inputs to fair value Sensitivity

FAHE

REEHBRRTRAE DREE fRERTR WAREE

FEERFENRENS £ TERARE TEFABERARE AEEZBRE BEE

Investment properties under  Level 3 Residual Approach Gross development value on The higher A significant
development located completion basis, taking into the gross increase in gross
in Hong Kong with an The key inputs were: account the completion time, development development
aggregate carrying amount (1) Gross location, and individual factors, value, the value used
of RMB8,455,330,000 development such as frontage and size, between higher the fair would result

value; and the comparable and the property, of value. in a significant

(2) Developer's RMB9,638,200,000. increase in fair

profit margin. value, and vice
versa.

MR BANERPRED B=H RE* REAREEMEC BRBERLHT R LHREEEY FTAEREEER
¥ RHAERARE AENBYERZMERCEERT & AREE RIEIMEEH D
8,455,330,0007T FEHAZBENT KE - UERGEHMATAESE HB&- REEAEE

(1) BRA%EE: & IBR %A AR 9,638,200,0007T ° m- RZIFA »
(2) MEREMEE -
Developer’'s profit margin, taking The higher the A significant
into account the comparable land developer's increase in
transactions and progress of the profit margin, developer's
property, of 10%. the lower the profit margin
fair value. used would
resultin a
significant
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decrease in fair
value, and vice

Versa.
EARAELEBI MRS RYFE REFNEERE ARRERIEX
B RAEEIEER10% - B RAEE RIEEINEH R
L o REEARER

b RZIFA
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE—Z-NF+A=1+—HItFE

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (contd)

Investment properties held by
the Group in the consolidated Fair value
statement of financial position hierarchy

Valuation technique
and key inputs

Significant unobservahle inputs

e P RRME

13. BEWXE#)

Relationship of
unobservahle
inputs to fair value Sensitivity

FTAEE
WG B BRRERAE DREE RERITR BABEE
FEBEENRENE 8 TEBAYE TERTEHEGABE DAREEZBE SRBE
Investment properties under  Level 3 Residual Approach Gross development value on The higher A significant
development located completion basis, taking into the gross increase in gross
in Cambodia with an The key inputs were: account the completion time, development development
aggregate carrying amount (1) Gross location, and individual factors, value, the value used
of RMB802,995,000 development such as frontage and size, between higher the fair would result
value; and the comparable and the property, of value. in a significant
(2) Developer's RMB926,532,000. increase in fair
profit margin. value, and vice
versa.
URRERNERTREN F=R REE HEKEEME BRBEECTR LHREEEY PrAEREEER
¥ KREREA/ARE AELRRYERZMERCERT & AREAE REINEEHD
802,995,0007T FEBASBNT Fef « AL B RERETHAARIEE M e REEKNEE
(1) BFREEE & HRZA AR926,532,0007T © m- RZIFA o
(2) BB -
Developer’s profit margin, taking The higher the A significant
into account the comparable land developer’s increase in
transactions and progress of the profit margin, developer's
property, of 5%. the lower the profit margin
fair value. used would
resultina
significant

There were no transfers in or out of Level 3 during both years.

decrease in fair
value, and vice

Versa.
EARABNBELHRGRMEE  HAEEAERE  FAREEFIEER
& HEEFERES% - g AR(EE KN E s
R o DA EEKER
Do R

RREFER - F=RUEEALED -

BR(FESERABRAT 155

—E-NEFFR
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. 9% - BERRE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I HRAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

Leasehold Computer
Leasehold [and and Machinery software,
Freghold Hotel [and and huildings and electronic fumiture ~ Construction
[and property huildings in the Building Motor equipment and in
inUSA inUSA inHK  Mainland China  improvements vehicles and others fixtures progress Total
£EAA FL] EEEE  TEAMEE BERET HERZE
EELH EENE  HRER  IHRET BFEE fE  REREE  BRR%E ARIR 3t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT  ARETT  ARETR  ARBTn  ARETn  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR ARETR
COST A
At 1 January 2018 R=E-\E-A-A 15821 130,178 - 402083 37,94 20419 27,909 2819 663 657811
Exchange adjustment B % 7% 6,65 - - - 21 - 13 - 7,607
Additions AE - 63,149 - 9,162 1632 198 888 1,071 419 78306
Disposals/writien off HE /i - - - - = - (750) - - (750)
At 31 December 2018 R-E-\E+-A=1-R 16,616 199,983 - 411,205 39586 245 2,047 24,025 1,087 78974
Exchange adjustment B 274 2268 - - 1,046 7 - ) - 3646
Addtions HE - 16,79 - - 877 2846 1,106 690 29884 52,201
Transfer upon completion REmEER - - - - - - 468 - (468) -
Transfer from investment propertis ~ EEBRANE (Hi13)
(note 13) - - 520,459 - - - - - - 520459
Acquired on acquisiton of a subsidiary B -TIHBATEEA
(note 38(3)) (H7238)) - = = = = 8 109 9 - 146
Derecognised on disposal of a subsidiary P E—BRBATER |
(note 39) BHi#39) = = = = - - (143) - - (143)
Disposalshten of it /s - - - - (2.724) (313 (16) 79 - (3,130)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NETZA=1-H 168% 219,050 520,459 411,209 38,785 24973 29570 A7 30503 1316,152
DEPRECIATION nE
At 1 January 2018 R-E-\f-f-A - 288 - 160,792 2032 12781 B4 15,603 - 243,940
Exchange adjustment 5 A - 53 - - 3 7 - 5 - 602
Provided for the year EEARE = 1209% - 17,715 2518 3603 1,544 317 - 40,652
Eiiminated on disposalsiwriten off HE /M - - - - - - (613) - - (613)
At 31 December 2018 RZZ-\E+-A=1-H - 14916 - 178507 31,553 16391 24375 18839 - 284581
Exchange adjustment Ef % - 37 - - - 0] - 0 - 3%
Provided for the year EREE - 14370 - 13799 2814 2807 1318 1840 - 3748
Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries ~ HEMBARF 4 - - - - - - (129) - - (129)
Eliminated on disposalsfriten off HE /s - - - - (1,860) (254) 9 (35) = (2158)
At 31 December 2019 R=E-NFt-A=t-H - 29653 - 192,306 32,507 18943 26,09 20,674 - 320138
CARRYING VALUES FAE
At 31 December 2019 R=E-NE+ZA=1-H 168% 189,397 520,459 218899 6,218 6,030 3515 4083 30503 996,014
At 31 December 2018 N=2-\E+-A=1-H 16,616 185,067 - 232,698 8,033 6,034 3672 5,186 1,087 458393
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

15.

e P RRME

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont) 14. Y% - BERRHEH @)
The carrying amounts of owner-occupied leasehold land and buildings, HRARRAESRAELERIELAE I hEETF
situated in the Mainland China and HK, at the end of the reporting period O HIDER » MEBARNZEZURTE A RES
included both the leasehold land and building elements in property, ZERAHEIHREFHAYE - BERXEAD
plant and equipment, as in the opinion of the directors of the Company, HE T REFH o
allocations of the carrying amounts between the leasehold land and
buildings elements cannot be made reliably.
The above items of property, plant and equipment, except for freehold EXFrii - WEREEBEE (RRERZ KA
land in USA and construction in progress, are depreciated on a straight- ERETH RERETIZRIN) IABERER AT ERE
line basis at the following rates per annum: E:
Hotel property in USA 5% to 10% ZBAE 5%Z10%
Leasehold land and buildings in  Over the shorter of the term of the AR B2 B E i & HEBK2%E5%
the Mainland China lease, or 2% to 5% EgF (B2 =A%)
Leasehold land and buildings in ~ Over the shorter of the term of the UREBZHET HRETF FHEH2%E5%
the HK lease, or 2% to 5% (B & )
Building improvements 10% to 33Y/5% BFHEE 10%%33",%
Motor vehicles 20% to 25% RE 20%Z%E25%
Machinery and electronic 10% to 33Y3% R B TRk R B Ath 10%Z33Y,%
equipment and others
Computer software, furniture and 20% to 33Y:% FTEME T RALREE 20%%33Y,%
fixtures
GOODWILL 15. B8
2019 2018
—E-hE —T—N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARBTFT
At 31 December R+=-—A=+—8~ 231,602 231,602

The amount represents goodwill arising from the Acquisition (defined in
note 37(ii)(a)), which has been allocated to the group of cash generating
units (“CGU") in the real estate development and sales segment. The
recoverable amount of the goodwill has been determined based on a
value in use calculation. That calculation used cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by the management covering five-
year period, and the discount rate of 9.4% (2018: 10.0%). The cash
flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a zero growth
rate. Other key assumptions for the value in use calculations relate to the
estimation of cash inflows/outflows which include budgeted sales and
gross margin, such estimation is based on management's expectations
for the market development. The management of the Group believes
that any reasonably possible change in the key estimations of the value-
in-use calculation would not cause the carrying amount to exceed its
recoverable amount. The directors of the Company determined that the
recoverable amount was higher than the carrying amount of the CGU
and hence no impairment on goodwill is required.

HEEUBEE(EE AW @)EEZEHE
(BEnREEEHEMREREESENBSEESEMA
A(BEEEENMN])) - B ZAIk[E €5 IIREE
REEETTEMET - EREREMILERESF
M 7B TEE - (£9.4% (ZF—/\4F : 10.0%)
Z AR EPIA S RIBREEITAE - BBSFNIRG
MAMEATHEREE - FHEBEMAEZEMBES
BREQEEEHEALENENBESRA R
ZEEtEE BB REEEBEMSEEEY
TEAMEL - AEBEERERE  FREEHECE
DEFTNEMAEREESH IS EHERERY
HAaE &8 - AARESEETA BREESRE
CEABMZEME  WEARERE -

BR(PEMERARRAT 437
H

—E-NFFF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

16. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE 16. R—BEEEAFINER
2019 2018
—ZE-h&F —ZT—)\F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Kt ARBT T ARBTT
Cost of investment in a joint venture R—HEEE AR ZHERR (a) 9,520 9,520
Share of post-acquisition profits and FEAEUEEEFE R 2 AR
other comprehensive income, net of HBRIER 2 A% B
dividends received (a) (3,462) (3,460)
6,058 6,060
Amount due from a joint venture U —EAa &N almIE (b) 522,318 522,318
Notes: Mz
(a) Particulars of a joint venture as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as (a) RZZBE-NFERZZE-N\F+ZA=+—H—HE&
follows: EARIKEBIT ¢
Place of Proportion
Form of establishment of voting right and
business and Paid-up percentage of
Company name nature operation capital interest held Principal activity
REER
DNEER ERME BRYREELE BB BEAD L2 TEER
RMB’000
ARBFT
Shenzhen Anyuan Industrial Established Mainland China 23,800 40% (2018: 40%)  Property development
Development Co., Ltd. (“Anyuan”)
AT RTEXERERAR BV TR, 23,800 40% MFEER

(T%=7t])

(ZF—)\F : 40%)

(b) Amount due from a joint venture represents advances to a joint venture
which is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed repayment terms. In an
opinion of the directors of the Company, the settlement of the advances is

neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

16.

Notes: (Cont'd)

(b)

e M HRAR MR

INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (cont'a) 16. R—EEE QRN ER#)
Hiat - (48)
(Cont'd) o)y (&)
Summarised financial information of Anyuan after adjusting for any TXEBLZTERG S BRNEMEEmAENN
differences in accounting policies, and a reconciliation to the carrying BERMEE - ARERE M SRR ERTE Y
amount in the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed below:
2019 2018
—E-hE —T—)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AREFIT
Non-current assets ERBEE 29 29
Current assets mENEE 549,814 549,819
Current liabilities mEaE (534,699) (534,699)
Included in the above amounts are: FTALHLERIE -
Properties under development for sale BEPHEEDE 439,702 439,702
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkBELEEY 90,000 90,006
Amount due to a shareholder AT — B IR FKIA 522,318 522,318
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the FEBEIEMEZAMY
year 5 22

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying

A LB B ERBEEEE NGRS B RE

ERzRE

amount of the interest in the joint venture recognised in the consolidated NREEREEZ R
financial statements:
2019 2018
—EB-hF =T )\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Net assets of Anyuan T AERE 15,144 15,149
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in REBRLZ TR 2 sl
Anyuan 40% 40%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in Anyuan REBNL T2 ERIRMEE 6,058 6,060
BB (FE) BERE

— =

—=

ARAT
hegg 189
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RE M RERE

17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 17. R—EBEQXTNER
2019 2018
—E-h&F T )\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT
Cost of investment in an associate R — B A A 2 B KA 2 =
Share of post-acquisition loss and other EEEREEREME2ERY
comprehensive expense, net of dividends HBRIER 2 A% B
received (2) -
Note: Kzt -
Particulars of an associate as at 31 December 2019 are as follows: RZF-NAFFA=+—BHBERRTNFENT :
Place of Proportion
Form of establishment of voting right and
business and Issued share percentage of
Company name nature operation capital interest held Principal activity
REREZ LB
DREE =1 B REE S ERITRA REFSEZEAL TEER
Intelligent City Development Incorporated Hong Kong 10,000 shares 25% Investment holding
Limited (“ICDL") and of HK$1 each and property
its subsidiaries development
BERTERARAR 10,0008% AR R
(ME&mm ) REKBEAR AL a5 SREELST 2’5 25% MEER
On 28 October 2019, Greater Bay Area Intelligent City Limited (“GBAIC”), a RZZ—AF+A=Z+N\B  REREEHMARAR (X
direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Affluent Bright Investments BEBERT]  ARRZEEZENBAR)  HAKRES
Limited (“Affluent Bright”) and Mr. Wong entered into the subscription agreement RAFI(DHRA D) EESEERTRERZ - Bt - KEREE
pursuant to which GBAIC agreed to subscribe 99.99% equity interest of Affluent W R B REEAZ99.99% %4 - MimrAEE —M2EkH
Bright, which has a wholly-owned subsidiary, Affluent Bright Investments (HK) BARRIZE(FA)ERAR  ZARHEREESEHM
Limited, which indirectly owned 25% of equity interest of ICDL and its subsidiaries. REMB AR 225% M - RBREIHZZ G - HIHRE
Pursuant to the terms of the subscription agreement, the subscription price of the f& 15 2 R (E A10,000% 7T - RFEAIE - &S Bl A
subscription shares of Affluent Bright is US$10,000. Upon completion, the Affluent BB ST R E A HEAE99.99% M0.01 % - WK A
Bright will be owned as to 99.99% and 0.01% by the GBAIC and Mr. Wong, RABIZIEZEWRBRR - ZXHERRBATK °

respectively, and will become a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. The
transaction was completed on the same date.
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17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (contd) 17. A—REBE QRN ES )
Note: (Cont'd) K : ()
Summarised financial information of ICDL and its subsidiaries after adjusting for TXBREZETRENBARE SRR EAZEN

AENMERBIE - UREGAMSRRREEMEH :

any differences in accounting policies, and a reconciliation to the carrying amount
in the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed below:

2019
—ZE-hF
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Non-current assets IEMEEE 2,259,424
Current assets MENEE 1,183,324
Current liabilities mENAE (1,638,956)
Non-current liabilities EmBBE (1,977,500)
Included in the above amounts are: FTA LKA -
Land related acquisition and development cost - AR B Uk e B R A AR 2,176,916
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBFLEEY 456,974
Deposits paid, prepayments and other receivables BEfHRE « EARIE R E A FEUGRIE 706,316
Accruals, deposits received and other payables EETER Bk e R EMEN KA (1,630,363)
Bank borrowings RITEE (1,978,500)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying A LB AR E B E WM A SRR ER 2 — M E AR
amount of the interest in an associate recognised in the consolidated financial EEAREE 2 HR -
statements:
2019
—ZE-hE
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Net liabilities of ICDL BERMAETE (173,708)
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in ICDL REERBEEW TS 2 il 25%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in ICDL AEEREEW T 2 E=REAE -
2019 2018
—E-hE —T-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T AREFT

The unrecognised share of loss of an associate for the year and FERRER 2 FE(E—RBE AT
cumulative unrecognised share of loss of an associate B R Rt AR Z E(L—TE
Bt AR EE (3,579) =

#2(TE)REREERAR 149
NFFIR
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

18. DEBT INSTRUMENT AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER BRARBEFAEMCEZEHKE 2B
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME =
2019 2018
= ZFNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETFT
Government bond, with fixed interest of 3.76% EfFfEs% @ EEEFE E3.76% K%
per annum and maturity date on 14 August R AT _=FNA+HEA
2023 - 20,000

19. EQUITY INSTRUMENT AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER

19. ZBRARBEFARMEZEH K 2 KRAE

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME TH
2019 2018
—B-hF —EFN\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTT

Listed investments: FHEE
— Equity securities listed in the Mainland — AR B N T 2 AR IERE 5 (1 at)

China (Note) 541,125 490,816

Note:

The above listed equity investment represents 0.4% equity interests in an entity
listed in the Mainland China. This investment is not held for trading, instead, it is
held for long-term strategic purposes. The directors of the Company have elected
to designate this investment in equity instrument as FVTOCI as they believe that
recognising short-term fluctuations in this investment’s fair value in profit or loss
would not be consistent with the Group’s strategy of holding the investment for
long-term purposes and realising its performance potential in the long run.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

20. DEFERRED TAX 20. ELEHIE

TR ERELNREEHREE(BE)NWEBNT

The movements in deferred tax assets (liabilities) arising from temporary

differences are as follows:

Withholding
tax for Valuation  Accelerated
undistributed  on investment tax  Fairvalue Accrual Pre-sale
Tax losses profits ~ properties  depreciation  adjustments for LAT deposits Others Total
AOWAE  REME  MBHE  OREE ERi
Rk MRS fhE & il HEH  RERS At &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETn ARETR ARETT ARETn ARETR
Balance as at 1 January 2018 RZB-\F-A-AzEH 28,350 (22050)  (2,206915)  (151,258) (25,248) 137,209 9,642 (17193)  (2,307463)
(Charge) credit o the profit or loss (note 9) BB AR (28350) (11000  (47,183)  (32765) - 11890 11974 - 1193%
Underprovision in prior year (note 9) BAFERETR(H79) - - - - - (40,445) - - (40,445)
Charge to other comprehensive income RE 2 ARG = - - - (11639) = - - (11639)
Balance as at 31 December 2018 RZF-\E+ZA=1-R
5 = (33,080) (2314,098)  (184,023) (36,837) 215,664 129,366 (17193)  (2,240221)
Adjustments (note 2) FRH22) = = (22175) - = = - - (22,175)
At 1 January 2019 (restated) R-F-hE-F-BBE) - (3050 (23%273) (84023 (36887 25664 1%  (171%) (22623%)
Credit (charge) tothe profitor loss (note 9) ~ BBEETA(FIR) (A9 131314 - @3%) (32 - B 3082 - 40
Underprovision in prior year (note 9) BEERRETR (W29 - - - - - (1,944) - - (1,944)
Charge to other comprehensive income REZERENR - - - - (12,577) - - - (12,577)
Balance as at 31 December 2019 R-E-AE+-A=1-H
LER 131314 (330500 (2378640)  (217,253) (49.464) 335,304 98,544 (17193)  (2,129.889)
The following is the analysis of the deferred taxation balances for MU BHREERNME - EEFIBERIITOT -
financial reporting purposes:
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TF T ARETTT
Deferred tax assets FERIBEE 565,713 345,030
Deferred tax liabilities REREA R (2,695,601) (2,585,251)
(2,129,888) (2,240,221)
B2 (HEERE

— =

—=
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20.

DEFERRED TAX (contd)

The EIT Law and its implementation rules impose a withholding tax
at 10%, unless reduced by a tax treaty or arrangement, for dividends
distributed by the Mainland China-resident enterprises to their non-
Mainland China-resident corporate investors for profits earned since 1
January 2008. Under the Sino-Hong Kong Double Tax Arrangement,
a qualified Hong Kong tax resident is entitled to a reduced withholding
tax rate of 5% if the Hong Kong tax resident is the “beneficial owner”
and holds 25% or more of the equity interests of the Mainland China
enterprise directly. Since the Group controls the quantum and timing of
distribution of profits of the Group’s subsidiaries in the Mainland China,
deferred tax liabilities are only provided to the extent that such profits are
expected to be distributed in the foreseeable future.

At 31 December 2019, temporary differences relating to the accumulated
undistributed profits of the Group’s Mainland China subsidiaries
amounted to RMB4,757,025,000 (2018: RMB3,156,160,000).
Except for the accumulated undistributed profit of the Group’s
Mainland China subsidiaries amounted to RMB661,000,000 (2018:
RMB661,000,000), no deferred tax liability was recognised in respect
of the taxable temporary differences of RMB4,096,025,000 (2018:
RMB2,495,160,000) as of 31 December 2019 as the Group controlled
the dividend policy of these subsidiaries.

At 31 December 2019, the Group has unused deductible temporary
difference amounted to RMB26,239,000 (2018: RMB25,731,000). No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of such temporary
difference due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses of
RMB618,100,000 (2018: RMB23,066,000) available to offset against
future profits. For the year ended 31 December 2019, a deferred tax
asset had been recognised in respect of such tax losses amounting
to RMB525,256,000 (2018:nil) and no deferred tax asset had been
recognised in respect of the remaining tax losses of RMB92,844,000
(2018: RMB23,066,000) due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of
RMB43,131,000 will expire in the following years ending 31 December,
other losses may be carried forward indefinitely:

20.

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

EEBIE )

CEMSHEREEBRRANRE B -_ETNF—
A—Bi - PEAERDZEARREA R R IEF
BAERMEREED KBRS ARIORHNTE
R FRIFBRERBHEOILZHERR) - REAH
EEBRPEEHBLRH (ERIBEREAAILE
BERFETBEANM 5% FRENSEREE
BigERB BRI RIAB T %MD - HRANE
I m] 22 161 0 I S = A AR B P ) IR R B RO L R
MBERER - RERBAREEABRAIRA RS
R IRK A RN RRA R -

RZE-—hE+-A=+—HB ABAEET
BEAMKMEARZ Rt AR BT EEE
AR #4,757,0250005( — T — N F: AR %
3,156,160,0007T) ° B AL E B A B AR 2
2R D A EARKE61,000,0007T( = F— 1\
£ AR¥661,000,0007T )40 + Fl AN E 12 Hl 3% %
MEBARMBREEER MY RARBEE=_T—NF+
—A=1+—HB8ARY4096,025000T( —F—/\
£ AR¥2495,160,0007T ) FE R 5 E S = FAFER
FEFRIBALE -

RZZB-NF+-A=+—H AEEBERHPAA
MR EFEAREK26,239,000t(ZF—N\F : A
R#25,731,0007T) ° HF AR 2 FI SR EY A 7] 728
1% Eitb B SR ZREREEHIBEE -

RIRE IR - AEE A KRR B Z KB A
BB R A R#618,100,000m( ZE—\F : A
R#23,066,0007T) - HE-ZE—hAhFE+-_A=+
—BIFE - gz SHIEEE A RK525,256,000
T ZE—N\F: B)BRECERBEERAR KR
BFFRTAIIBRE - A Ep KRR IEEBARE
92,844,0007t( =& — )\ F : AR #23,066,0007T )
RELHIBEE - AERZHEEBEBIEBEA
R#43 131,000 RN TEE+=-A=+—B1
ZEE RN MEMEIE R R A

2019 2018

—E-hEF —FT-N\F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETT

2021 B —F 14,448 14,448
2022 —E-—F 1,347 7,322
2023 —E-=F 1,296 1,296
2024 —ECE 26,040 -
43,131 23,066
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
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21.

22.

e P RRME

DEPOSIT PAID 21. 2f&E
2019 2018
S —2-)\&
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTFT
Deposit for acquisition of additional interests ~ $ZNUKEE R — S B A RINEZ 2R e
in a subsidiary 29,410 =

During the year ended 31 December 2019, LVGEM (Suzhou) Real
Estate Investment Company Limited (“LVGEM Suzhou”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group as the purchaser entered into a
sale and purchase agreement with the non-controlling shareholder of
Prosper View Group Limited (“PVGL") to acquire remaining 49% equity
interest of PVGL at the considerations of RMB29,410,000 and the
amount represents deposit paid and included in non-current assets. The
transaction was subsequently completed on 15 January 2020.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE

Included in the properties under development for sale as at 31
December 2019 is carrying value of RMB3,611,033,000 (2018:
RMB5,700,430,000) which represents the carrying value of the
properties expected to be realised after twelve months from the end of
the reporting period. The Group’s properties under development for sale
are mainly situated in the Mainland China, Hong Kong and Cambodia.

22.

BHE_Z-NF+-_A=+—HILFE &5
MIERBEERRR([ARSEHMN ] REEZHE
2EMBRR ERET)ERAEEAFR DR
B D ZEERBRRATZEE W - UREBARE
29,410,0007T Y2 B8 153 BA SR T 2 49% A% 4% - &2 7R IR
EEMNZEWEFAAFERBDEE - AR ZFERER
E_TFE—H+ABTK

BREPEEWR

RZB-NF+A=1t—8 JIRERTFEY
¥ ZHRHEEBERARE3,611,033,0007T(=F—/\£F :
AR #5,700,430,0007T ) » Ty TR H7  & B R AR AT
ToEARTERZMEREE AKEZHEESD
TFEMEZEMNTREANM - BB RRIEE -

Analysis of leasehold lands: HE L2 DHT -
RMB’000

ARBFT
As at 1 January 2019 RZT—hF—A—H
Carrying amount AREE 2,508,420
As at 31 December 2019 R-ZZE—NF+-_A=+—H
Carrying amount BREE 2,519,802
For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE_T-NF+-A=T—AHILFE
Total cash outflows b R stk 40,122
Additions INE 40,122

Effective from 1 January 2019, the carrying amount of leasehold lands is
measured under HKFRS 16 at cost less any accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The residual values are determined as
the estimated disposal value of the leasehold land component. No
depreciation charge is made on the leasehold lands taking into account
the estimated residual values as at 31 December 2019.

B-Z-NF-A—AE HELHZREETIR
BEBYBREEREIRIZN AR R E
RAEMBEEBEFE - REREEREET D
ZEFHEEE - KA ER_T-hF+_A=1
— B2 EREE - BEEE DA RITEERA -

gR(FEHERARRAE 45
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BEUMBRRME

23. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 23. FEYx
The Group’s properties held for sale are situated in the Mainland China. REEFEMHENPERM o
Analysis of leasehold lands: HE T2 D4
RMB’000
ARETT
As at 1 January 2019 RZE—NF—HA—H
Carrying amount BREE 223,039
As at 31 December 2019 R-_ZE—h&FE+-_A=+—H
Carrying amount BREE 104,462
Effective from 1 January 2019, the carrying amount of leasehold lands is = :fg_ﬂi_ﬁ —H&- %ﬁ%iiﬁg‘z,ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
measured under HKFRS 16 at cost less any accumulated depreciation ﬂ?g\iﬁﬂﬁ%iﬁi%ﬁﬂﬂ%1§%$EW¥{JEEETEJ§E+??%
and any impairment losses. The residual values are determined as &Eﬁﬁfﬁgﬂﬁﬁ‘fii ° %E?ﬁ%iﬁfﬂ%imiﬁﬁ
the estimated disposal value of the leasehold land component. No 2{6%&%{{%@ ° %ﬁﬁtﬁmigfﬂEJi:ﬁ =t
depreciation charge is made on the leasehold lands taking into account —HAZEERE - SEREE TR EEA
the estimated residual values as at 31 December 2019.
24. OTHER INVENTORIES 24. Hittz &
Other inventories represent low value consumables carried at cost. HiFEHRERAARNEESER °
25. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 25. IR
2019 2018
—E-hEFE —T-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT
Accounts receivable FEUTBR R 31,825 12,248
Less: Allowance for credit losses W EEEERE (613) (672)
31,212 11,576

LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

25.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (conta)

Accounts receivable represent receivables arising from sales of
properties, rental income from leasing properties and comprehensive
services (including hotel operation and property management). For the
receivables arising from sales of properties, they are due for settlement
in accordance with the terms of the relevant sales and purchase
agreements. For the receivables arising from rental income from
leasing properties, monthly rents are normally received in advance and
sufficient rental deposits are held to minimise credit risk. For accounts
receivable generated from hotel operation, the credit term is payable on
demand. For accounts receivable generated from property management,
receivable generally have credit terms of 30 to 60 days (2018: 30 to 60
days). All accounts receivable are denominated in RMB. The ageing
analysis of the Group’s accounts receivable, based on invoice dates
for rental income from leasing properties and comprehensive services
and the terms of relevant sales and purchases agreements for sales of
properties, is as follows:

25.

e P RRME

PEUWBRFR ()

EMEERIEHEME  HEVENESBRARES
R (BIBEE S ERMEER) K EIFIR - 315
EMERELENEUIEMS - ZFHRATDRIZIAR
BEERHEGRENHEN - AEEMEHESBRAE
ENMERFENS - SAESEFRLEEI - A
BERRMWESESUREEERR - SUBEZEE
ERNREIERME - EEHRDARERIN - W
EEMFHELRFNEE N R B0E0R(ZF
—/\% : 30E60KX) ° A ERUIRFIAARKEHE -
AEERERRFNRRZABHEEDENES KA
MEFRARBEZRAHUAREBEYRHEE B HHIE
HOMAT

2019 2018

—E-h&F —ZT—)\F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR ARBTFT

Within 1 month 1A AR 22,333 6,853
1 to 12 months 1Z12{8H 6,873 2,079
13 to 24 months 1322418 A 919 1,881
Over 24 months HRiE241E A 1,087 763
31,212 11,576

As at 31 December 2019, included in the Group’s accounts receivable
balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of RMB8,879,000
(2018: RMB4,723,000) which are past due as at the reporting date. For
balance has been past due 90 days or more, it is not considered as in
default due to the long-term/on-going relationship and good repayment
record of the counterparties. The Group does not hold any collateral over
these balances.

RZB-NF+-A=+—0 FAREEERE
AR 2 IR RRHAEA/ARKS,879,0007t(=
Z—\F : AR¥A4,723,0007T) 2 FEWFRIA - PAHR
SREBH - AREXZHTEFRY HEBERR
MEEFCSER A SULBMD#BB0R A L2
BRI APRRELY - AEBL BERZTEHRTHE
EfHE R

BR(TEDWEREERAT 447
H

—E-NFFF



148

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

25. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (cont'a) 25. EWERF (&)
The movement in the allowance for credit losses is as follows: EEEERESZSOT :
2019 2018
—E2-hEF —T—)\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR ARETT
A 1 January ®—A—H 672 711
Reversal on impairment loss recognised BEERRERE 2 D (59) (39)
At 31 December R+=-—A=+—H 613 672
For the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group applies BT NERZTE-N\F+ZA=+—HLF
the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure ECL for accounts B AREEAEEMEREERNEFRNH LT E
receivable based on lifetime ECL. Accounts receivable have been BEGFEDSEHREEBEFERKETRNESREE
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the historical B8 - BB ERBRREERREBRELE
observed default rates have been adjusted by forward looking estimates. RIENERSHE  WEAMEMGTAE - R=ZZT—Hh
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the directors of the Company FERZZE-—N\F+-A=1+—H ARREERA
considered that the default risk for the accounts receivable is very low FEREERNENRRIGE  BEFEHEREEBER
and the lifetime ECL allowance is insignificant. None of the debtors is BETK - BEEHSABSALREERE -
considered credit impaired.
26. DEPOSITS PAID, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 26. BTk E AAREREMERRIE

RECEIVABLES

2019 2018

—E-hEF —T—)N\F

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Hiat ARETT ARETT

Deposits paid and prepayments B e RIE[RIE (a) 990,089 434,245
Deposits for urban redevelopment WHEHIBE 2EE

projects (b) 1,790,400 =

Other receivables A FEUMGRIE 405,445 393,365

Amounts due from related parties FE U BERSE A 5038 (c) 30,404 47,302
Amounts due from non-controlling U ST B A 2k FUOE

interests (d) 14,590 15,382

Total FEE 3,230,928 890,294
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

26. DEPOSITS PAID, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (contd)

27.

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

The balance mainly represents prepaid construction costs of
RMB789,047,000 (2018: RMB356,466,000) to the contractors for the
Group’s property development projects.

The balance represents deposits paid for urban redevelopment projects
located in Zhuhai and Shenzhen in the Mainland China, of which
RMB1,622,400,000 (2018: nil) represents deposit paid to local government
for acquisition of land use right. The amount is refundable in full if the
acquisition of land use right is not successful.

Amounts due from related parties, in which the ultimate controlling party
has beneficial interests, are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

As at 31 December 2019, amount due from non-controlling interests
amounting to RMB11,715,000 (2018: RMB12,507,000) is secured by
equity interests held by the non-controlling party, interest bearing at 6.37%
(2018:6.37%) per annum and repayable on demand. Remaining balance
of amount due from non-controlling interests is unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS

e P RRME

26. EfNfRE - ANREREMEKRRE

(%)

Krat -

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

ZERERRRUAREYERIIAE MARSHE
H 2 TR R A AR AR #789,047,0007( —F—N\
F : AR356,466,0007T) °

AR ERTE B R B N TR SR Y| 2 Sk T ST IR
BXftzize - HHf AR¥1,622,400,0007C(=F—
N\E )R REUREE 368 AR A B BUR XN 2
BE o fAREERIN IS L AR - ZFURAER
BURIE -

RN BARSE 0 SOR (BRI T N E R R B i)
REER - RO RBRERER -

RZZE-NAE+-RA=+—H EERFEERES
HIEH/ARKLL715000m(ZE—N\F: AR
12,507,0007T) * &2 sRIR R FFER T 758 2 BRI
| RENKE37% (ZF—\F : 637%)iT B NAE
BERER - RUCHERES TR BT EBAE
HR - RS RAREREE -

27. ZRHBITHERK

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E—N\F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
e ARETT AREFIT
Pledged certificate of deposits for bank — BtRTE IR BRI 7S
loans 700,709 1,938,317
Funds under regulation by banks for ZIRTEEESERARNES
specific purposes 805,255 1,011,723
Performance deposits required by BITRENBLNES
government (a) 553,853 553,260
Pledged bank deposits for bank loans BRITEFIER R TR 647,942 264,469
Pledged bank deposits for mortgage BRI IR RITIE (b) 94,021 144,520
Performance deposits for construction FEEAYNELILS
contracts 2,090 3,244
Others HAh 191 293
Total @t 2,804,061 3,915,826

— =

—=
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27.

28.

29.

RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS (contd)

The effective interest rates of restricted bank deposits are in the range of
0.01% to 3.03% for both 2019 and 2018 per annum.

Notes:

(a) The balance represents performance deposits required by the government
for the Group’s urban redevelopment projects.

(b) The balance represents bank deposits pledged to secure the mortgage
granted to buyers of properties.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

As at 31 December 2019, included in bank balances and cash was
a fixed deposit of RMB447,605,000 (2018: RMB442,133,000) with
original maturity period of more than three months but within one year.

The effective interest rates of cash at banks are 0.01% to 1.35% (2018:
0.01% to 1.95%) per annum.

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

Accounts payable mainly represent amounts due to contractors. Payment
to contractors is made by reference of progress of the respective
construction work and agreed milestones.

The following is an aged analysis of accounts payable presented based
on the invoice date:

27.

28.

29.

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

ZIR&EIBITER2)

“E-NERZE-N\FZRBRERITERERSF
FZEHHF0.01%2%E3.03% °

it

() REBEBNREASEEARERTENALELD
Be o

(b)  ZAEHIEARFAMEEFEHNZBMIEHMNE
HIRITIFR

RITHEBRREE

R-ZBE-—AFE+-_A=+—8 RKTEH,ES
BERIPFAAEZR=ZBABIN—F2ZEHT
AR K447 605000 ( B —N\FE: ARK
442,133,0007T) ©

RITASNERFENENF0.01%E1.35% (ZF—
J\E : 0.01%E1.95%) °

FEAS BR X

SRR R E B A BB R - B REEZR
S2ERMERTITER RIBEERIES -

ENRRORERIZERAHITMOT

2019 2018

—E-hF —TN\F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETFT

Within 1 month 1EAA 513,386 1,220,394
1 to 12 months 1£12@A 436,676 109,626
13 to 24 months 13Z 241 A 137,934 11,029
Over 24 months HBi@E241E A 23,835 42,465
1,111,831 1,383,514

The average credit period for purchase of construction materials ranged
from six months to one year.

LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

31.

e M HRAR MR

30. ACCRUALS, DEPOSITS RECEIVED AND OTHER 30. B EA - CWRE R HEMEMAFE
PAYABLES
2019 2018
—E-hF —ZT—)N\F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
e ARBTR AREFIT
Rental deposits received Bl EES 141,865 119,202
Receipts in advance TEWGRIE (a) 5,402 1,551
Other payables and accruals HAb e R E KRBT E A 495,005 426,142
Amounts due to related parties e RERE 5 oA (b) 28,981 191,195
Amounts due to non-controlling interests  FE{ 3E1% AR AR 5 FIE (c) 2,105 6,724
673,358 744,814
Notes: Hfat
(@) As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, receipts in advance consist of rental (@ RZB-NAFRZZE-NF+ZA=+—H8" K
considerations received in advance from customers. HEREEAATP KB ZASNRE -
(b)  Amounts due to related parties, in which the ultimate controlling party has (b) ENEEIRE(ERERTFNEFEEESER)
beneficial interests, are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. BEEE - G R RBRENREE -
(c) Amounts due to non-controlling interests are unsecured, interest-free and (c) B IEIERERRIEAEER £ B RAEKREXKE
repayable on demand. e
CONTRACT LIABILITIES 31. EEAE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZT)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AREFIT
Sales of properties VI HE 2,502,338 2,265,113
Hotel operation and property management S EIE M EEERTE
service 2,927 3,175
2,505,265 2,268,288

Note: The balance represents sales deposits and advance payments received
from sales of properties.

Bret - RAEMIEHE RS REHE 2 TREWEGFIR

— =

#R(FE)WERRERAT 45
N
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31. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (conta)

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

31. EEAE®

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in the TRITREFERRESFEYZAEARAME
respective years relates to carried-forward contract liabilities at the start MR 2 W SR ©

of the respective years.

2019 2018
— 2 )\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT
Sales of properties YZHE 1,443,440 881,054
Hotel operation and property management GBI EEERY
service 3,175 198
32. LEASE LIABILITIES 32. HEA®E
2019
—E-hEF
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Lease liabilities payable: ENHEEEE:
Within one year —F A 22,674
Within a period of more than one year but not more than A& — F(ETHBBEMF
two years 20,627
Within a period of more than two years but not more than  AHiBBMFETBBERE
five years 44,880
Within a period of more than five years REBBTE 29,873
118,054
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months shown & : 5| AR B & EIH 1218 B R I EIEE 2 208
under current liabilities (22,674)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months shown under B AZERBI & EIW R 1218 A& R 2328 2 518
non-current liabilities 95,380
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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33. BORROWINGS 33. BE
2019 2018
—E-hF —ZT—)\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETIT
Borrowings comprise: BERE
— Variable rate bank loans —ZBIRITER 16,274,940 14,283,068
— Fixed rate bank loans —EEFEBITER 2,781,200 1,916,300
— Fixed rate other borrowing —BEEFEHEMBEE 50,000 -
— Private senior notes —LEEBERE 349,939 342,428
19,456,079 16,541,796
Analysed as: DT
— Secured — G 18,886,202 16,085,461
— Unsecured — K 569,877 456,335
19,456,079 16,541,796
Borrowings repayable within a period of: EEBERA TR RNERS :
— Within 1 year ——ER 3,616,424 2,557,174
— More than 1 year, but not exceeding 2 —BR—FEDRME
years 3,296,968 2,056,850
— More than 2 years, but not exceeding 5 —BBAMFEINAF
years 10,090,473 8,906,056
— More than 5 years —RFENE 1,762,364 2,346,442
18,766,229 15,866,522
Borrowings that contain a repayment on BERERKERIERZIEE
demand clause (shown under current FIAmEaE)  HEER
liabilities) but repayable: THIEAEAEE
— Within 1 year ——&FR 689,850 675,274
Total borrowings BIEE 19,456,079 16,541,796
Less: Amount due within one year shown B ORBABEETR—FEREEZ
under current liabilities RIA (4,306,274) (3,232,448)
Amount due after one year R—F & BB 2 508 15,149,805 13,309,348

All the Group’s borrowings are denominated in the functional currencies
of the relevant group companies (i.e. RMB, United States Dollar (“US$")
and HK$) except certain bank and other borrowings amounting to
RMB1,797,697,000 (2018: RMB1,685,510,000) are denominated in
HK$, and RMB490,355,000 (2018:Nil) are denominated in US$.

FEREEEERBABEEQRNDEEEE(BIA
R - (T DEBITFHE - S TRITIE
iEEARY1,797,697,000T (ZE—N\F : AR
1,685,510,0007T ) bA & 7T 5HE K A R #5490,355,000
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33.

BORROWINGS (contd)

For bank loans denominated in HK$, the effective interest rates are
ranging from 3.87% to 7.67% (2018: 1.91% to 5.39%) per annum. For
bank and other loans denominated in RMB, the effective interest rates
are ranging from 4.90% to 9.00% (2018: 4.35% to 9.00%) per annum.
For bank loans denominated in US$, the effective interest rates are
ranging from 3.21% t0 9.41% (2018: Nil) per annum.

As at 31 December 2019, secured bank loans with aggregate amount
of RMB3,256,201,000 and a secured other borrowing with amount of
RMB50,000,000 are secured by the equity interests of subsidiaries of
the Group (see also note 46).

As at 31 December 2019, a secured bank loan with aggregate amount of
RMB244,167,000 was secured by certain equity instrument hold of Mr.
Wong, the ultimate controlling shareholder.

On 13 December 2017, Gemstones International Limited (“Gemstones”),
a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Issuer”), entered
into a subscription agreement with Harbor Sure (HK) Investments
Limited (the “Purchaser”), an independent third party to the Group,
pursuant to which the Purchaser agreed to purchase the private senior
notes with an aggregate principal amount of US$50,000,000 (the “Private
Notes”). The issue price was at 100.0% of the principal amount of the
Private Notes. The Private Notes are:

(a) carried interest at rate of 8.5% per annum and interest is
payable semi-annually on 18 June and 18 December of each
year, commencing from 19 December 2017 and maturing on 19
December 2019;

(b)  senior in right of payment to any existing and future obligations
of the Issuer expressly subordinated in right of payment to the
Private Notes;

(c)  ranked and will rank at least pari passu in right of payment with
all other unsecured, unsubordinated indebtedness of the Issuer
(subject to any priority rights of such unsecured unsubordinated
indebtedness pursuant to applicable law); and

(d)  guaranteed by the Company and certain subsidiaries of the
Company on a senior basis, subject to certain limitations.

The interest charged is calculated by applying an effective interest rate of
approximately 8.86% per annum since the Private Notes were issued.

On 13 December 2019, the Issuer and the Purchaser entered into the
deed of extension to extend the maturity date of the Private Notes to 18
June 2020. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the amount
on non-substantial modification of financial liabilities arising on such
extension is insignificant.
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34. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE COMPONENT
OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS

(a)

Debt component of convertible bonds

34.

e P RRME

TERESRTERESTETAR

7

(a FHERESERHD

2019 2018
—E-hEF —T-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AREFIT
Net carrying amount as at 1 January R—HA—B®REFE 1,381,645 589,650
Issue of convertible bonds BITARRES - 704,661
Interest expense B 172,237 131,969
Interest paid BEAFE (88,155) (45,946)
Conversion of 2018 CB (as defined below) ¥ it =T — \Ea[#fkEE
(BEER T - (59,278)
Exchange difference & Z5E 27,530 60,589
Net carrying amount as at 31 December R+ A=+—BHEETE 1,493,257 1,381,645
Less: Amount due within one year shown BB AEEE TR —ERTHY
under current liabilities oA 1,493,257 -
Amount due after one year R—F BB 58 - 1,381,645

(1

On 6 November 2016, the Company entered into
a Convertible Bonds Subscription Agreement (the
“Agreement”) with an independent third party, Chance
Talent Management Limited (the “Subscriber”). Pursuant
to the Agreement, the Subscriber agreed to acquire the
Convertible Bond (the “2018 CB”) with aggregate principal
amount of US$100 million (equivalent to RMB686 million)
at interest rate of 5.5% per annum, payable by the
Company semi-annually in arrears from the issue date, with
initial conversion price of HK$2.76. The maturity date is
on the second anniversary of the issue date. The 2018 CB
were issued to the Subscriber on 18 November 2016.

The bondholder has the right to convert the 2018 CB in
whole or in part into shares at any time on or after the issue
date of the 2018 CB up to the respective maturity date.
264,946,889 (2018: 264,946,889) new shares will be
issued upon full conversion of the 2018 CB. An adjustment
had been made to the conversion price from HK$2.76 to
HK$2.695 on 21 July 2017 as a result of the dividends
paid since the convertible bonds were issued.

On 17 January 2018, the Company received a notice from
the Subscriber, requesting for the conversion of the 2018
CB in the principal amount of US$10,000,000. Accordingly,
the Company has allotted and issued 28,794,063
conversion shares to the Subscriber at the conversion price
of HK$2.695 per conversion share.

1 RZFT—R"F+—AXB' AQF
B8 — % ¥ 7 % = HChance Talent
Management Limited ([ 78 A 1) 532
—AIRRESRE R ZHED) -
BIEZ S - REARZREAS B
BLEET(HERARK6.86ET)
BEFES5 5% EM AT RRESR( =
T N\FAMRESR]) (VX ARER
276%7) FIEBETHHEREF
FRAAQFLZA - IR AZTEHE
BEDmMBE o —T— \FrHRES
RZZE—RNF+—A+N\BBTTRE
A

BEEEABER - — \FrRE
FETAHE AN 2 A EREEEE L
BERFHS 220k 3B =T — N\ F Al AR (E
FER AR o 264,946,889 (—F —
J\EE © 264,946,8890% ) #TAR (i A ==
— \F IR EH R 31T o
A AT AR B 5 B 1T 1 S A O AR BB B
—E—+tF LA+ —BHBER276
T EE = 2.69578 7T ©
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34. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE COMPONENT
OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS (cont)

(a)  Debt component of convertible bonds (Cont'd)

(1)

(Contd)

Adjustments had been made to the conversion price from
HK$2.695 to HK$2.636 as a result of allotment of ordinary
shares, allotment of convertible preference shares and the
dividends paid during the year ended 31 December 2018.

Adjustments had been made to the conversion price from
HK$2.636 to HK$2.574 as a result of the dividends paid
during the year ended 31 December 2019.

On 3 October 2018, the Subscriber, the Company and Mr.
Wong entered into the Deed of Extension to extend the
maturity date of the 2018 CB to 18 November 2020.

The 2018 CB will be redeemed on maturity at a value equal
to the amount equal to the aggregate of (a) the aggregate
principal amount of such outstanding 2018 CB; (b) any
accrued but unpaid interest on such outstanding 2018 CB
on the redemption date (other than default interest); and (c)
(if the sum of the amounts referred to above (a) and (b) fall
short of making up an internal rate of return of 8% on the
aggregate principal amount of 2018 CB) such additional
amount which would make up an internal rate of 8% on the
aggregate principal amount of 2018 CB.

Further details of the terms and conditions of the 2018
CB were disclosed in the announcements of the Company
dated 6 November 2016, 8 November 2016, 18 November
2016 and 3 October 2018 respectively.

The 2018 CB contains two components, debt component
and derivative component. The effective interest rate of the
debt component is 14.23% (2018: 14.23%) per annum.
The derivative component is measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

The fair value of conversion option is US$10,363,000
(equivalent to RMB72,292,000) (2018: US$4,494,000
(equivalent to RMB30,842,000)) as at 31 December 2019.
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34. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE COMPONENT
OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS (contd)

(a)  Debt component of convertible bonds (Cont'd)

)

On 10 May 2018, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, Gemstones, as the issuer, and the Company
together with its eighteen subsidiaries acting as guarantors
entered into a Convertible Bonds Subscription Agreement
(the “2018 Agreement”) with a third party, Global Affluence
Holding V Limited (the “2018 Subscriber”). Pursuant to the
2018 Agreement, the 2018 Subscriber agreed to acquire
the convertible bonds (the “2023 CB”) with aggregate
principal amount of US$100 million (equivalent to RMB675
million) at interest rate of 4.0% per annum, payable by
Gemstones semi-annually in arrears. The maturity date
is on the fifth anniversary of the issue date. The 2023 CB
were issued to the 2018 Subscriber on 17 May 2018.

The bondholder has the right to convert the 2023 CB in
whole or in part into shares at any time on or after the
issue date of the 2023 CB up to the date falling seven days
prior to the maturity date. 208,776,595 new shares will be
issued upon full conversion of the 2023 CB based on the
initial conversion price of HK$3.76. Adjustments had been
made to the conversion price from HK$3.76 to HK$3.68 as
a result of the issue of Second 2023 CB and the extension
of 2018 CB during the year ended 31 December 2018.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, adjustments
had been made to the conversion price from HK$3.68 to
HK$3.594 as a result of the dividends paid.

The 2023 CB will be redeemed on maturity at a value equal
to 124.012214% of the outstanding principal amount of the
2023 CB, together with any accrued and unpaid interest.

The bondholder has the right by written notice at any time
on or after 17 May 2020, the second anniversary of the
issue date of the 2023 CB and before maturity, require the
Gemstones to redeem all or some only of such bondholder’s
2023 CB at a gross yield of 8.00% per annum.
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34. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE COMPONENT
OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS (cont)

(a)  Debt component of convertible bonds (Cont'd)

)

(Cont'd)

The fair value of conversion option is US$5,100,459
(equivalent to RMB35,582,000) (2018: US$5,877,000
(equivalent to RMB40,338,000)) as at 31 December 2019.
The fair value of early redemption option is US$12,712,000
(equivalent to RMB88,681,000) (31 December 2018:
US$13,404,000 (equivalent to RMB91,994,000)) as at 31
December 2019.

Further details of the terms and conditions of the 2023
CB were disclosed in the announcements of the Company
dated 11 May 2018.

The 2023 CB contains two components, debt component
and derivative component (including the conversion option
and the early redemption option that is not closely to the
host). The effective interest rates of the debt component
is 13.48% (2018:13.48%) per annum. The derivative
component is measured at fair value with changes in fair
value recognised in profit and loss.

On 16 September 2018, Gemstones entered into a
Convertible Bonds Subscription Agreement (the “2018
Second Agreement”) with an independent third party,
Pioneer Festive Limited (the “2018 Second Subscriber”).
Pursuant to the 2018 Second Agreement, the 2018 Second
Subscriber agreed to acquire the convertible bonds (the
“Second 2023 CB") with aggregate principal amount
of US$50 million (equivalent to RMB341.8 million) at
interest rate of 5.0% per annum, payable by Gemstones
semi-annually in arrears. The maturity date is on the fifth
anniversary of the issue date. The Second 2023 CB were
issued to the 2018 Second Subscriber on 28 September
2018.

The bondholder has the right to convert the Second 2023
CB in whole or in part into shares at any time on or after
the issue date of the Second 2023 CB up to the date falling
seven days prior to the maturity date. 127,022,653 new
shares will be issued upon full conversion of the Second
2023 CB based on the initial conversion price of HK$3.09.
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34. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE COMPONENT
OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS (contd)

(a)  Debt component of convertible bonds (Cont'd)

Q)

(Cont'd)

Adjustments had been made to the conversion price from
HK$3.09 to HK$3.018 as a result of the dividends paid
during the year ended 31 December 2019.

The Second 2023 CB will be redeemed on maturity at a
value equal to 136.1% of the outstanding principal amount
of the Second 2023 CB, together with any accrued and
unpaid interest.

The bondholder has the right by written notice at any time
on or after 28 September 2020, the second anniversary of
the issue date of the Second 2023 CB and before maturity,
require the Gemstones to redeem all or some only of such
bondholder's Second 2023 CB at a yield of internal rate of
return of 10.00% per annum.

If a bondholder has exercised the conversion rights
attached to any 2023 CB and disposed of any conversion
shares issued as a result thereof, Gemstones will be
entitled to share 30% of the consideration (net of taxes
and brokerage fees) payable to the relevant bondholder in
excess of the agreed preferred return in accordance with
the terms of the Second 2023 CB.

The fair value of conversion option (after profit-sharing)
is US$3,279,000 (equivalent to RMB22,875,000) (2018:
US$3,419,000 (equivalent to RMB23,468,000)) as at
31 December 2019. The fair value of early redemption
option is US$398,000 (equivalent to RMB2,777,000)
(31 December 2018: US$1,670,000 (equivalent to
RMB11,463,000)) as at 31 December 2019.

Further details of the terms and conditions of the Second
2023 CB were disclosed in the announcements of the
Company dated 17 September 2018.

The Second 2023 CB contains two components, debt
component and the derivative component (including
the conversion option after profit-sharing and the early
redemption option that is not closely related to the host).
The effective interest rate of the debt component is 8.73%
(2018: 8.73%) per annum. The derivative component is
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in profit and loss.
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34. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE COMPONENT
OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS (cont)

Derivative component of convertible bonds

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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4. TRREZRATRREZFITETAR

()

(b) FERRESTETIABSD

2019 2018

—B-AF —T)N\F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT ARETT

Net carrying amount as at 1 January n—A—BHEREFE 198,105 111,078

Embedded derivatives at the date of issue PRI EH 21T B BR8] AR

of convertible bonds PTETA = 255,307

Conversion of 2018 CB H|=T— \FrRRES - (11,107)

Loss (gain) arising on changes in fair value A7 BESB)E S8 ERE (k) 20,170 (172,192)

Exchange difference JEE 5 =% 3,932 15,019

Net carrying amount as at 31 December Rt A=+—HAEEFEE 222,207 198,105
Less: Amount due within one year shown W ORBABE TR —ERNDEY

under current liabilities Fec) (222,207) =

Amount due after one year R—F & E|H 2 708 - 198,105

(1)  The methods and assumptions applied for the valuation of
the 2018 CB at 31 December 2018 and at 31 December
2019 were as follows:

The fair value of the derivative component of convertible
bonds at 31 December 2018 and as at 31 December 2019
derived by using the Binomial Option Pricing Model were
approximately RMB30,842,000 and RMB72,292,000,
respectively, which were determined by the directors of
the Company with reference to the valuation performed
by Asset Appraisal Limited, a firm of independent
professional valuers with appropriate qualifications and
recent experiences in the valuation of similar derivative
instruments with reference to market values. During the
year ended 31 December 2019, the Group recognised
the fair value loss of RMB40,037,000 (2018: gain of
RMB71,432,000) in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
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34. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE COMPONENT
OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS (contd)

(b)  Derivative component of convertible bonds (Cont'd)

1)

(Cont'd)

The inputs used in the Binomial Option Pricing Model
adopted by the independent professional valuer in
determining the fair values of derivative component of the
2018 CB at the respective dates were as follows:

e M HRAR MR

4. THRREFRUTRRESFITETAR

o E)

(b) TFIHRRESITERD (F)

(1)

(&)
BYEEGEMNSBREE TN\
FAMBEFTETAID AR BEER
PR an ey — TR AR e (B AR AL R T A Y
BAZBIT

Share price A%
Exercise price 1THEE
Expected dividend yield FEEARR B &
Volatility g
Discount rate AE3E &
Risk free interest rate A [ B 1 =R

At31.12.2018 At 31.12.2019
RZ-Z—N\F R-B-—h%F
+=A=+—R t=A=+-8
HK$2.23 HK$2.79
22387 2797
HK$2.636 HK$2.574
2,636/ 7T 25747
2.24% 1.90%
33.31% 34.98%
17.872% 16.432%
2.540% 1.606%
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34. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE COMPONENT
OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS (cont)

(b)  Derivative component of convertible bonds (Cont'd)

)

The methods and assumptions applied for the valuation
of the 2023 CB at 31 December 2018 and 31 December
2019 were as follows:

The fair value of the derivative component of convertible
bonds at 31 December 2018 and as at 31 December 2019
derived by using the Binomial Option Pricing Model were
approximately RMB132,332,000 and RMB124,263,000,
respectively, which were determined by the directors of
the Company with reference to the valuation performed by
Asset Appraisal Limited, a firm of independent professional
valuers with appropriate qualifications and recent
experiences in the valuation of similar derivative component
of convertible bonds with reference to market values.
During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
recognised the fair value gain of RMB10,128,000 (2018:
RMB90,477,000) in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.

The inputs used in the Binomial Option Pricing Model
adopted by the independent professional valuer in
determining the fair values the derivative component of the
2023 CB at the respective dates were as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE
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(b) FHRRESTERD (&)
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FH+_A=+—ARR=_Z—NF+
“A=t+—HEA-_EAHEEER
ATEZAABEINNAEARE
132,332,0007t & A K& #124,263,000
L BESEINAAREERERHIE
BETEBRBARAREITNGEMES
E AR EEERNBLEE
(HERT - BESEMEFGRE R
EEOTE TR H E A LK -
HE-_Z—NWF+=ZA=1+—HBLHF
B AEERGEBERERTERAAE
B AR#10,128,000T( —ZF— N\
£ AR¥90,477,0007T) °

BYHEGEMASAPEE T =
FAMREFITET AN D AR BER
P ERan e — TR R E B AR EL R AT A Y
BABURIAT

At 31.12.2018 At 31.12.2019

RZZE—N\F R=—Z—hF

+=—A=+—H +=HA=+—8

Share price A% 1B HK$2.23 HK$2.79
2.23387T 2,797 T

Exercise price FI{EE HK$3.68 HK$3.594
3.687%87T 3.59478 T

Expected dividend yield TEAAR B % 2.24% 1.90%
Volatility RIS 50.73% 33.50%
Discount rate ARIR X 17.581% 16.215%
Risk free interest rate f B B ) 2 2.529% 1.669%
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

34. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND DERIVATIVE COMPONENT
OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS (contd)

(b)  Derivative component of convertible bonds (Cont'd)

3)

The methods and assumptions applied for the valuation
of the Second 2023 CB at 31 December 2018 and 31
December 2019 were as follows:

The fair value of the derivative component of convertible
bonds at 31 December 2018 and as at 31 December 2019
derived by using the Binomial Option Pricing Model were
approximately RMB34,931,000 and RMB25,652,000,
respectively, which were determined by the directors of
the Company with reference to the valuation performed by
Asset Appraisal Limited, a firm of independent professional
valuers with appropriate qualifications and recent
experiences in the valuation of similar derivative component
of convertible bonds with reference to market values.
During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
recognised the fair value gain of RMB9,739,000 (2018:
RMB10,283,000) in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.

The inputs used in the Binomial Option Pricing Model
adopted by the independent professional valuer in
determining the fair values the derivative component of the
Second 2023 CB at the respective dates were as follows:

e P RRME
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At 31.12.2018 At 31.12.2019

RZZT—N\F R-ZE—hE

+=—A=t—~ t=A=t+-R

Share price f&(E HK$2.23 HK$2.79
2.23%7T 2,79/ T

Exercise price IEE HK$3.09 HK$3.018
3.09/8 7T 3.0187%& T

Expected dividend yield TEEARR B 2.24% 1.90%
Volatility R 49.536% 33.528%
Discount rate BhIR = 14.403% 13.052%
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

35. SENIOR NOTES AND BOND 35. BERBRES
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT
Senior notes and bond comprise: BAZBMESFBTE

— Public senior notes ~AREEEZE 2,870,055 2,809,060
— Domestic corporate bond —RAARESR 2,157,068 2,591,909
5,027,123 5,400,969
2019 2018
—E-hF T N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT
Net carrying amount as at 1 January R—A—BHERmFE 5,400,969 5,250,854
Less: Redemption of senior notes and bond & : EBEBELEEE K ES (485,375) =
Add: Interest charged during the year mn: EREHNHRFE 411,241 410,200
Less: Interest paid B BERFE (403,425) (394,549)
Add: Adjustments on change in coupon rate il : FEE B R EEH ) FHE 57,287 -
Exchange differences ME N =5 46,426 134,464
Net carrying amount as at 31 December R+ -—A=+—BrREmFE 5,027,123 5,400,969

Less: Amount due within one year shown B ORBAREE TR —FAEEZ
under current liabilities IE (5,027,123) (2,591,909)
Amount due after one year R—F B8 2 FE - 2,809,060

Issue of US$ denominated public senior notes due in 2020

On 15 August 2017 and 25 October 2017, the Issuer issued senior
notes with the aggregate principal amounts of US$225,000,000 and
US$175,000,000 respectively (collectively known as, the “Senior
Notes”). The issue price was at 100.0% and 100.6% of the principal

amount of the Senior Notes, respectively.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE—Z-NF+A=1+—HItFE

35.

SENIOR NOTES AND BOND (conta)

Issue of US$ denominated public senior notes due in 2020 (Cont'd)

Senior Notes are listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
Limited (“SGX”). Senior Notes are:

(a)  carried interest at rate of 8.5% per annum and interest is payable
semi-annually on 15 February and 15 August of each year,
commencing from 15 February 2018 and will mature on 15
August 2020, unless redeemed earlier;

(b)  senior in right of payment to any existing and future obligations of
the Issuer expressly subordinated in right of payment to the Senior
Notes;

(c)  ranked and will rank at least pari passu in right of payment with
all other unsecured, unsubordinated indebtedness of the Issuer
(subject to any priority rights of such unsecured unsubordinated
indebtedness pursuant to applicable law);

(d) guaranteed by the Company and certain subsidiaries of the
Company (collectively the “Guarantors”) on a senior basis, subject
to certain limitations;

(e) effectively subordinated to the secured obligations if any, of the
Issuer and the Guarantors, to the extent of the value of the assets
serving as security therefor; and

(f) effectively subordinated to all existing and future obligations of the
subsidiaries of the Company other than the Guarantors.

At any time prior to 15 August 2020, the Issuer may at its option to
redeem the Senior Notes, in whole but not in part, at a redemption
price equal to 100.0% of the principal amount of the Senior Notes
plus the applicable premium as defined in the offering memorandum
of the Company dated 17 October 2017 (“Applicable Premium”) as
of, and accrued and unpaid interest (if any) to (but not including), the
redemption date.

“Applicable Premium” means with respect to any Senior Notes at any
redemption date, the greater of (i) 1.00% of the principal amount of such
Senior Notes and (ii) the excess of the present value at such redemption
date of the principal amount of such Senior Notes on 15 August 2020,
plus all required remaining scheduled interest payments due on such
Senior Notes through 15 August 2020 (but excluding accrued and
unpaid interest to the redemption date), computed using a discount
rate equal to the adjusted treasury rate plus 100 basis points, over the
principal amount of such Senior Notes on such redemption date.
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35.

SENIOR NOTES AND BOND (conta)

Issue of US$ denominated public senior notes due in 2020 (Cont'd)

At any time and from time to time prior to 15 August 2020, the Issuer
may redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of the Senior
Notes with the net cash proceeds of one or more sales of common stock
of the Company in an equity offering at a redemption price of 108.5%
of the principal amount of the Senior Notes, plus accrued and unpaid
interest, if any, to (but not including) the redemption date; provided
that at least 65% of the aggregate principal amount of the Senior Notes
originally issued on the original issue date remains outstanding after
each such redemption and any such redemption takes place within 60
days after the closing of the related equity offering.

Early redemption option is regarded as embedded derivative not closely
related to the host contract. The directors consider that the fair value of
the above early redemption options is insignificant at initial recognition
date, 31 December 2018 and 2019.

The interest charged for the year is calculated by applying an effective
interest rate of approximately 8.90% per annum since the Senior Notes
were issued.

The fair value of the Senior Notes at 31 December 2019 amounted
to RMB2,770,919,000 (2018: RMB2,552,122,000). The fair value is
calculated by using the quoted price based on SGX at the end of the
reporting period (or the nearest day of trading).

Subsequent to 31 December 2019, the Group commenced an exchange
offer (the “Exchange Offer”) to the holders of the existing Senior Notes.
For details, please refer to note 51.

Issue of RMB denominated domestic corporate bond due in 2021

On 26 August 2016, a subsidiary of the Company, Zhengxinglong
Real Estate (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (“Zhengxinglong”) issued a
domestic corporate bond (the “Bond”) with a principal amount of
RMB2,600,000,000 and will be repayable in full by 26 August 2021.
Zhengxinglong has an option to increase the coupon rate from 6.5%
up to 7.5% per annum at the end of the third year (“2019 coupon
rate adjustment”). Zhengxinglong will make an announcement of the
determination on the coupon rate adjustment and irrespective of whether
adjustment will be made or not, the investor can exercise retractable
option within three working days from the third anniversary of the issue
date.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

35.

SENIOR NOTES AND BOND (conta)

Issue of RMB denominated domestic corporate bond due in 2021 (Cont'd)

On 23 July 2019, with the consent of the bondholders, Zhengxinglong
make an announcement that Zhengxinglong shall have an option
to increase coupon rate by up to 2% per annum at end of the third
and fourth years from the issue date. Zhengxinglong will make an
announcement of the determination on the coupon rate adjustment and
irrespective of whether adjustment will be made or not, and the investor
can exercise retractable option within five working days from the third
and fourth anniversary of the issue date.

On 8 August 2019, Zhengxinglong make an announcement that coupon
rate was increased from 6.5% to 8% per annum from 27 August
2019. Such increase in coupon rate is considered as debt modification
and a loss of RMB57,287,000 is recognised on such non-substantial
modification of financial liabilities.

On 26 August 2019, an investor exercised retractable option and
redeemed bonds with a principal amount of RMB486,474,000 and
the loss on early redemption of financial liabilities of RMB1,099,000 is
recognised during the year.

The Bond is listed in Shenzhen Stock Exchange (“SZX”). The interest
charged for the year is calculated by applying an effective interest rate of
approximately 6.63% per annum since the Bond were issued.

The fair value of the Bond as at 31 December 2019 is
RMB2,113,949,000 (2018: RMB2,579,720,000) with reference to the
quoted market price of the Bond on SZX at the end of the reporting
period (the last trading day prior to 31 December 2019).
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

36. SHARE CAPITAL 36. KR4
2019 2018
“E-NF —E-N\E
Number Number
of shares HK$'000 RMB'000 of shares HK$'000 RMB'000
RGBSR T#x ARBTR OEE T ARBTT
Authorised share capital of the AR RIEERA :
Company:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 FRAE0.0LE
each TRIEER 30,000,000,000 300,000 240,000 30,000,000,000 300,000 240,000
Issued and fully paid share capital  AAREETRE R
of the Company: R
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 FRAEBOOLE
each TRV B
At1 January W-A-R 4942241524 49422 1,141 4,694,182,792 46941 39,121
Exercise of share options TERME (2
(note 40) 40) 4,392,000 4 39 6,700,000 67 58
Conversion of convertible HATEREE
preference shares (note i) (i) 103,826,087 1,038 880 - - -
Conversion of 2018 CB FBoE-N\E
(Note 34(a)(1)) MRRES
(H#34()
1) - - - 28,794,063 288 240
Issue of ordinary shares FILAR
(note i) (i) - - = 212,564,669 2,126 1,722
At 31 December W+=A=t+-H 5,050,459,611 50,504 42,060 4,942 241 524 49,422 41141
Notes: HiaE
(i) Conversion of convertible preference shares: 0) HIRATHR AR B LR

On 29 April 2019, 22 November 2019 and 27 November 2019,
50,000,000, 17,826,087 and 36,000,000 shares of convertible preference
shares issued on 30 November 2015 have been converted into ordinary
shares at the conversion price of HK$2.06 per conversion preference share

respectively.
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36. SHARE CAPITAL (contd)

37.

Notes: (Cont'd)

(i) On 7 February 2018, the Company entered into a share subscription
agreement with Leadon International Investments Real Estate Limited,
an independent third party to the Group and as the share subscriber,
and pursuant to which the share subscriber agreed to subscribe for
132,564,669 new ordinary shares at the subscription price of HK$2.938
per share totalling approximately HK$389.47 million (equivalent to
RMB325.56 million). The allotment and issue of subscription shares were
completed on 26 February 2018. The details of the issue of new ordinary
shares are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 7 February
2018.

On 8 February 2018, China LVGEM Property Holdings Limited (“China
LVGEM”) as the vendor, entered into the placing and subscription
agreement with the placing agents pursuant to which the placing agents
have agreed to place the 80,000,000 existing shares (“Placing Shares”)
at a price of HK$2.938 per share (the “Placing Price”) on behalf of
China LVGEM totalling approximately HK$235.04 million (equivalent to
RMB196.47 million). The Placing Shares will be placed by the placing
agents to Essence Securities Co., Ltd. — QDII and Guosen Securities Co.,
Ltd. — QDII, who are independent third parties. Pursuant to the placing and
subscription agreement, China LVGEM has conditionally agreed to further
subscribe at the Placing Price for 80,000,000 new ordinary shares of the
Company. The placement of the Placing Shares and issue of subscription
shares were completed on 14 February 2018. The details of the placing
and subscription are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 8

e P RRME

36. BA(#)

/43 )
(5/5‘

i - (4)

(i)

RZ=ZZT—)\F = HF £t H' KXA2Q 7 HlLeadon
International Investments Real Estate Limited ( &2455%
B 2B E=H RIERRNAREA)FILIRD RER
R ROREARBIRREETR2.938F T
R5132,564 6690 ¥ I BAY - AAFHAI389.47H BB
T(HHERARKIB56EETT) - RERHZEE
REAERZZE-—NF_AZ+/"HZEK - EITH
TEBRNFEIARARFBHAE=-Z—\F_At
= /N

RZZ2—N\FZANR  PESIMEZRERR
A(lFEgS DERE)  BREEREBIZEER
REWE - Bt BREREEREARDELZSIA
B %2.9387% T 2 [E & ([ AL &8 |) A2 :80,000,0008%
RARD (TRERD ) - #E4I235.048 & BT (18
BERARK1964788TL) - BRERDSHESHK
BERETHLE= T LZEEFRMNHERAE - QDI
R B{EEF KA AR A F-QDI - RIFACE KRN

W PESSEERERBEALEEE-SRE
80,000,000 A48 22 R & @Ak - AL & RN 2 L& &
REBRNHZBTERZE-—N\F_A+EBREX -
EEMRBNAFBERRARRBRR T -N\F_
ANBZRE -

February 2018.

RESERVES 37. f#E
2019 2018
—E-hF —ZT—)\F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HiaE ARETT ARBTFT
Share premium & E 7,073,804 6,882,609
Convertible preference shares AR AE S AR (i) 6,064,905 6,246,161
Other reserves H A (ii) (11,637,887) (11,637,887)
Exchange reserve bE 5 e 28,689 59,400
Investment revaluation reserve WEELFHE 148,393 110,661
Share option reserve (note 40) BERRAE RS (FYaE40) 210,718 222,970
Statutory reserve JEE R (iii) 313,625 221,376
Retained profits IREB &F 10,683,552 9,185,017
12,885,799 11,290,307

Notes: Bt
The movements of the Group’s reserves for the year are presented in the FEBEFAN 2 FREDNGAPBRR 2 IGEEREFHRT

consolidated statement of changes in equity of the consolidated financial 27 - BB MERBSRAT

statements. The nature and purpose of the reserves are as follows:
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37. RESERVES (conta)

Notes: (Cont'd)

(0

On 30 November 2015, the Company issued convertible preference
shares (the “2015 CPS”) at issue price of HK$2.06 per share, of
which 3,413,473,023 CPS were issued to Mr. Wong for aggregate
consideration of HK$7,031,754,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB5,959,114,000) as consideration for the Transaction as defined in
note 37(ii)(b).

Key terms of the 2015 CPS

. Holders of the 2015 CPS will be entitled to receive notices of and to
attend the general meetings of the Company but are not permitted
to vote unless a resolution is proposed to vary the rights of holders
of the 2015 CPS or a resolution is proposed for the winding up of
the Company;

o Holders of the 2015 CPS have the right to convert each 2015
CPS at any time into one ordinary share of the Company without
the payment of any additional consideration. The holders may not
exercise the conversion right if upon the conversion, the percentage
of ordinary shares held by the public will fall below the minimum
public float requirement under Rule 8.08 of the Listing Rules. The
shares that are issued upon the exercise of the conversion right of
the 2015 CPS are not subject to any restriction;

o The 2015 CPS cannot be redeemed by the Company or its holder;

o Holders of 2015 CPS will have priority over the holders of ordinary
shares of the Company on the assets and funds of the Company
available for distribution in a distribution of assets on liquidation,
winding-up or dissolution of the Company;

o Subject to compliance with all applicable laws and the article of
association of the Company, each 2015 CPS shall confer on its
holder the right to receive a preferred distribution from the date of
the issue of the 2015 CPS at a rate of 0.2% per annum, payable
annually in arrears. Such preferred distribution is non-cumulative.
The board of directors may, in its sole discretion, elect to defer
or not to pay a preferred distribution. No interest accrues on
any unpaid preferred distribution. If the board of directors of the
Company elects to defer or not to pay a preferred distribution, the
Company cannot pay any dividends, distributions or make any other
payment to any ordinary shares of the Company.

On 7 February 2018, the Company entered into the Convertible Preference
Shares (the “2018 CPS”) subscription agreement with Silver Sure (BVI)
Investments Limited, an independent third party to the Group as the
2018 CPS subscriber pursuant to which the 2018 CPS subscriber agreed
to subscribe for 132,564,669 new CPS at an aggregate consideration
of approximately HK$389.47 million (equivalent to RMB325.56 million).
The allotment and issue of 2018 CPS was completed on 21 February 2018.
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37. RESERVES (contd)

Notes: (Cont'd)

(i)

(ii)

(Contd)
Key terms of the 2018 CPS

o Holders of the 2018 CPS will be entitled to receive notices of and to
attend the general meetings of the Company but are not permitted
to vote unless a resolution is proposed to vary the rights of holders
of the 2018 CPS or a resolution is proposed for the winding up of
the Company;

o Holders of the 2018 CPS have the right to convert each 2018
CPS at any time into one ordinary share of the Company without
the payment of any additional consideration. The holders may not
exercise the conversion right if upon the conversion, the percentage
of ordinary shares held by the public will fall below the minimum
public float requirement under Rule 8.08 of the Listing Rules. The
shares that are issued upon the exercise of the conversion right of
the 2018 CPS are not subject to any restriction;

o The 2018 CPS cannot be redeemed by the Company or its holder;
and

o Holders of 2018 CPS will have priority over the holders of ordinary
shares of the Company on the assets and funds of the Company
available for distribution in a distribution of assets on liquidation,
winding-up or dissolution of the Company;

The details of the 2018 CPS are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 7 February 2018.

The 2018 CPS and 2015 CPS are classified as equity instruments in the
Group’s consolidated financial statements as the Group does not have a
contractual obligation to deliver cash or other financial assets arising from
the issue of the 2018 CPS and 2015 CPS.

On 29 April 2019, 22 November 2019 and 27 November 2019,
50,000,000, 17,826,087 and 36,000,000 2015 CPS have been converted
into ordinary shares at the conversion price of HK$2.06 per conversion
preference share respectively. Up to the date of the authorisation for issue
of the Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2019, no 2018 CPS has been converted into ordinary shares of
the Company.

Other reserves mainly comprise:

(a) A deemed contribution of an amount of HK$1,007,864,525
(equivalent to approximately RMB806,292,000) by China LVGEM
the then immediate holding company of the Company, to acquire
approximately 75% of the then aggregate issued share capital of the
Company on 8 May 2014 (the “Acquisition”).
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37. RESERVES (conta)
Notes: (Cont'd)
(ii) Other reserves mainly comprise: (Cont'd)

(b) A deemed distribution of an amount of HK$13,785,000,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB11,682,204,000) to Mr. Wong,
to acquire the entire equity interests in Green View Holding
Company Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Target Group”) (the “Transaction”). The Transaction
was completed on 30 November 2015. The amount of deemed
distribution comprised of issuance of 2,509,342,511 new
ordinary shares at issue price of HK$2.06 per ordinary share of
the Company amounted to HK$5,169,246,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB4,380,717,000), issuance of 3,413,473,023
convertible preference shares at issue price of HK$2.06 per
convertible preference shares amounted to HK$7,031,754,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB5,959,114,000), and cash
consideration of HK$1,584,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB1,342,373,000).

(c) The difference between the aggregate amount of share capital
and share premium of the Target Group and the Company at
the completion date of the Transaction, which amounted to
approximately RMB433,106,000.

(d) On 28 December 2018, the Group entered into a subscription
agreement with Mr. Wong to subscribe 90.1% equity interests in
Copious Favour Holdings Limited (“Copious Favour”), an investment
holding company wholly owned by Mr. Wong and Copious Favour
indirectly holds 44% equity interests in Zhuhai LVGEM Donggiao
Investment Co., Ltd (“Zhuhai LVGEM Donggiao”), which is a 51%
owned indirect subsidiary of the Company. Upon completion of
the subscription on 28 December 2018, Copious Favour became
a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, while the Group’s
equity interests in Zhuhai LVGEM Donggiao increased from 51% to
90.64%.

The difference between subscription amount and the attributable
net liabilities being acquired was included in other reserves.

(iii) As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations in the Mainland China,
certain subsidiaries of the Company in the Mainland China are required
to maintain a statutory reserve which is non-distributable other than upon
the liquidation of the entity. Transfer to this reserve is made out of profit
after tax of the Mainland China subsidiaries’ statutory financial statements
which are prepared in accordance with the accounting principles generally
accepted in the Mainland China.
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(iii)
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
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38. ACQUISITIONS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES THROUGH
ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(a)

As detailed in the announcement of the Company dated 21 May
2019, Shenzhen LVGEM Real Estate Development Co., Ltd (“the
Purchaser”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
as the purchaser entered into the Equity Transfer Agreement on
21 May 2019, with Dongguan Lusheng Enterprise Investment Co.,
Ltd. (“the Vendor”), a company established in the Mainland China
with limited liability which is controlled by the family members of
Mr. Wong as the seller pursuant to which the Purchaser agreed to
purchase, and the Vendor agreed to sell, 100% equity interest in
Dongguan LVGEM Real Estate Development Co., Ltd (“the Target
Company”) at a total consideration of RMB8 million.

The Target Company is principally engaged in the development
of a commercial properties project located in Zhangmutou Town,
Dongguan City, Guangdong Province, the Mainland China. The
acquisition is regarded as acquisition of assets and liabilities. The
acquisition was completed on 28 May 2019.

Assets and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition:
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REER AR EERAE :

RMB’000
ARBTFT

Assets BE
Investment properties under development R EmE 291,024
Property, plant and equipment W - BE K& 146
Properties under development for sale BREPEFEME 48,907
Deposits paid, prepayments and other receivables BfHES « FERRIE R E A REUGRIE 2,481
Other current assets HibReh&EE 847
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRRIAS 306,970
650,375

Liabilities aE
Accounts payable FEHERSR 490
Accruals, deposits received and other payables FETER - BUYR S M HMERN IR 494,885
Borrowings EP=i 147,000
642,375
Net assets EEFE 8,000
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38. ACQUISITIONS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES THROUGH
ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (contd)

(a)

(b)

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

38. ZBWEHBATAWBEERERE®

(Cont'd) (a (&)
Total consideration: BRME :
RMB’000
ARETT
Cash consideration paid BEfEERE 8,000
Net cash inflows arising on acquisition: WS EHEA RS RAIERE -
RMB’000
ARETT
Consideration paid in cash LIRS AR RE (8,000)
Less: cash and cash equivalent balances acquired B BREEIR S MIRe S EWEH 306,970
298,970

As detailed in the announcement of the Company dated 28
December 2018 and 4 January 2019, the Group entered
into a subscription agreement with Mr. Wong, the controlling
shareholder, to subscribe 90.1% equity interests at a consideration
of RMB20,000,000 in Copious Favour, an investment holding
company wholly owned by Mr. Wong and Copious Favour
indirectly holds 44% equity interests in Zhuhai LVGEM Donggiao,
which is a 51% owned indirect subsidiary of the Company.
Upon completion of the subscription on 28 December 2018,
Copious Favour became a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, while the Group’s effective equity interests in Zhuhai
LVGEM Donggiao increased from 51% to 90.64%. At the date of
acquisition, the net liabilities acquired by the Group amounting
to RMB401,400,000, which mainly included an amount due to
China LVGEM.

The difference between subscription amount and the attributable
net liabilities being acquired was included in other reserves.
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39. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDAIRY 39. HEKWB QT
During the year, the Group entered into a sale agreement to dispose FA - ANEBFTZEERE  UWEHEEREH R
of its 100% equity interest in Yiyang Zhonghe Real Estate Co., Ltd EXBRAR(&EFIZ] - ZA5HE —BESE
(“Yiyang Zhonghe”), a company which owned a piece of land classified AERPEFEWE i ARE27,496,0007T ) 2
as properties under development for sale of RMB27,496,000, to an 100%BHETF—BBLE=F - HEFEBN -_ZT—N
independent third party. The disposal was completed on 21 February FZAZF+—HEX -
2019.
Assets and liabilities recognised at the date of disposal: REERRERCEEREE :
RMB’000
AREFIT
Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB REE 14
Properties under development for sale BREPFEME 42,513
Deposits paid, prepayments and other receivables BfRe - BN RIERE A EWGRIE 319
Bank balances and cash RITHERRIA S 1,343
44,189
Liabilities aE
Accruals, deposits received and other payables ezt ER - B S R EMENRIE 51,090
Net liabilities S8EFE (6,901)
The net liabilities of Yiyang Zhonghe at the date of disposal was as wmEPIZNHE Rz AEFHEET ¢
follows:
RMB’000
ARETFT
Net liabilities disposed of BEHEBETE (6,901)
Gain on disposal k-l 33,300
Total consideration BRE 26,399
Satisfied by: PNVE:S
Cash BHe 26,399

— =

—=
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

39. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDAIRY (cont'a) 39. HEKWB AT (2
Net cash inflows arising on disposal: HETRNRESTAFRE :
RMB’000
AREFIT
Total cash consideration received BN SRERE 26,399
Less: cash and cash equivalent balances disposed B BEHERE MRS EEYES (1,343)
25,056

40. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION

The share option scheme adopted by the Company on 14 November
2005 expired on 13 November 2015. On 2 June 2016, the Company
adopted a new share option scheme (the “Scheme”) at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 2 June 2016.

Pursuant to the Scheme, the board of directors may, at its discretion,
invite any executive or non-executive directors including independent
non-executive directors or any employees (whether full-time or part-
time) of the Company, its subsidiaries and associated companies;
any discretionary objects of a discretionary trust established by any
employees, executive or non-executive directors of each member of the
Group or its associated companies; any consultants, professional and
other advisers to each member of the Group or its associated companies
(or persons, firms or companies proposed to be appointed for providing
such services); any chief executives or substantial shareholders of the
Company; any associates of any director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company; and any employees (whether full-time or
part-time) of substantial shareholders of the Company, provided that the
board of directors may have absolute discretion to determine whether
or not one falls within the above categories, (together, the “Participants”
and each a “Participant”), to take up options (“Option(s)”) to subscribe
for shares at a price determined in accordance with the paragraph
below.

In determining the basis of eligibility of each Participant, the board of
directors would take into account such factors as the board of directors
may at its discretion consider appropriate.

The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years
commencing on the date on which the Scheme is adopted, after which
period no further Options will be granted but in all other respects the
provisions of the Scheme shall remain in full force and effect, and
Options which are granted during the life of the Scheme may continue to
be exercisable in accordance with their terms of grant.
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40.

SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION (cont)

The exercise price of a share in relation to each Option granted under
the Scheme shall be a price solely determined by the board of directors
and notified to a Participant and shall be at least the highest of:

(a)  the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the business day on which
an offer is accepted by the grantee or if such date of acceptance
by the grantee is not a business day, the immediately preceding
business day;

(b) a price being the average of the closing prices of the Company’s
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets
for the five business days immediately preceding the date on
which an offer is accepted by the grantee (provided that the new
issue price shall be used as the closing price for any business
day falling within the period before listing of the shares where the
Company has been listed for less than five business days as at the
date on which an offer is accepted by the grantee); and

(c)  the nominal value of a Company’s share.

The total number of shares, which may be issued upon exercise of all
Options to be granted under the Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Company shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total
number of shares in issue on the date of commencement of dealings in
the shares on the Stock Exchange (“Scheme Mandate Limit”), unless
the Company obtains an approval from its shareholders. Options lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Scheme will not be counted for the
purpose of calculating such 10% limit.

Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Scheme, the maximum
number of the shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding Options granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company shall not exceed
30% of the total number of shares in issue from time to time.

Unless approved by the shareholders, the total number of shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of the Options granted to each participant
(including both exercised and outstanding Options) in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue.

Offer of an option (“Offer”) shall be deemed to have been accepted by
any Participant (the “Grantee”) who accepts an Offer in accordance
with the terms of the Scheme and the option to which the Offer relates
shall be deemed to have been granted and to have taken effect when
the duplicate of the offer letter comprising acceptance of the Offer
duly signed by the Grantee together with a remittance in favour of the
Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the granting thereof is
received by the Company within 30 days from the date upon which the
Offer is made.
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40. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION (contd)

On 28 June 2016, the Company granted share options under the
Scheme to certain Participants which will enable the Grantees to
subscribe for a total of 285,800,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in
the share capital of the Company.

Details of the Options granted by the Company pursuant to the Scheme
and the Options outstanding as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December
2018 are as follows:

40.

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE
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RZZ—RFRNAZTN\B - ARARBEZEW
HET2REERHBRE  EARARARBARRF
P& A & $£285,800,000/% & AR EIE0.017%8 T H) & 8
B o

ARABRBZAEREENR_F-NF+=A=+
—BRZZE-NFTZA=+—HAEKRTENER
REREIFIT

BRERE

Balance at

Exercisable 1 January

Date of grant period 2019

RZB-n%

-A-H

RHAH TEHAH HeEs
(dd/mmdyyyy) — (dd/mmyyyy)
(R/B/%) (R/B/%)

Transfer
during
the year

REABR

Granted Exercised Lapsed Balance at Exercise
turing during turing 31 December price per
the year the year the year 2019 share
RZE-hE
t=B=1+-A
REREL  RERTE REREN MEs  SROEE
(Note 4) HKS$
GEZ) A

Executive directors (Note 1) #TES(WH) 28/06/2016  28/06/2016t0 13,950,000
27/06/2026
28/06/2016%F
2710612026

Executive directors (Note 2) YTEZ(WH2) 28/06/2016  28/06/2017t0 13,350,000
27/06/2026
2/06/2017%

27/06/2026

Executive directors (Note 3) HOES(WH3) 28/06/2016  28/06/2018t0 18,600,000
2710612026
28/06/2018%

27/06/2026

Employees (Note 1) EE(H21) 2810612016  28/06/2016t0 65,490,000
27/06/2026
28/06/2016%F
2710612026

Employees (Note 2) EE(H:22) /062016 28/06/2017t0 65,850,000
27/06/2026
2/06/2017%

27/06/2026

Employees (Note 3) EE(H:H3) /062016  28/06/2018t0 87,800,000
2710612026
28/06/2018%

27/06/2026

Others (Note 1) Efv(Hizz1) 2810612016  28/06/2018t0 3,000,000
27/06/2026
28/06/2018%

2710612026

Others (Note 2) () 20062016 28/06/2018 to =
27/06/2026
28/06/2018%

27/06/2026

Others (Note 3) Efo(Hi3) 281062016 28/06/20180 =
2710612026
28/06/2018%

27/06/2026

(3,450,000)

(3,450,000)

(4,600,000)

2,550,000

2,550,000

3,400,000

900,000

900,000

1,200,000

= = = 10,500,000 1.846

= = = 10,500,000 1.846

- - - 14,000,000 1.846

- (1,440,000)  (3,090,000) 63,510,000 1.846

- (1440,000)  (3,090,000) 63,870,000 1.846

- (1,512,000)  (4,120,000) 85,568,000 1.846

= = = 3,900,000 1.846

900,000 1.846

- - - 1.200,000 1.846

268,640,000

- (4,392,000) (10,300,000 253,348,000

Exercisable at the end of the year  RERATE

253,948,000
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40. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION (contd) 40. RN EES M)
g A
Balance at Transfer Granted Exercised Lapsed Balance at Exercise
Exercisable 1 January during during during during 31 December price per
Date of grant period 2018 the year the year the year the year 2018 share
RZF-N RZF-NE
£-A-A t-R=1-H
Pl it MEs  REREE  RERRE  RERER  RERER WEs  BRORE
(da/mmiyyyy) — (ddimmiyyyy) (Note 4) HKS
(R/R/%) (B/R/%) (Hist4) AT
Executive directors (Note 1) ITES(HHI) 28/06/2016  28/06/2016t0 13,950,000 - - - - 13,950,000 1.846
27/06/2026
28/06/2016%
27/06/2026
Executive directors (Note 2) BITES(H:2) 28/06/2016  28/06/2017to 13,950,000 - - - - 13,950,000 1.846
27/06/2026
28/06/2017%2
27/06/2026
Executive directors (Note 3) BITES(HH3) 28/06/2016  28/06/2018t0 18,600,000 - - - - 18,600,000 1.846
27/06/2026
28/06/2018%
27/06/2026
Employees (Note 1) EB(Mit1) 2810612016 28/06/2016t0 68,490,000 - - (3,000,000) - 65,490,000 1.846
27/06/2026
28/06/2016%
27/06/2026
Employees (Note 2) EB(Wi#2) 28/06/2016  28/06/2017t0 68,490,000 - - (21000000  (540,000) 65,850,000 1.846
27/06/2026
28/06/2017%2
27/06/2026
Employees (Note 3) EB(it3) 28/06/2016  28/06/2018t0 91,320,000 - - (1,600,0000  (1,920,000) 87,800,000 1.846
27/06/2026
28/06/2018%
27/06/2026
Others (Note 1) Eft(Hiz1) 28/06/2016  28/06/201810 3,000,000 - - - - 3,000,000 1.846
27/06/2026
28/06/2018%
27/06/2026
277,800,000 - - (67000000 (2460,0000 268,640,000
Exercisable at the end of the year  RERA{TE 268,640,000
Note 1: The options were vested immediately on the date of grant. ML« PERCHER 1R B EIRNEG SRR o
Note 2:  The options granted are subject to the vesting period from the date of M2 . FRENEBREXEREBHEE-_T—+FA
grant up to 27 June 2017. SRR BEEAARR
Note 3: The options granted are subject to the vesting period from the date of HieE3 : P HMBRER AL B BEE T — \F /A
grant up to 27 June 2018. SRR BEEAARR
Note 4: The weighted average share price at the dates of exercise for share Hieta - RAFEITEBRES B ZMEFHREASR
options during the year was HK$2.74 per share. 2.74%7T °
The closing price of the Company’s shares immediately before 28 June ARFABHREE —Z—RFRA-TNBEREE
2016, the date of grant, was HK$1.820. H) R B A1.820/8 7T °
There is no performance condition for the Options to vest. BT R IGUTTERE

— =

—=

BR(PEMERARRAT 479
NFFIR
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40.

41.

SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION (contd)

The fair values of the Options determined at the date of grant using
the Binomial Option Pricing Model were HK$276,156,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB236,030,000). During the year ended 31
December 2019, the Group recognised the total expense of nil (2018:
RMB21,959,000) in relation to share options granted by the Company.

The Binomial Option Pricing Model has been used to estimate the fair
value of the options. The variables and assumptions used in computing
the fair value of the share options are based on the best estimate of the
directors of the Company. Changes in variables and assumptions may
result in changes in the fair value of the Options.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Hong Kong

The Group has joined a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) for its employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is
registered with the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Authority under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in funds
under the control of an independent trustee. Under the rule of the MPF
Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the MPF Scheme at rates specified in the rules. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is to make the
required contributions under the MPF Scheme.

The retirement benefit scheme contributions arising from the MPF
Scheme charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss represent
contributions payable to the funds by the Group at rates specified in the
rules of the scheme.

The Mainland China

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the Mainland China are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by
the government of the Mainland China. The subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of the salaries of their employees to
the state-managed retirement benefit scheme. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to make the
required contributions under the scheme.

During the year, the retirement benefit scheme contributions amounted
to RMB28,243,000 (2018: RMB22,330,000). No forfeited contributions
have been used to reduce the level of contributions in both years.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

RSB RS HM =)

REEBHL B CEERETHERE
A A B 1E 5276,156,000/ TT(HE RO AR
236,030,0007T) - HE-_E—hE+-_A=+—8
IHEE  REBMBRARBRH 2 BRERER 2 45
TAT(ZZE—/)\F : AR¥21,959,0007T) °

“EASREEENE ARG BERENRAE
B BRFAEBREAABENATERZ KRR
REARBDESREMGF L - TERRRRHZRN
SR EHBREAABELREZ -

RKERETE
&

AEEE2N—HAAEERE ZBE R ZEH T
AR E(RESFE ) - BESF D RIZEE
AR EETEFRPIERFEATREFTEEERE
fit e @iERF B EERAAKBECEEDRRE
HBYXTAERZESTA - REREBESHE 2
FA - BERBEEADBILMRANIEE 2 L REHRIR
SEFEIHR - AREBE DA A E 2R EER
WRERE ST SRR EHR -

B A EaRTHIRE BRES 8 Z R IREMFT
AN AEEIZZA R AT A2 L R BBRAR
&2 HEERER

R Bl P

AEERE AW EA R ZES 28D EAmBT
EEZBERERRARENGE - WERRARES
FooBm THERABERKERRKEH SR -
SEBZRKENE AR 2 B EERRREZET
BIEHIEE R -

FRA - BRAREME S HRRARE28,243,0007T (=
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42,

43.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders,
by pricing properties commensurately with the level of risk and by
securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in
the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristic of
the underlying assets.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the net debt to equity ratio.
For this purpose the net debt is defined as borrowings less cash and
cash equivalents. The Group’s goal in capital management is to maintain
a net debt to equity ratio at a reasonable level. In order to maintain
or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, return capital to
shareholders, raise new debt financing or sell assets to reduce debts.

The Group’s overall strategy in capital management remains unchanged
from prior year.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND
OBJECTIVES

42.

43.

e P RRME

EXEREE

FAEBEREANTI R ARSREAEEAHEL
RS ATNET AR SR 3 N 2 B A R 25 48 7
RN DEBEKRERKTFEEMEE
% RABEHKANETRE

AR5 R IR A B AR R B S B % A B A P LB A 1
BB AN AEBIWAEHARERE -

AEERFRERSHLTNEESREEN - glit
MmE  FRENERR/EERRELESEED -
REBEARERNBERTE BERLETEHN
BIHKY - REFFRFBREREE  AEEH
RN FRRMNRESKE BTG  RERSE
THRR  SEHEBRENHEEEME -

77

]

AEEERE  ARBAREROBRERERSTE -

MBERERENBERKEZE

Categories of financial instruments SRT AR
2019 2018
—E-hEF = N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AREFIT
Financial assets ERMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost REENATENSREE 9,350,949 8,579,811
Equity instrument at fair value through other 2 A4 BEFFAEMEZEKRZSZ
comprehensive income AT A 541,125 490,816
Financial asset at FVTPL BARBEFABSZERHEE - 10,559
Debt instrument at fair value through other BARBAEFAHMEZAEKEZ
comprehensive income EETA = 20,000
Financial liabilities TRER
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 1&# 4R A EM S RIE E 27,735,342 25,336,421
Derivative financial instruments TTESRTAE 222,207 198,105

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks: currency risk,
interest rate risk, price risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s
overall risk management focuses on unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance. The Group currently does not have any written
risk management policies and guidelines. However, the directors of
the Company meet periodically to analyse and formulate strategies to
manage and monitor financial risks.

The Group is not engaged in the trading of financial assets for speculative
purposes. The most significant financial risks to which the Group is
exposed are described below.

FEEARZEMBRR  E%RER - FXER -
EBRERE  FERREEBDESRER - AEEME
BEREESHAENRSBRM SO NATRANE ¥
REHAEEHBERBANBETNZERERE -
AER BRI R X R R EERR LIS -
A ARPEETHEHRSE AT REIERE
HE A E IR B BRI TS R o

AEESEEENREASECNEREERS - A
SEMEE R REZMBERIIINT

BR(FE)MERABRAE 4

T -NFFR

—=
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND
OBJECTIVES (contd)

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

43. BiIERERENBERBE®)

43.1 Currency risk 43.1 E%ER
Certain subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency ARRETHBRARZ B EEN A BIAINE
denominated monetary assets and liabilities, which expose the FHE - MAEBAEBRINERR o ANEEHRRI
Group to foreign currency risk. The Group currently does not have EERINERR 2 BUR - A BEESRY)
a policy to hedge the foreign currency exposure. However, the EIEABINERE - WREREREZEZRI
management monitors the related foreign currency fluctuation [ERE A LA R E RINE R ©
closely and will consider entering into foreign exchange forward
contracts to hedge significant portion of the foreign currency risk
should the need arise.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency REBLVINEEHEC EREEREE B ERR
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the LHHZRABEMT ¢
reporting date as follows:
Assets Liabilities
BE 8f&
2019 2018 2019 2018
—E-hF —ZT-N\F —E-hF —T-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREFIT AR¥TR ARETT
uss$ ETT 279,351 125,999 1,153,875 835,367
HK$ BT 442 438 219,876 1,860,657 2,782,493
Sensitivity analysis HEE ST

The Group is mainly exposed to the currency of US$ and HKS$.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase
and decrease in RMB against the relevant foreign currency.
5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency
risk internally to directors of the Company’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.

The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items assuming the balances at the
end of the reporting period outstanding for the whole year and
adjusts their translation at the year end for a 5% change in foreign
currency rates. A positive number below indicates an increase in
profit where RMB strengthen 5% against the relevant currency.
For a 5% weakening of RMB against the relevant currency, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit, and the
balances below would be negative.
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HE-_Z-NF+-_RA=1T—HIFE
43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND 43. BiIXEREENEEREEZ @)
OBJECTIVES (conta)
43.1 Currency risk (Contd) 43.1 E¥ERE)
Sensitivity analysis (Cont'd) BN (4E)
2019 2018
—E-NEF —T-N\EF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARETT
us$ EH
Profit or loss bi=ba 32,795 26,601
HK$ BT
Profit or loss B85 53,183 96,098
In the management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is EEERA  ARFEREFL Tﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂﬂﬁ’* g
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year WU E DT AR BER R NTEAYHNES [ B
end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.
43.2 Interest rate risk 43.2 FRER
The Group has significant borrowings (see note 33 for details) $’§ EELNFEREXFENERNEE(FH
with floating interest rate which are exposed to cash flow interest- & 5Bt EBS) AXBReRENERAR - &
rate risk. Certain bank loans and certain other borrowings, certain FiR1T & % FHAM 1ﬁ E-ATER
restricted bank deposits, certain bank balances, convertible % R ﬁﬁ ETRITEH TRKE
bonds, senior notes and bond, and lease liabilities (see note 32 A5 BERE TJ{” SEEE N &Tﬂh BE(FE
for details) carried at fixed rate which exposed the Group to fair BEME2) LEERMEG B WHFAE
value interest rate risk. During the year, the Group has not hedged BEAXAABEMNERR - FA A&

its cash flow and fair value interest rate risks.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on
the exposure to interest rates for variable-rate borrowings at the
end of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming
the amount of liability outstanding at the end of the reporting
period was outstanding for the whole year. A 50 (2018: 50) basis
point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate
risk internally to directors of the Company’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

BVvENFTERESRERA LA BERNEX
=B o

GRBZE ST

T BSEA T RIT SRR RS AT
LoAERAN s A EGEAEETAX
BEREEFEHABEMRLE - AAL
e
SO MIERHA | ER AL TR R AT
B2 B2 AP -

—=— 4,

—=
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND
OBJECTIVES (contd)

43.2

43.3

Interest rate risk (Cont'd)
Sensitivity analysis (Cont’d)

If interest rates had been 50 (2018: 50) basis points higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s post-
tax profit for the year would decrease/increase by approximately
RMB24,538,000 (2018: RMB24,916,000), net of interest that
would be capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy.

Sensitivity analysis on bank deposits is not presented as the
directors of the Company consider that the Group’s exposure to
interest rate fluctuations on bank deposits is insignificant.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due
to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties and
financial guarantees provided by the Group is arising from the
carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position and the
amount of contingent liabilities in relation to financial guarantee
issued by the Group as disclosed in note 47.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its accounts
and other receivables, amounts due from a joint venture,
related companies and non-controlling interests, and amount
of contingent liabilities in relation to the financial guarantees
provided by the Group. The amounts presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position are net of allowances
for credit losses, estimated by the Group’s management based on
prior experience and their assessment of the current economic
environment.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with
exposure spread over a large number of counterparties and
customers, except for amounts due from a joint venture, a
subcontractor, related parties and non-controlling interests of
RMB829,310,000 (2018: RMB810,002,000) in aggregate as
at 31 December 2019. The credit risk on liquid funds is limited
because the funds have been deposited with various creditworthy
financial institutions located in Hong Kong and the Mainland
China.

184 LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED

Annual Report 2019

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

43. BiIERERENBERBE®)

43.2

43.3

REAR (%)

-,

IR

B

2

ZE T ()

i

[

KR R A0,/ 450 (—F— )\4F : 50) @£
ShMATE Bt B BT - AEBINBRILR
REBMEHFHEENMEAEENENGRTHER
Rk 18 a4 A R % 24,538,0007t ( =&
—\% : AR¥24916,0007T) °
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND BERREENBEREEZE®)

OBJECTIVES (contd)

43.3 FERBRNBERE(E)

43.3 Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont'd)

As at 31 December 2019, the directors of the Company
considered that the default risk for other receivables, amounts due
from a joint venture, related parties and non-controlling interests
is very low due to their sound credit worthiness, financial position
and historical repayment records.

For amount due from a joint venture, the management of the
Group assessed the profitability of the underlying project of the
joint venture and its recoverability. Due to its profitability, the
directors of the Company considered that the default risk is low.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the
Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade
debt at the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this
regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

For properties under development which are subject to pre-sales
agreements, the Group generally typically provides guarantees
to banks in connection with the customers’ borrowing of
mortgage loans to finance their purchase of the properties for
certain amount of the total purchase price of the property. If a
purchaser defaults on the payment of its mortgage during the
term of guarantee, the bank holding the mortgage may demand
the Group to repay the outstanding amount of the loan and any
accrued interest thereon. Under such circumstances, the Group
is able to forfeit the customer’'s purchase deposit and sell the
property to recover any amounts paid by the Group to the bank.
Therefore, the management considers it would likely recover
any loss incurred arising from the guarantee by the Group. The
management considers the credit risk exposure to financial
guarantees provided to property purchasers is limited because
the facilities are secured by the properties and the market prices
of the properties are higher than the guaranteed amounts. In this
regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

As at 31 December 2019, the directors of the Company considered
that the default risk for the accounts receivable is very low and the
lifetime ECL allowance is insignificant.
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND 43. BiKEKREENBERBEE @)

OBJECTIVES (contd)

43.4 Liquidity risk 434 RBELER

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by the management to finance the Group’s operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. In the opinion
of the directors of the Company, the Group does not have any
significant liquidity risk exposure.

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements
to ensure that the Group maintains sufficient reserves of cash
to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term
financial liabilities.

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities
at the end of the reporting period of the non-derivative financial
liabilities, based on undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based
on current rates at the end of the reporting period) and the earliest
date the Group can be required to pay.

Specifically, for term loans which contain a repayment on demand
clause which can be exercised at the bank’s sole discretion, the
analysis shows the cash outflows based on the earliest period
in which the Group can be required to pay, that is if the lenders
were to invoke their unconditional rights to call the loans with
immediate effect. The maturity analysis for other bank borrowings
is prepared based on the scheduled repayment dates.
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND . BREREENBEREBERE @
OBJECTIVES (cont'a)
43.4 Liquidity risk (Cont'd) 434 RERELERE)
Total
Weighted Less than After 1 After 2 contractual
average 1 year year but years hut undiscounted
effective oron less than less than After cash Carrying
interest rate demand 2 years 5 years 5 years flows amount
IET —FR5 —EN0E MERL FREH

BERA= BER  WEUR REA nE% RERELE SRETE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBTT ARMTR AR%TT ARMTR AR%T:n

2019 —E-hE
Non-derivative financial ~ FEfTELRMERE

liabilities
Accounts payable FEfTERTR - 1,111,831 - - - 1,111,831 1,111,831
Accruals and other & B A R E MR

payables TIA - 528,998 - - - 528,998 528,998
Borrowings TE 6.29 5,022,406 4,834,740 11,345,649 1,950,810 23,153,605 19,456,079
Senior notes and bond BAZERES 7.89 5,274,980 - - - 5,274,980 5,027,123
Convertible bonds AHRES 12.83 1,787,118 - - - 1,787,118 1,715,464*
Leases liabilities HEARE 9.50 33,218 29,615 71,702 40,754 175,289 118,054
Financial guarantee IBIERED

contracts (note 47) (K1:#47) - 2,132,390 - - - 2,132,390 -

15,890,941 4,864,355 11,417,351 1,991,564 34,164,211 27,957,549
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND 43. BiKEKREENBERBEE @)

OBJECTIVES (contd)

includes the carrying amount of the related derivative components.

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts
are the maximum amounts the Group could be required to settle
under the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that
amount is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based
on the expectations at the end of the reporting period, the Group
considers that it is more likely than not that no amount will be
payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate is subject
to change depending on the probability of the counterparty
claiming under the guarantee which is a function of the likelihood
that the financial receivables held by the counterparty which are
guaranteed suffer credit losses.

The table that follows summarises the maturity analysis of term
loans with a repayment on demand clause based on agreed
scheduled repayments set out in the loan agreements. The
amounts include interest payments computed using contractual
rates. As a result, these amounts were greater than the amounts
disclosed in the “on demand” time band in the maturity analysis
above. Taking into account the Group’s financial position, the
directors do not consider that it is probable that the banks will
exercise their discretion to demand immediate repayment.
The directors believe that such term loans will be repaid in
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the
loan agreements.
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43.4 Liquidity risk (Cont'd) 434 RBESREKE)
Total
Weighted Less than After 1 After 2 contractual
average 1 year year but years but undiscounted
effective oron less than less than After cash Carrying
interest rate demand 2 years 5 years 5 years flows amount
IET —FRK —FE REAE ATREL)
BHAI% REX RELAR AFHUR TFk RenEEE REE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETrT ARETT ARET:H
2018 —ET-)\F
Non-derivative financial ~ JEfT4SREE
liabilities
Accounts payable BRI - 1,383,514 - - - 1,383,514 1,383,514
Accruals and other JETE R R e
payables E9r] - 628,497 - - - 628,497 628,497
Borrowings B8 6.05 3,718,961 2,768,303 9,531,104 2473164 18491532 16,541,796
Senior notesand bond  BAZERES 7.75 2,962,551 2,963,780 = = 5,926,331 5,400,969
Convertible bonds aRkES 13.87 78,080 754,167 1,144,755 - 1,977,002  1,579,750*
Financial guarantee BBERED
contracts (note 47) (Hii47) = 1,162,977 = = = 1,162,977 =
9,934,580 6,486,250 10,675,859 2,473,164 29,569,853 25,534,526
o The carrying amount of the convertible bonds disclosed here & IR B A RRES REESERREITE

TAMOHRREE

EiEF AMBERAESANFERMR ZE T8
HERER  AEERBLRIHMEIEREAL
NH&= S o RRMEPRES - AEER
RIRELPAZENZFEN A L ERE - R
i S AR E - BURNES A B ERY
BRYRRN R 2477 BREEBRAMRER
GRFUERTRO AT RENE -

TR A RERERGEROERETRE
AIHAERFIMFEEERAHNDHB DT - Z
ELRERRA NN RAENT SO -
It ZEEBEA LIRS HRER E
RMEBEEARENSERD - EXANEENETE
AN - BEERRRITIAF B TRERBHEE
RENEER - BEEHREXFEREFERER
AP E BV BEE R K B B EE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

e P RRME

43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND 43. BKEREENBERREEZE®)
OBJECTIVES (cont'a)
43.4 Liquidity risk (Cont'd) 434 RERELERE)
Maturity analysis of term loans subject to a repayment on demand i iR 2R ERIEHRA T B E IR EER B
clause based on scheduled repayments is as follows: HEEHAB ST T ¢
Total
On Less than 6to 1t05 undiscounted Carrying
demand 6 months 12 months years cash flows amount
~ERE EXiig kA
RER  DSRAEA +=f@AR —FZRF B HREE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRT AR¥ETR AR%BTn AR®TR AR¥®Tr AR%¥TrR
31 December 2019 —Z—RF
+=—RA=+—~H - 41,894 355,880 318,366 716,140 689,850
31 December 2018 —ZF— \&F
+=—A=+—~H - 180,144 264,489 249,942 694,575 675,274
43.5 Price risk 435 EiERER

The Group is exposed to price risk in connection with equity
instrument at FVTOCI which is public listed equity security in the
Mainland China. The Group closely monitors the fluctuation of
the prices and assesses the impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

If prices of equity security has been 5% higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, the Group’s investment
revaluation reserve would increase/decrease by approximately
RMB20,292,000 (2018: RMB18,406,000).

The Group was also exposed to other price risk arising from the
outstanding derivative financial instruments with predetermined
maturity date. The fair value of these derivative financial
instruments was calculated using the Binomial Option Pricing
Model detailed in note 34.

However, the management considers that the sensitivity analysis
is unrepresentative of the inherent market risk as the pricing
model used in the fair value valuation of these derivative financial
statements which involves multiple variables are interdependent
and the Company’s exposure to fluctuation of the fair value is
minimal.

REEAS ER AR BEFAEEEKEZ
BRATEBBZERER  GREATASR
TEABH AR kRS o NEEE )5
SERFB NI HE@THHAEEEE TG
WRZFE -

iR HE B S E AR AE I0,R A5% » T AT A H At
BYRFETE  FAEEZRAEHHBES
MR # A R 820,292,000 = F — N\
F « AR18,406,0007T) °

AEETEEREMERELNH A Z W ARITE
THEERTAZEMEBRRR - ZETESR
TEAMNRAEBEDER IR BEEEBREE
CRl - E N R

R BEERA - ARFHEZETES/MT
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND

OBJECTIVES (contd)

43.6 Fair value measurement of financial instruments

This note provides information about how the Group determines
fair values of various financial assets and financial liabilities.

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are measured at fair
value for financial reporting purposes. In estimating the fair value,
the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third
party qualified valuers to perform the valuation or to establish the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities
that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The
following table gives information about how the fair values of
these financial assets and financial liabilities are determined (in
particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

Fair value as at 31 December
RT=ZA=+-BWAAEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HEZ-NF+A=1+—HItFE

MHEEREENBRR B &)

43.6 ERTANDAEETE

AMERE A BARENAEESES
REBEEALBEOES -

BMEE

REBHRERNME - AREHO SR TAT
BARBERE - EEFAREER - AKE

RIS ERE RIS BREE o (W&

E-—RWARE  NEESZRE=FEER
B AR AT (B RSB A 2 (b Bl R ARE
ZBRABUE

IS E B ELU N [BEFT BN A EE 5 E
ERTHE BN EE

AEEROSREENSREBBAERSHRENR

BAREERE - TREREENABEEZS
CRMEERSRABEAABENEN(LER
PSR O (b (BB Rt ABUR) -

2019 2018
Financial assets/ —E-hE —T-\F Fairvalue  Valuation technique(s) and key
financial liabilities RMB'000 RMB'000 hierarchy ~input(s) Significant unobservable input(s)
SREESREME ARBTT ARETT DAABESR AERNRIZGAHE TEFUBRRARE
Derivative financial instruments 222,207 198,105 Level 3 Binomial option pricing model Volatility of the share prices
The fair value is estimated determined by reference to
based on the risk free rate, the historical share prices of
discount rate, share price, the Company (Note).
volatility of the share prices of
the Company, dividend yield
and exercise price.
TEERTIA = ZEAEREERS E2EADARLRERET
AR BESEERRTE B HIRE R IR (H5) o
BE - RE  AREARER
1~ REERITFEEMREET «
Equity instrument at fair value through 541,125 490,816 Level 1 Quoted bid price in an active N/A
other comprehensive income market.
BARBEFALMEZHEKE 2 £ NERTNHEZEAERE - TER
BRATA
Financial assets at fair value through - 10,559 Level 1 Quoted bid price in an active N/A
profit or loss market.
BARBEMARG CRHEE £ NERMGEZEAERE - TER
Debt instrument at fair value through - 20,000 Level 1 Quoted bid price in an active N/A
other comprehensive income market.
BARBEFALEEREZE £ NERMGEZEAEBRE - TER
BIA
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE—Z-NF+A=1+—HItFE

43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND  43.
OBJECTIVES (contd)

BERREENBEREEZE®)

43.6 Fair value measurement of financial instruments (Cont'd)

Note: The higher the volatility of the share prices of the Company, the
higher the fair value of the derivative financial instruments, and vice
versa. For the volatility of the share prices of the Company used
in the fair value measurement for derivative financial instruments,
please refer to note 34.

There is no transfer between different levels of the fair value
hierarchy for both years.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

436 SRMIBENAAREBENEE)

Mat - RRBIRERERS  ITESBRITANDR
BEANRRS RZITA - BREMTESHRIA
AR EEFEMRAOIARRERE - 7
2B MI7E34 -

RWEFE 2

%

AREBEESRER 2 EHES

FE=RAnBEFAESNHE

Conversion option

derivative
REHESTETR

2019 2018

—E-hEF —E-N\F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T AREEFIT

Net carrying amount as at 1 January R—A—BMEREFE 198,105 111,078
Embedded derivatives at the date of issue of REBITARRES BB ZBRAL

convertible bonds PTETE = 255,307

Conversion of convertible bond of 2018 CB R —TE—NFaBiRESFZ

AR ES - (11,107)

Fair value (gain) loss recognised in profit or loss RBE=EERANAAEE (W) EE 20,170 (172,192)

Exchange difference b 7 ERE 3,932 15,019

Net carrying amount as at 31 December R+ A=+—HHEREFE 222,207 198,105

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are IR E 1B ELU R A BB = (1EAEL

not measured at fair value on a recurring basis (but fair value
disclosures are required)

Except for the senior notes and bond as detailed in note 35, the
directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and liabilities recorded as amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate to their fair values.

The fair value of such financial assets and financial liabilities
(categories within Level 3 hierarchy) are determined in accordance
with general accepted pricing models based on discounted cash
flow analysis, with the most significant inputs being the discount
rate that reflects the credit risk of counterparties.

AAEBEKE) B EEREHE EHRL
EE

B BB ﬁ35¢k21§5‘6m?}§ KEFHIN - AR
AIEES B MBS HR NIREE R AT
EEE’J?E@Q&E&EEE’]EEEEEEE@%FE*E

et

= o

FHzREERERAGBNAABE(BE=
Z&*EEJ%)JEETF%E’\HEEEEE/E/RE%\WE’J—
RAREBEALETE - AP REZNHARE
%&%X%;Y?ﬁ%ﬂ ORI 3 o
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

44, RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 44, METBELE2EBYHER
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from TRAEAEEREEHELZAEEHNFS  BE
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. RekFEReE MESTDELAZAGEDNARE
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows RERBRASRENAEB ZRARERERD
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated HEARMEEPRERECAE -
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.
Deht Derivative
component component
of of
Dividend convertible  Senior notes convertible Lease
payables Borrowings honds and hond honds Liahilities Total
AR AR
EHER BEEE BHITE
ERRE BE B k&% IS HEEE “E
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT AR®ET:R
At 1 January 2019 R=Z-N&F—F—H - 16,541,796 1,381,645 5,400,969 198,105 - 23522515
Adjustment upon application of ~ JEF &S B TE R & A
HKFRS 16 L1651 2T - = - - - 131,723 131,723
At 1 January 2019 R=ZE—NF—F—H - 16,541,796 1,381,645 5,400,969 198,105 131,723 23,654,238
Financing cash flows BMEURER (234,207) 1,356,160 (88,155) (889,899) = (25,598) 118,301
Acquisition of a subsidiary ¢ A= YNT = 147,000 = = = = 147,000
Foreign exchange translation GNEHRE = 224,306 27,530 46,426 3,932 = 302,194
Interest expenses FlERXZ - 1,186,817 172,237 411,241 - 11,929 1,782,224
Fair value adjustment NABEAE - - - - 20,170 - 20,170
Loss on non-substantial REERN AT
modification of financial SREBENFER
liabilities at amortised cost SEER - - - 57,287 - - 57,287
Loss on early redemption TR AE B 18 SR A
of financial liabilities at 01lJ: el S=L -y
amortised cost =] = = = 1,099 = = 1,099
Dividend declared RS 234,207 = = = = = 234,207
At 31 December 2019 RZZE—h&F
+-A=+—H - 19,456,079 1,493,257 5,027,123 222,207 118054 26,316,720
At 1 January 2018 R=Z—-\F—F—H - 12,958,277 589,650 5,250,854 111,078 - 18,909,859
Financing cash flows BEWRLT (203,019) 2,501,044 658,715 (394,549) 255,307 - 2,817,498
Foreign exchange translation INEBRE = 261,584 60,589 134,464 15,019 = 471,656
Interest expenses FEFES - 820,891 131,969 410,200 - - 1,363,060
Conversion of 2018 CB HA T \FaRR
&% = = (59,278) = (11,107) = (70,385)
Fair value adjustment INRELEEE:S - - - - (172,192) - (172,192)
Dividend declared ERds) 203,019 = = = = = 203,019
At 31 December 2018 RZZE-N\F
+-A=+—H - 16,541,796 1,381,645 5,400,969 198,105 - 23522515
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45. COMMITMENTS 45.

(a) Capital and other commitments (a)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has the following
commitments:

e M HRAR MR

BEARRE A

NEEHIR - AREAATASE

2019 2018
—E-hF —T)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETFT
Contracted but not provided for: EHEMEFR I
— Investment properties under —EEIEEME
development - 98,892
— Properties under development for sale —BRPFEME 1,692,469 1,526,006
— Acquisition of the rights of an urban — B — TR T A TE B Mg e
redevelopment project 40,000 =
1,732,469 1,624,898
(b)  Operating lease arrangements (h) REHERY
The Group as lessee KEBFERATAA

The Group had commitments for future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

AEE R AR E AR TR AR KRR EE
SNFAEZBBNT -

2018
—Z2—N\5F
RMB'000
ARBTT

Within one year —FR
In the second to fifth year, inclusive

Over five years ZHRAF

E_ERF(BEEREMRF)

30,449
98,963
80,057

209,469
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45. COMMITMENTS (cont'a) 45. EiE2)
()  Operating lease arrangements (Cont'd) (h) REHESZHE)
The Group as lessor REFERHAA
All of the properties held for rental purposes have committed FrEH1EL ARG ERBER — R T UEHE
lessees for the next one and fourteen years. BEAEEBA -
Lease payments receivable on leases are as follows: HEMEREENZAT -
2019
—E-hEF
RMB’000
AR%T R
Within one year —FR 488,373
In the second year $4F 383,816
In the third year F=F 244,789
In the fourth year FHE 145,996
In the fifth year FRF 108,250
After five years AF& 230,413
1,601,637
The Group had contracted with lessee for following future AREE B AN AR R SR S A R EAFE ART
minimum lease payments: 7
2018
—Z)N\F
RMB’000
ARETT
Within one year —FR 501,321
In the second to fifth year, inclusive E_EZRF(BREERME) 905,003
Over five years ZRAF 250,874
1,657,198
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46. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 46. EEERHF
(a) Pledge of assets (a) EEEM
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following RIMEHRR - ARETEESHHEA -

assets being pledged.

2019 2018
—E-hF —T)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARKETTT
Properties under development for sale BRAPFEME 2,893,324 243,244
Properties held for sale FEWME 618,954 17,612
Investment properties KEME 20,557,312 16,186,128
Property, plant and equipment M - BB REE 925,831 228,428
Pledged bank deposits PIRERI TN 1,348,651 2,202,786
26,344,072 18,878,198
Note: As at 31 December 2019, except for assets pledged above, secured Wt R=ZZ—NAFE+=-A=1+—8 ' Bk LK\
bank loans with aggregate amount of RMB3,256,201,000 and ZEEN BERBITERRECBARKE
a secured other borrowing with amount of RMB50,000,000 are 3,256,201,0007T & & H# H fth f§ B A R #&
secured by the equity interests of subsidiaries of the Group (see also 50,000,0007T Fa A £ E B B A A 2 IR BE 1R IR
note 33). R (FERFF2EMI5E33) ©
(b)  Restrictions on assets (h) EERS
In addition, lease liabilities of RMB118,054,000 are recognised o - FE B E AR 118,054,0007T £ 48 7
with related investment properties of RMB216,600,000 as at BB ANR216,600,000TA =T —L4E
31 December 2019. The lease agreements do not impose any +ZA=+—H%R - KREEAMFEEE
covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets BEMEMERIN - HERZRIEHEINERZ
that are held by the lessor and the relevant leased assets may not % BAAEEEEETSREERRUEREE
be used as security for borrowing purposes. =
47. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 47. AREE
For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group had contingent BHE_Z—NAF+_A=+—HILFEE £&£H
liabilities relating to guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities for METEATNRIERERBEERNKABELD
certain purchasers amounting to approximately RMB2,132,390,000 B AR#2132,390,000t( —FE — N\F: AR
(2018: RMB1,162,977,000). The guarantees are secured by the 1,162,977,0007T ) » A B ¥ 1R DA 28 & B A9 3K 3§ R
Group’s pledged bank deposits amounting to RMB94,021,000 THERAREEI 021,000 ( ZFE—N\F: AR
(2018:RMB144,520,000). 144,520,0007T ) {E#EHH ©
Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, if there is default on the BEERER - WMZEEHERIZBMAR - AIEAE
mortgage payments by these purchasers, the Group is responsible to B EEEEENMAENNKBEERERENE HE
repay the outstanding mortgage loans together with any accrued interest ERITHEREETFI B RES .

and penalty owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks.

BR(FE)MERABRAE 495

T -NFFR

—=



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P RRME

47. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (contd)

The Group’s guarantee period commences from the dates of grant of the
relevant mortgage loans and ends upon the earlier of the buyer obtaining
the individual property ownership certificate or the full settlement of
mortgage loan by the buyer.

The Directors consider that it is not probable for the Group to sustain a
loss under these guarantees as during the periods under guarantees, the
Group can take over the ownerships of the related properties and sell
the properties under default to recover any amounts paid by the Group
to the banks. The Group has not recognised any deferred income in
respect of these guarantees as its fair value is considered to be minimal
by the Directors. The Directors also consider that the fair market value
of the underlying properties is able to cover the outstanding mortgage
loans guaranteed by the Group in the event that the purchasers default
payments to the banks for their mortgage loans.

48. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements,
the Group has the following transactions with related parties during the
year:

(a)  Transactions with related parties

47.

48.

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

HARBE2)

AEBNERMAERZEEFRHIANE B2
BEXMGBEAFEMEGEERBEBERBERA
REERE)BRIL

EERAREERERAB AT REZSERT
ERER MAKEEEONBERTAIRERHY
EOMARL K2 HE - AREAEERRTT A
WERSRE AREERR/RSHERNQAL BEM
TRB  BAKEW A ZFEREREMRELTR
A BENRAR WEHEREZRTIZBER
B R A T E R DA AN 5 B PR AR ) AR (8
BIRIBER -

BB LR 5Z

BB mREMMDAREEN  NEEFA
SARFRE T ETTRIR BT

(a) HEEBLETHRS

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETT
Interest expenses paid to Shenzhen Forsafe [RYITREZ L2 ZSER A A
System Technology Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen (DRI Z ) (— R SKIER A
Forsafe”), an entity controlled by ultimate 2B A +1%4|2 T )2
controlling party F e 2,731 -

(b)  Balances with related parties

Details of the balances with related parties at the end of the
reporting period are disclosed in the consolidated statement of
financial position and notes 16, 26 and 30.

(c) Key management personnel compensation

The directors are of the opinion that the key management
personnel were solely the executive directors of the Company.
Remuneration paid to the Company’s executive directors is
disclosed in note 10.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

49. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 49. AARBMERRE

COMPANY

2019 2018
—E-hF —ZT—)\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREFTT
Non-current assets FEREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KU B A R &R E 3,381,353 3,381,353
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUS T B N B FRIE 8,854,131 9,517,918
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB REE 27,760 -
Right-of-use asset EREEE 37,950 -
12,301,194 12,899,271
Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUR I B A B 2 4,670,869 3,246,078
Deposits paid, prepayments and other BfEe - FBRIEREAERIE
receivables 5,068 2,698
Bank balances and cash IRITHEHB LIRS 602,626 86,277
5,278,563 3,355,058
Current liabilities RENEE
Accruals and other payables FEET & A R H b FE R kI8 62,309 25,938
Amounts due to subsidiaries R ENGIE ] 1,492,519 231,455
Borrowings B 570,748 590,239
Debt component of convertible bonds AR ES BT D 663,521 -
Derivative component of convertible bonds AR EHITE T AZS 72,292 -
Lease liabilities HEBE 12,507 -
2,873,896 847,632
Net current assets RENEEFE 2,404,667 2,487 421
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBARS 14,705,861 15,386,692
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Borrowings EE 975,616 1,012,908
Debt component of convertible bonds AR ESEREE D - 613,593
Derivative component of convertible bonds AR ESPTAE T A D = 30,842
Lease liabilities HEAE 25,509 -
1,001,125 1,657,343
Net assets EEFE 13,704,736 13,729,349
Capital and reserves BEERRHE
Share capital R 42,060 41,141
Reserves B 13,662,676 13,688,208
Total equity e 13,704,736 13,729,349
HUANG Jingshu SIU Chi Hung
EHAAT oy
CHAIRMAN AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
FRFERTES WITES
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49.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (cont'd)

Note:

Details of the movement in the Company’s reserves are set out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2019
i E—E-NE+-_A=t—HItFE

49. ARATMBEARRT 2

ARRIEREE 2 FEHIIWT

Convertible Share
Share preference option Exchange Contributed Retained
premium share reserve reserve surplus profits Total
ROEE  ATRRELR BRERE ERfRE q4BH REEF st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFTT AREFTT ARETFTT ARETTT ARETTT AREFTT AREFT
Balance as at 1 January R-T—\F
2018 —RA—Bz#sH 6,300,567 5,959,114 208,337 30,165 (18) 206,032 12,704,197
Profit for the year EERF - - - - - 299,990 299,990
Lapse of share options BERRIER AL - - (2,039) - - 2,039 _
Exercise of share options THERERE 15,999 - (5,287) - - - 10,712
Recognition of equity-settled  FERLARIEAE
share-based payments SR PANE: | - - 21,959 - - - 21,959
Conversion of convertible X ARk ES
bonds 70,145 - - - - - 70,145
Issue of ordinary shares BITERR 495,898 - - - - - 495,898
Issue of convertible BITAARELR
preference shares - 287,047 - - - - 287,047
Dividend declared and BERRESZRE
made - - - = = (201,740) (201,740)
Balance as at 31 December R=ZF—/\F
2018 +=-A=+—8~
k0 6,882,609 6,246,161 222,970 30,165 (18) 306,321 13,688,208
Profit for the year FEERF - - - - - 202,406 202,406
Lapse of share options BERRAER AL - - (8,582) - - 8,582 =
Exercise of share options TTIERE AR 10,819 - (3,670) - - - 7,149
Conversion of convertible X AR R E £ X
preference shares 180,376 (181,256) - - - - (880)
Dividend declared and BERKIEMS RS
made - - - - - (234,207) (234,207)
Balance as at 31 December RA=Z—HF
2019 +=-A=+—-H
iR 7,073,804 6,064,905 210,718 30,165 (18) 283,102 13,662,676

LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2019



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

50.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries, each of which is a limited liability
company, as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

Issued and fully

50.

e P RRME

TENBLRNFE

R-B-NER-F—N\E+= A=+ AL EH
BAR(HRBERAR)MEFENT :

Place of paid ordinary Effectively
incorporation/ share capital/ attributable Principal activities
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital equity interests (Place of operations)
BRTRMRER
WEAR AR AL,/ L A/ RER BERELRTER FTEEH(HEH)
Directly Indirectly
B M
LVGEM Suzhou HK 156 shares of HK$1 each - 100%  Administration vehicle of the
(2018:100%)  Group (HK)
EREN Bk 156f ERAEELET RN (ZB-N\F:100%) EEAEBIRIEES)
Prosper View Group Limited* (“PVGL") ~ HK 10,000 shares of HK$1 each - 51% Investment holding (HK)
(2018: 51%)
BAEBERAR ([135]) Eh 10,000 SREELET 2RI (Z2-N\F:51%) REER(EE)
Suzhou Garden Villa Development & Mainland China (Note (a))  US$20,550,000 - 95%  Property development and
Management Co., Ltd. (2018:95%)  investment (Mainland China)
BNRESERERERARAR mER (K a) 20,550,000%7C (ZE-N\F:95%) MELERRE(RENM)
Suzhou New Heritage GF Limited Mainland China 1US$26,600,000 - 61%*  Property development and
(“SNHGF") (2018:61%%)  investment (Mainland China)
EMIAHEGRAA(EHNTAD)  TERY 26,600,000%7T (ZZ2-N\F:61%") WEERRRA(FERH)
Suzhou New Heritage WZA Limited Mainland China (Note (b))~ US$15,000,000 - 100%  Property development and
(2018:100%)  investment (Mainland China)
N EGRAR HRER AR (b)) 15,000,000% 7T (ZF-/\F:100%) MEERRFE(PEIM)
New Heritage WJA Limited Mainland China (Note (b)) US$13,000,000 - 100% Property development and
(2018:100%)  investment (Mainland China)
RILMEEERAR e (b)) 13,000,000% 7T (ZZ-\F:100%) MELERRE(RENM)
Shenzhen LVGEM Asset Management ~ Mainland China (Note (b))~ RMB16,000,000 - 100%  Property management service
Co., Ltd. (2018: 100%)  (Mainland China)
AMIMEREEERERAA B AR (b)) AR#16,000,0007 (ZE-N\E:100%) NEEERK(FEINL)
Shenzhen LVGEM Hotel Co., Ltd. Mainland China (Note (b))~ RMB10,000,000 - 100% Hotel operation services
(2018:100%)  (Mainland China)
AR RBEERAR B R ATRE (b)) AE#10,000,00070 (ZF-N\F:100%) BEZERE(FERL)
Shenzhen LVGEM Jiyuan Property Mainland China (Note (b))~ RMB500,000 - 100%  Property management service
Management Service Co., Ltd. (2018:100%)  (Mainland China)
AT TERREARAR RERAEE (b)) AR 500,007 (ZZ—\F:100%) WEEERHK(RERD)
Shenzhen LVGEM Marketing Co., Ltd. ~ Mainland China (Note (b))~ RMB1,000,000 - 100%  Consultancy services
(2018:100%)  (Mainland China)
AMITEREHERAERATF B (AR (b)) AK#1,000,0007 (Z2-N\EF:100%) R (PEIM)
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

50. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (conta) 50. T EMBATNFEE®)

Issued and fully

Place of paid ordinary Effectively
incorporation/ share capital/ attributable Principal activities
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital equity interests (Place of operations)
BRTRAREE
WEARER EMAL/ B % A/ ZRER EREGRAER TEXB(ERH)
Directly Indirectly
HE Bk
Shenzhen LVGEM Property Mainland China (Note (b))~ RMB5,000,000 - 100% Property management services
Management Co., Ltd. (2018:100%)  (Mainland China)
R TERNEERERAA REA(HTEE (b)) AR5,000,0007C (Z2-N\E:100%) DEERRHK(PERD)
Shenzhen LVGEM Real Estate Mainland China (Nofe (b))~ RMB150,000,000 - 100%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd. (2018:100%)  (Mainland China)
AMITEREHEREERAR mElRi (b)) AR#150,000,0007C (ZZ-N\F:100%) MEZRE(PEIRM)
Yiyang Zhonghe Real Estate Co., Ltd. Mainland China (Note (b))  RMB30,000,000 - 100%  Property development
(2018:100%)  (Mainland China)
HETRERARAA eI (b)) AR 30,000,007 (ZZ-NF:100%) PEER(PERG)
Zhengxinglong Real Estate (Shenzhen) — Mainland China (Note (b)) HK$40,000,000 - 100%  Property development
Co.,Ltd. (2018:100%)  (Mainland China)
EEEEME(RERRR el (b)) 40,000,000 7T (Z2-N\E:100%) PEER(PERH)
Huazhou LVGEM Real Estate Mainland China (Nofe (b))~ RMB210,000,000 - 100%  Property development
Development Co.,Ltd. (2018:100%)  (Mainland China)
MR REHEREERAR mER (L) AR#210,000,0007C (ZZ-N\F:100%) MEZRE(PEIRM)
Zhuhai LYGEM Donggiao Investment Mainland China (Note (b)) ~ RMB7,500,000 - 90.64% Property development
Co., Ltd. (2018:90.64%)  (Mainland China)
KETHRRREREGRAA el (b)) AEH7,500,0007 (Z2-N\F:9064%) MEER(TER)
Zhengxinglong Real Estate (Zhuhai) Mainland China (Note (b))~ RMB407,000,000 - 100%  Property development
Co., Ltd. (2018:100%)  (Mainland China)
FEEFNECRE)ERAR RELA(HTEE (b)) AR407,000,00070 (Z2-N\E:100%) PEER(PERH)
Guangzhou Yuejing Real Estate Mainland China (Note (b)) RMB10,000,000 - 93%  Property development
Development Co.,Ltd. (2018:93%)  (Mainland China)
BT BREHEREERARA mER (L) AR#10,000,00070 (ZZ-N\F:93%) DEBR(FEM)
Jianmai Limited (“Jianmai") BVI 200 shares of US$1 each - 95% Investment holding (HK)
(2018: 95%)
SEERAR(RE] LEERRES 200%BREELIET R (ZE-N\F:95%) REER(ES)
Wisdom Concept Development Limited ~ HK 2 shares of HK$1 each - 95%  Property development (HK)
(2018: 95%)
BOERARAA A 2WEREEIETRA (ZZ-N\F:95%) WEER(ER)

LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
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50. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (contd) 50. FEMBEARNFE @)
Issued and fully
Place of paid ordinary Effectively
incorporation/ share capital/ attributable Principal activities
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital equity interests (Place of operations)
BRIRMEEE
HWRARER MM/ RIS A/ ERER BREGRAER TEXR(ERHH)
Directly Indirectly
EE Gtz
Olinda HK 20 shares of HK$1 each - 100%  Property development and
(2018:100%)  investment (HK)
Bk 0RFHREBLETLRA (ZZ-N\F:100%) NEEREEE(EHS)
Gemstones BV 1 share of US$1 100% - Treasury vehicle (BVI)
(2018:100%)
2z ARARREE IR1ET 2R (ZZ—/\F : 100%) BEVETF(ARERRES)
Zone Asia Investments (HK) Limited HK 1 share of HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding (HK)
(2018: 100%)
SOREA(BE)ERAR] Bk 1R1A T2 B{p (ZB-N\F:100%) KEER(ES)
World Margin Limited HK 800,000 shares of HK$1 each - 100%  Treasury vehicle (HK)
(2018: 100%)
trHRARAR i 800,000 EREE BT R (ZZ-N\F:100%) REHELIE(ER)
Greater Bay Area Intelligent City Limited ~ BVI 1 share of US$1 100% - Investment holding (BVI)
(2018: Nil)
NERBERTERAR) ARARREE IRIET 2R (Z2-N\&5: 1) RAZR(ZRERRHEE)
Affluent Bright Investment Limited BV 10,000 share of HK$1 each - 99.99%  Investment holding (HK)
(2018: Nil)
RAREERAR] REAMRES 10,0008 SR EELE T2 B 1D (Z2-N\F: B) REBR(ER)
Affluent Bright Investment (HK) Limited ~ HK 1 share of HK$1 - 99.99%  Investment holding (HK)
(2018: Nil)
RARE(EE)ERAA Bk 1R1#ETZ R (Z2-N\F: &) REABR(ER)
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

50. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (contd) 50. FEMBARNFE @)

o The Group has an effective interest of 51% (2018: 51%) in PVGL. In u RNEBHEAREAIN51% (ZE—/\F : 51%) BERK
the opinion of the directors, the Group has the power to control over the E-BERAR ASERFREEGHGHREMEAR
relevant activities of PVGL and its subsidiary and PVGL and its subsidiary MEEER  BHARENBAREEAREE
are consolidated in the financial statements of the Group accordingly. BmEPLERa AR ©

# Approximate percentage. @ BMAOBES L

Notes: HtaE -

(a) This subsidiary is registered as a Sino-foreign cooperative joint venture (a) ZHBARREPEAMERELBRINEGERE
under the Mainland China law. NGIIG

(b)  These subsidiaries are registered as wholly foreign owned enterprises under (b) ZHEMBRARARETEAMERELRINERED
the Mainland China law. E

(c) Except for Zhengxinglong, which issued the Bond on 26 August 2016 as (c) B IE 2 (NP E35FT I E - ER T —XREN\A
disclosed in note 35, and Gemstones, which issued Private Notes and —tARBET%ES) RBEE (WK E33 KM FE3SD
Senior Notes in 2017 as disclosed in note 33 and note 35 respectively, BEE  ER T —tFRTLEEBERELRER)
none of the remaining subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the N REREEIR - BB AR ERITEMER
end of the reporting period. B o

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the ARREERE  ERIBZAABMBRR - £

opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affect the results for EHEAREERNFECEENRAEBREERAE

the year or form a substantial portion of the assets and liabilities of the ZEBHEKDD c EFRRFAHRIFEAMNE QA

Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Z2HEESERABNILE

directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

Material non-controlling interests BRFERER

Summarised consolidated financial information of PVGL and its ERABARENBARIARSBRENE A5 (K

subsidiary and Jianmai and its subsidiary that have material non- BEANFEERER) 2EEMBEERBZESHSNNT -

controlling interests is set out below. The summarised financial TRV HEEREENEERNRREEIHATZ
information below represents amounts before intragroup eliminations. & -
Proportion of Total comprehensive Accumulated
equity interest held by income (expenses) allocated to non-controlling
non-controlling interests non-controlling interests interests
PEAAFERERN
FERESZFENRELH FEWA () #EE REtEERER
Name of subsidiary 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
MELRERE “E-hE T\ ZE-hE ZT-N\F ZEB-hAEFE TN\F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥BTR ARBTrT AR¥Tr AR®BTT

PVGL and its subsidiary BIARENE AR 49% 49% (1,152) (2,139) 36,375 37,527

Jianmai and its subsidiary SEREMBAR 5% 5% 8 15 30,618 30,610

Individually immaterial EGENEEVN

subsidiaries with non- SR A FEFERL N/A N/A
controlling interests ERAHB AR A TNEA 623 (4,362) 39,981 39,358
(521) (6,486) 106,974 107,495

LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

50. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (conta) 50.

Material non-controlling interests (Cont'd)

(i) PVGL and its subsidiary

BEARFERER(E)

(i)  HEIREREA A

FENBRATNFESE @

2019 2018
—ZT-hF —T-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETIT
Current assets MENVEE 270,555 271,056
Current liabilities mENBE (143,564) (141,696)
Net assets BEFE 126,991 129,360
Equity attributable to owners of the NN RIRRCR B 2

Company 37,859 39,058
Equity attributable to non-controlling 38R 2 I AR A s A A 2

interests of PVGL 36,375 37,527
Equity attributable to non-controlling BRINETAS 2 SN s P (i = (A7)

interests of SNHGF (Note) 52,757 52,775
Total equity ey 126,991 129,360
Other income, other gains and losses HAbYA ~ Eflkas MEE 295 (914)
Expenses X (2,664) (3,486)
Attributable to non-controlling interests of ~ &F M 48 JEIE AR RE RS AL (T 7E)

SNHGF (Note) 18 34
Loss for the year FHEEE (2,351) (4,366)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company  Zx2A & IR (5 18 (1,199) (2,227)
Loss attributable to non-controlling interests  FE1ZE %A =5 fE(5 &5 18 (1,152) (2,139)
Loss for the year FEBA (2,351) (4,366)
Net cash used in operating activities BB TR S F5 (3,109) (185,774)
Net cash from investing activities REEBMSHEESFE = 3,312
Net cash outflow RE R HFRE (3,109) (182,462)

Note:

As at 31 December 2019, the Group held 51% (2018: 51%) equity

Kt R-E—NF+-A=+—R8  AEEHAF

interests in PVGL, which indirectly held 80% (2018: 80%) equity
interests in SNHGF. In addition, the Group also indirectly held the
remaining 20% (2018: 20%) equity interests in SNHGF. Therefore,
the Group effectively held 61% (2018: 61%) in SNHGF.

W BAS1 %R (=T — \F : 51%)  HHA
A &N B0 %R B( T — NF :
80%) ° LLIN + AEEHEBEFFAEFM A
T20%RHE( —F — \4F : 20%) = At - &
SEERFARMNTFOLS (ZF—N\F :
61% ARHE °

— =

—=
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Material non-controlling interests (Cont'd)

Jianmai and its subsidiary

50. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (contd)

50.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_ThF+-A=1+—ALFE

FENBATNFERE @)

EXRFERER(E)

(i) REBREMELF]

2019 2018
—E-hEF —T-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARET T
Current assets BN E 684,751 667,159
Current liabilities mENBE (72,376) (54,952)
Net assets EEFE 612,375 612,207
Equity attributable to owners of the R EINRER FE (L e e
Company 581,757 581,597
Equity attributable to non-controlling IR s R 2
interests 30,618 30,610
Total equity e AR R 612,375 612,207
Other income HAvA 214 380
Expenses =53 (46) (73)
Profit for the year FEAN 168 307
Profit attributable to owners of the Company 72 &I 5 &5 & 7 160 292
Profit attributable to non-controlling SRR i as PR (R 22 7
interests 8 15
Profit for the year FEAF 168 307
Net cash used in operating activities and g E B AT R IR £ F %8 RIS T R R
net cash outflow (1,365) (5,650)

LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE—Z

—NETA=t—HLFE

51. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

(i)

(ii)

Issuance of USD denominated senior notes

On 20 February 2020, the Group commenced the Exchange
Offer to the holders of the existing USD denominated senior
notes with principal amount of USD400,000,000 (equivalent
to RMB2,801,040,000). The Exchange Offer extends the due
date of the existing Senior Notes to 2023 with an increased
coupon rate of 12% per annum. Upon the expiry of the Exchange
Offer on 2 March 2020, senior note holders with an amount of
USD227,390,000 (equivalent to RMB1,942,451,000) had validly
tendered their notes for the exchange and accepted pursuant to
the Exchange Offer. On the following day, the Group announced to
issue a new series of USD denominated senior notes with principal
amount of USD222,610,000 (equivalent to RMB1,558,849,000)
for cash to the same amount at an interest rate of 12% per annum
due 2023 (the “New Issuance”). The Exchange Offer and the
New Issuance were completed on 10 March 2020. The Exchange
Offer is a non-cash transaction and would be accounted for as
a debt extinguishment of the existing Senior Notes as the terms
associated with the Exchange Offer are substantially different from
the existing Senior Notes. For details of transaction, please refer
to the announcements of the Company dated 20 February 2020,
25 February 2020, 3 March 2020, 4 March 2020 and 11 March
2020.

Outbreak of COVID-19

The outbreak of a respiratory illness caused by a novel
coronavirus, or known as the COVID-19, in China, has affected
many businesses to different extent. As the Group’s business
are all in various locations in the mainland where different
precautious measures were imposed by local governments, all
at once or implemented at different stages depending on the
latest development, the Group’s ability to serve its customers
may be largely depending on various government measures
and the availability of workforce, which may be affected by the
travel restrictions and home quarantine requirements. Due
to the inherent unpredictable nature and rapid development
relating to the novel coronavirus and its pervasive impact, the
Group has taken action to negotiate with its major subcontractors
and employees to confirm continuous and adequate supply of
manpower. The Group will closely monitor in this regard and seek
alternative subcontractors and manpower if necessary.

Given the dynamic nature of these circumstances and
unpredictability of future development, the directors of the
Company consider that the financial effects on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements cannot be reasonably estimated
as at the date these financial statements are authorised for issue,
but are expected to negatively affect the consolidated results and
cash flows for the financial year ending 2020 and the financial
position of the Group as at that date and beyond depending on
how the situation evolves.

HE

()

(ii)

e P RRME

REBE
BEETHEELER

NRZZE-_FE_A-_+H ~"&EEBAK
% £ %B400,000,000% jt( 8 & N A R &
2,801,040,00070) IR B ELsHEE L RIEEF
ﬁAEﬁ*WEW RBREBOBEREBERE
MEHAERE_T_=F  TEZEEXRES
iiim% “ﬁgmmiﬁfgifﬂf
B fEm% » #8227,390,000% T(HE R A
R#1,942,451,00070) B A EHEIFEAER
ﬁ?x%%ﬁ@%i%ﬁ%ﬁi@&%%oﬁ
C REBERHEITALE%222,610, OOO%
TE(@MBA/\E%I 558,849,000 ) A =& =
= FRHIRFERRI12%T B R A ZETTE
BEELEEE(FHET]  NEARERSESEN
Re  RBMEBARFBETHR=ZZE=F i A
THREK - AREXRELNEBNIEHRERS
BAZBAEAZRE  HXBREBNAIEI R
©R5  WHEEARBREREZBRNEKES
AR - BARSHFEBERL2EARARBHAS
T_ZF_A-_+H - —ZT_TF_A_+H
A - —Z-_FTF=-A=H - —T-_FTF=AN
AR—ZZF_ZTF=A+—HMRE -

COVID-19/7 3

EPBEE B AEMRRE(XFECOVID-19)
SIBMNE IR ERR E H BT EER T REE
M E - BRAEBIAEB D HRAS
At - Mt 5 BT B T TR A B &
i WA TFRIBERERNEGK D &Em%
BZEHEE  AEBRSE S AL AR
AIEE _EBURA & IEBR m&TE%MAﬁ
BERME - MADERA LIRS RRE
[REEERTENTE - ENERTAERRS M
HECHEARGHNTABAMEZBIERE - A
SEERBTHEEFE S RESER -
Mﬁﬁﬁ%&ﬁimA¥1ﬁ rEEBER
PERAEAN  YRHERSKERIBR
RIEAF -

ERZFER TR C B RRERILATRR
ARBEZRR  RASEVHRRERETE
EREEAEEAARENGEMBRRER
AP E R TERERMT - BHK
HEE T TEURFENRAFERRS
MEB AR A LB % A KR AR AR T IERK
EBESE .
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Financial Summary

PR

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the AEEBEAEPTBFEFEZEEUREERBEFHEEE
last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited financial E-E—HF T RERF—+tF+-_A=+—H
statements for the years ended 31 December 2015, 2016 and 2017 as below. IEFEZEHEEEZABRR)NT - HE_T—\FR

For the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2019 which extracted from the ZE-NFFT AT —HLEFEDNREEE S —NFF
annual report 2019 was restated as appropriate, is set out below. o WSS (AEA) -
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
—ZT—hfF ZE—RF —T—+tF —E-N\F —E-hEF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTR
(restated)
(=751)
RESULTS &
Revenue Wiz 1,210,270 4.590,162 2,967,751 4,515,685 6,902,448
Profit from operation R 853,975 2,259,932 2,111,059 2,813,503 4,623,298
Finance costs BEKR (262,868) (406,500) (613,592) (657,995) (1,256,165)
Share of results of a joint venture BiE—REEAREE (30) 9) (93) (8) 2
Profit before tax BB &R 591,077 1,853,423 1,497,374 2,155,500 3,367,131
Income tax expense FEHAX (166,492) (1,044,757) (458,811) (925,097) (1,617,168)
Profit for the year FEAF(EE) 424,585 808,666 1,038,563 1,230,403 1,749,963
Attributable to owners of the Company 27 BN B fE(L 417,780 802,297 1,035,392 1,237,167 1,749,884
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
—ZT-hF ZERE —T+tF T N\F ZE-hF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT AR¥ETR
(restated)
(&gE51)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets FERMENEE 13,606,921 14,399,166 22,654,001 24,171,470 26,459,769
Current assets REERE 10,385,006 11,525,352 14,142,819 19,240,634 22,276,514
Current liabilities TEAE (7,193,427) (5,816,445) (9,650,864) (11,689,752) (17,760,664)
Non-current liabilities EREEE (8,825,330) (10,910,409) (17,076,753) (20,283,409) (17,940,786)
Net assets BEFE 7,973,170 9,197,664 10,069,203 11,438,943 13,034,833
Equity attributable to NPT Sy
owners of the Company 7,881,077 8,964,512 9,836,062 11,331,448 12,927,859
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

REM*

Properties

L/ES

LVGEM Zoll 1866 Shopping Mall located at
the eastern side of Meilong Road and
the southern side of Zhongmei Road

Bao’an District
Shenzhen City
Guangdong Province
The PRC

77 B AR A AR T B e (R A RE B SR (A
iR R VAR R 18662P% &

LVGEM Zoll Chanson Shopping Mall located at
the western side of Minzhi Road

Minzhi Community
Bao'an District
Shenzhen City
Guangdong Province
The PRC

IR B ER AR M E 7R Rt R RAR
BRI =R B ERED T L

Various commercial units of

LVGEM Chanson Meilu Garden
located at the western side of Minzhi Road

Minzhi Community
Bao'an District
Shenzhen City
Guangdong Province
The PRC

URFBEREFIMELER R RAR
Pl B EEER 2 ErE S
Various commercial units of City Garden

located at the western side of Longxiang Avenue
and the eastern side of Huangge Road

Longguang District
Shenzhen City
Guangdong Province
The PRC

A7 B SR A RY T sE R B R B A A&
=E R R AT fEE 2 (AR R B

LVGEM Zoll Hongwan Shopping Mall located at the 100%
northern side of North Ring Avenue and
the eastern side of Meilin Road

Futian District
Shenzhen City
Guangdong Province
The PRC

oo B B 3R 4 | 7 R AL TR A AL B
SRR 3R A 2 S 4T

Various commercial units of LVGEM Hotel
located at the western side of Xinzhou Road and
the northern side of Xinzhou Sixth Road

Futian District
Shenzhen City
Guangdong Province
The PRC

iz 7 R B 3 AR AR T 4 R [ M B P 1A
FUM7<ERALRIBYAR = 87 TAEE)RE 2 (8 2 Bz

AR PR R

List of Principal Properties

Approximate
Total Gross
Floor Area
(square meter)

A HZEER
(FT7K)

54,360

37,220

330

4,650

52,880

4,410

Type
Wl

Commercial

[EES

Commercial

EES

Commercial

=

Commercial

EES

Commercial

[EES

Commercial

=

Lease Term

HH

70 years from
31 August 2004 to
30 August 2074
—EENFENA=F+—RZE
—ZELENA=TH
RER705F

70 years from
6 August 2010 to
5 August 2080
—T-TF)\ARBE
—ZENETEFENARAR -
BE70F

70 years from
6 August 2010 to
5 August 2080
—ETFNARBE
—ENZEFNARR -
HE70F

70 years from

22 February 2001 to

21 February 2071
—ET—F-A-+ZHZE

—E+—F-_A=-+—8"

RER70%F

70 years from

16 December 2011 to

15 December 2081
—=—F+_-A+AE

—TN—&+-A+HA

RE70F

70 years from

30 December 2003 to

29 December 2073
—ETE=FF+_A=F+HZE

Bt =F+-A=-+hH"

REA70F

#E(FE)HERRERAR
T NEER

207



List of Principal Properties

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont'a)
REWMZE ()

Interest
Attributable
Properties to the Group

/ES REFELER

Various commercial units of 100%
Lanwan Peninsula Community located at
the northern side of Furong Road
Futian District
Shenzhen City
Guangdong Province
The PRC

iz AP B B B R 91 T i [ 4 R s AL fBI A 85
F B E S AR E

Various commercial units, office units and 100%
car parking spaces of Tower A of
NEO Urban Commercial Complex located at
the junction of Shennan Boulevard and
Xiangmihu Road
Futian District
Shenzhen City
Guangdong Province
The PRC

A B R BR A R T 8 [ R g K8
BRI EFEHNEOEB T A IS An & AR 2 (&
PN - PPABAREN

Various commercial units and car parking 100%
spaces of Tower B and Tower C of
NEO Urban Commercial Complex
located at the junction of Shennan Boulevard
and Xiangmihu Road
Futian District
Shenzhen City
Guangdong Province
The PRC

iz P AP B B B 8 R 3 T 4 FE [ R P K38
BEMBEZERZAINEOI M A B4R S BB KX
CPE% (R 3 B8 i ] B s

Various commercial units of Phase Il of 100%
LVGEM Garden located at the western side of
Xinzhou Road and the northern side
of Fugiang Road
Futian District
Shenzhen City
Guangdong Province
The PRC

iz A FP [ B B R 3 7 e R [ M i P 1R R
ERBE LRI AR RTEE — S ARy £ B AL

LVGEM Zoll Mangrove Bay No. 1 Shopping Mall 100%
located at the junction of
Shazui Road and Jindi First Road
Futian District
Shenzhen City
Guangdong Province
The PRC
2 A HR B BR A R T 48 R [ D 8 B B < 3 — B
RIE R A =P AL R E S SR 0
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Approximate

Total Gross
Floor Area Type
(square meter)
BRBEEEE HA
(FEFK)
2,810 Commercial
[EES
108,360 Commercial
26,100 Commercial
[EES
20,610 Commercial
20,770 Commercial

=

Lease Term

B

70 years from
20 September 2001 to
19 September 2071
—EE-FNATHEZE
“ZEE—FNATNA
BH70F

50 years from
8 May 2005 to
7 May 2055
—ZETERFRANBE
—TRAFARALR
AHEAS0F

70 years from
26 February 2002 to
25 February 2072
ZET-FAZFRARE
—E+-F-_A=-+HA
BH70F

70 years from
5 February 2001 to
4 February 2071
—EE—F-_HARBE
—ZT+—F=-AMWmA -
BEI705

50 years from
23 November 2012 to
22 November 2062

T ZH+—A=Ft=HZE
ZER=F+—RA=+=H"



INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont'a)
REWME(7)

Properties

L/ES

Various commercial units and ancillary units of
LVGEM Garden Estate located at
No. 1185 Jin Dao Tian Road
Luohu District
Shenzhen City
Guangdong Province
The PRC
A B R SR R I T 28 R I < A F 2 1 1855 Y
gREZEREE M EERC

A parcel of land and blocks located at
Yi Jia Industrial Park, Fugian Road,
Guanlan Street
Bao’an District
Shenzhen City
Guangdong Province
The PRC
A B E R AR Th 8 2 (& R AT E R AT
ARETEE BT AL EEE

LVGEM Zoll International Garden Shopping Mall
Zone A located at Hexi Street, Huazhou
Guangdong Province, The PRC

AP B R BR (b TR R T8 A S AP B PR
TEWIEYFOAR

LVGEM Zoll International Garden Shopping Mall
Zone B4 located at Hexi Street, Huazhou
Guangdong Province, The PRC

7P B B SRR (L TR FR T 38 A S AR B PR
TESR Y OBAE

Hong Kong LVGEM NEO located at No. 123 Hoi
Bun Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong

IR EENEEE SR BI2IREBZRNEONE

Sunshine Bay Project located at Village 1,
Commune No.3, Mittaphea Town,
Shihanoukville Municipal, Cambodia

IR SRIHZE T B AR S R i oRIE TR 5 =&
— SR RIAR

LVGEM Zoll Jinhua Shopping Mall
located at 98 Shi Shan Road
New District
Suzhou City
Jiangsu Province
The PRC
2 AP BT #4758 [ 40 LU R 985 Y
K S BL IREERE YR L

Interest
Attributable
to the Group

REE RS

100%

89%

100%

100%

100%

100%

95%

List of Principal Properties

Approximate
Total Gross
Floor Area
(square meter)
BRABEEEE
(F77K)

3,820

37,150

22,170

23,250

55,390

45,970

15,500

Type
5l

Commercial

[EES

Industrial
T%

Commercial

[EES

Commercial

[GES

Commercial

[EES

Commercial

EES

Commercial

=

Lease Term

Y

70 years from
9 March 1998 to
8 March 2068
—hWNAN\E=ZANBZE
—EXN\EFE=ZANRB
BE70F

50 years from
8 July 2002 to
7 July 2052
—TEFEANBE
“TR-_F+tAtARH"
A HRS05F

40 years from
23 April 2012 to
22 April 2052
—E-_FMA_t+=HE
“TR-FOMA-+=RH
BHRAOSF

40 years from
23 April 2012 to
22 April 2052
—E——FPNA=+=RZE
—THR-FMA=+=AH "
BH40F

From 29 November 1988 to
30 June 2047

— AN\ F+—AZ+hBE
“EFO+FARA=TH

No lease term
R ERR

70 years from

19 October 1992 to

18 October 2062
—NWNZF+A+ILBEE

#BR(PEMERARRAT 59
—TNFEFH

—=



List of Principal Properties

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont'a)
REWMZE ()

Properties

/ES

Villa J101 of Phase | of Suzhou Garden Villa
located at No. 98 Shishan Road
New District
Suzhou City
Jiangsu Province
The PRC

A7 R FP BT AR B T T & 8 L PR OSSR SR 2E 50
F£—HjJ101 52

Flat 1A of Jin Guo Tower, Flats 1A, 8C, 17C and
18D, of Jin Xing Tower of
Phase Il of Suzhou Garden Villa located at
No. 98 Shishan Road
New District
Suzhou City
Jiangsu Province
The PRC

A7 AP BT AR ) T T 8 L L R OSSR SR 2E 50
F_HRSREIELA - $3EELA - 8C 17CK
18DZE

Flats 1B, 1D and 1F of Jin Bon Tower of
Phase Il of Suzhou Garden Villa located at
No. 98 Shishan Road
New District
Suzhou City
Jiangsu Province
The PRC

7 AR BT 8R4 Bk T 39 e 24 LI KO85
REE = HIRFIZIB - IDRIFE

LVGEM Zoll Yuexi Shopping Mall
located at No.199 Tayun Road,
Yuexi, Wuzhong Development District,
Suzhou, The PRC

AR BT &R &R T SR B 35 (R RSB R B
1995k K4 e PR BUR BE W 0

Commercial units of Zhong He Ti Xiang Garden
located at No.209 Haitang Road,
Heshan District, Yiyang, Hu’nan Province,
The PRC

7 FAFR B4 e & 2 5 T i LU [ 7 SR K 209557
Iz B RS ERE SN

Residential units of Hongwan Garden located
at Meilin Road East,Bei Huan Avenue,
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, The PRC

7 AR B 5 8 Y 1T 4 F [ AL R K38 PAJE AR R
AR R HETER M ZET £ 8

Dongguan LVGEM Zoll Shopping Mall
located at Baoshan Road
Zhangmutou
Dongguan City
Guangdong Province
The PRC
AP BEREREMEAREE RN RTAER
R RE D

Interest
Attributable
to the Group

REEEL S

95%

95%

95%

100%

100%

100%

100%
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Approximate
Total Gross
Floor Area
(square meter)
BROBEEES
(F77K)

270

730

480

12,220

3,610

1,960

58,930

Type
Y|

Residential
=

Residential
=

Residential
F=E

Commercial

=

Commercial

[EES

Residential
*=

Commercial

EES

Lease Term

B

70 years from
19 October 1992 to
18 October 2062
—NWNZ=F+AT+HIBAE
ZEARZFTHA+NR
BH70F

70 years from

19 October 1992 to

18 October 2062
—NWNZ=F+A+HIBAZE

RER706F

70 years from
19 October 1992 to
18 October 2062
—NWNZ=F+A+NBE
ZERZF+TA+NR
BH70F

40 years from 1 August 2003
to 31 July 2043

—EE=FN\A—RBZE
—EN=FtA=+—8H"
AHRAOTF

40 years from 1 April 2007
to 31 March 2047
—ZTTLFA—HBE
—EMLE=A=1+—8
AHRAOTF

70 years from 16 December
2011 to 15 December 2081

—2——F+=A+ixA
—HEZ=FEN\—5+=A
+HA - BE70F

40 years from 21 November
2013 to 20 November 2053

—F_=f+—A—+—HZ
“TR=F+—A=+H "
AEI405



List of Principal Properties

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE

BREPEHEY=E
Interest Approximate
Attributable Approximate Total Gross Estimated Date
Properties to the Group Total Site Area  Floor Area Type of Completion Progress
(sq.m.) (sq.m.)
mE FEEEGES BOENEEE BOLREERRE Ei st B ERMRR
(ERK) (FAK)

Residential and commercial units of ~ 100% 17,590 139,330 Residential/ 2022 Demolition
Hongshu Huafu Sifang Zone Commercial —ZF—— and relocation
located at the southest corner of the %,/ /B plan in progress
intersection of Shazui Road and EITIRBTE
Jindiyi Road Futian District kS
Shenzhen City, Guangdong Province
The PRC

IR B ER BRI TEEERY
W& BE A B 3t — & 2 BE 5 e A
AR ZER LS R EER
[EELLE

Residential and commercial units 100% 630,870 1,766,090 Residential/ 2020-2025 Under
of LVGEM International Garden Commercial —Z_ZF% construction
located at the northwest of /% ZZE-hEF THEfTH
Juzhou Park, Hexi Road,

Huazhou County, Maoming City
Guangdong Province
The PRC

LR R B 3R B 5 A T M SR ORT 7R B
BN B Fa L A 804 = B TE
EERAEEER

Residential, commercial and 100% 85,330 382,140 Residential/ 2023 Demolition and
industrial complex located at Commercial —Z-=% relocation plan
Liguang Village, Guanlan Town EEY A in progress
Bao'an District TR
Shenzhen City R R
Guangdong Province
The PRC

R BEERE A MELR
BRBARANNEEREE

Residential, commercial and 100% 10,860 97,210 Residential/ 2020 Under
industrial complex located at Commerciall —E=_ZF construction
No. 4088 Qiaoxiang Road in Industrial TRR#ETH
Nanshan District, Shenzhen City complex
Guangdong Province FE/TEx/

The PRC THEEREE

URTPEERERYImELE
BEIRA0BBRMEE « B
RITFEN—BREZAIERE

BR(TEDHWEREFRAF o5qq
H

—E-NFFF



List of Principal Properties

2.
BRRPSEYRE)
Properties
LS

Residential, commercial and office
complex located at West Mingzhu
Station, Mingzhu North Road,
Shangchong,

Zhuhai City, Guangdong Province
The PRC

AFBIER ARG T AT

BIERUTR BIAETE - EERRAE

Residential, commercial and hotel
complex located at No.37
Maofeng Road, Xiangzhou District
Nanping Town, Zhuhai City,
Guangdong Province
The PRC

R BEERERET MR MEFE
RERITHRMOEE  BEREE

Residential units located at the west of 100%

Xihuan Road and the north of
Jiuchang Road, Gusu District,
Suzhou City, Jiangsu Province,
The PRC

LR A BT8R & BN T it AR
FREA  EREILEEER

Villa located at Deep Bay Road near
Mong Tseng Village and
Mong Tseng Wai,
Lau Fau Shan,
Yuen Long,
New Territories,
Hong Kong
IR BB TCRATZ LR SR T A
WHERHIE

Residential, commercial and
office complex located in
the core area of Nanshan
District, Shenzhen City, being
adjacent to Shennan Avenue and
in proximity to Science Park and
the sub-district of Overseas
Chinese Town
SR MR E R (ER R A
i R E R E SR ) ]
HIE « EERIAERRNARE
2

Annual Report 2019

FEEEGES

Approximate Total Gross

Total Site Area  Floor Area

(sg.m.) (sg.m.)

B REE BOLRERE B
(F7%) (F75)

62,460 445,490

207,550 743,770

10,040 22,300

82,400 23,880

460,000 3,580,000
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PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE (Cont'a)

Approximate

Estimated Date
Type of Completion

Azt A

Residential/ 2021
Commerciall —ZE=—1F
Office

= %/

WA

Residential/ 2022
Commerciall —Z = —4
Hotel

F= &%

B

Residential 2020

(Ea=2 —T-TF
Villa 2022
AE —TooF

Residential/  2023-2030

Commerciall Z—ZTZ=%%
Office —E=THF
FE/ 5%/

WRE

Progress

ERMRR

Under
construction
TEESTH

Under
construction

Ti2EfTH

Under
construction
TiRiEfTH

Planning stage
AIERARE

Demoalition and
relocation plan
in progress

EITIERE

HE



LVGEM

1= (&) WERSHIRAE

LVGEM (CHINA) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED
(RASESEMELZBRAF)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
EBBZFTAR MRS 95 HKSE Stock Code: 95

BRNEBIREE BB 1235 ERNEONESE
Level 5, NEO, 123 Hoi Bun Road,
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong

3% Tel: (852) 2123 9530
fEE Fax: (852) 2123 9510

#83F Website: www.lvgem-china.com

FSC

www/sc.org

MIX

Paper from
responsible sources

FSC™ C008061
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